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carried out bhefore the nar 1z concluded, whnen peace and
arder 158 establishen.

At the third umeeting, held on Octower 14, 1942,
* there were uregsent Linwnll, TUJU., uLolnl, and Luwunl,
Nhen a member asked how they expec‘ed Lo assliwllate tLhne
aAifferen!. peoples of the Gphere to oundly establisn thne
Sphere, when even 1n ormogs only a ew natlves nhave uveen
accented as offiecials, T0JO replied that establis: ing the
¢

ophere 18 bhaséd on the spirit of Hakko lehiu, and 1t would

not be Aiflficult, to assimlilate Lh e t1i'i'erent HL ,"__"' o8 iI

denlt with 1in tEls gpirit. iie stated that natives should 5-,'

not be purposely ezceluded ['rog welnyg appointed as ofile- t

inls, l
* bt the fourth meetings, held on Uctober I."-: {)“"’*Lf: |

there was present NINAV]L and SudUrl. hen the question
was asked whether Lhere iz any 1Intonbion Lo change the
name of the new ministry becavse of the vagueness of
Aisgbinetion Letbweon customary diplomacy and cztrancormal
diplomacy, * GUAULL stated that the name Greater bLust
Agin Mindstry was proper, becpuse it beapoke of the
conglastency of egtablishing the Ophere, and that he had
no Intention Lo change 14, Legipglative iaareau Chicf
MOHRIYALA stuted 1t would not be proper Lo exclude
customary diplovacy in practice,

Wwhen 11t was actked w) g 1t wag necesgsary to have
n

the new minigter sunervise Lhe ranormal !:1_;:[..mur'.,r witli
countries within bthe yphere, MOl Inn stated that

c¢ountries withiln the uphere are in a fanily relationshlp.
Thelr diliplomacy dirffers as compared wibl: obher independent

"'rﬂlrt}.l'I"-,’i, and Bilnoe there ig an 1nbimnbe relat -a“...hiii
hetween foreign policy and esbranormal 'li!l]'lm-'l""f L Lhe
aAren, * 1t waz .«]:-:-1.]:1:] Lo }1.’:':"‘ Lhiee new r';ill'l ster lfli'-*'
charge.,

The (il'th meeting was held on Vctober 1LY, 1lvaz,
and wag abtended by MlNawl, when a wember ushed whelher
Llu:-. f‘]nl:ﬂ_n,‘l'il‘ il iccinls rect ‘I'.»'lll_-.: prtcle ['l'rll.l Lwo
Alifl'erent minlastrien would not become confused, awnld
l'n;rlllill 1J||:|f Hu relationg of J | PELrl * witl countries
i the apneré 18 like that of relatives, and it 18
-I:III.'IIL": 1cle al to have thls d« 'u'!'li"l inLo Lie ralations
of a glngle large famlly, and evenlually the polint would
lie ['r;:“!hn:! W!Ilt"-l"’ illl'l"rllltl*'_‘; would not, b neadod., awl l.“('
pregent atage, due to regpect of dignity and exchange of
d mmentag,y, cugtomary diplomacy must be continued. I'o Lhis
extient the overageas organg wlll come under the superintond-
ence ol the forelgn dinligter.
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“nen the guestion .as asked why it was

inavpropriate to have extranormal diplomacy come under

the Foreign Office and customary diplomacy come under

the new ministry, TANI and MORL:iAkA stated that the

new ministry assumes charge of affairs on establishing

Greater East Asia, and since its contents cover all the
12088 wvarious fields of the area it is ne-essary * to have the

various items of diplomatic policy it ward independent

nations in the Sphere charged toc the care of it. However,

it is aporopriate to have international courtesies and a

' conclusion of treaties charged to the Koreign lMinister.
12093 * Another meeting was held on October 20, at

which were present MINALI, OSHINMADA, and OKa. On October
20 the seventh meeting was held, with KINAKI, oShliabsa,
and OEA present. At the eighth meeting on October 21,
there were present MINAMI, TOJO, and Ons.

12095 * The Court's attention was drawn to bxhibit
90, the Ordinance for Organizing the linistry of ureater
East Asiatie Affairs, dated November 1, 1942.

Exhibit No. 134%, T0JO's speech at the &2nd
12096 session of the Diet, June 15, 1943, stated * that the
defense preparations of Greater kBast Asia have been
strengthened, and Japan was making all arrangements to
launch decisive operations. lie explained that relations
"f with Nanking had become strikingly smooth, and that
independence would te granted to the fhillppines within
a year.

12097 * The populations in kalay, oumatra, Java,
Borneo, Celebes, and other places, are cooperating toward
Japan. In the midst of war they have been liberated and
accorded educational and cultural blessings, so they are
enjoying a life of hope and happiness never experienced
in the past. It is Japan's intention, in pursuance of
native aspiration, to take measures envis:ging particlpa-
tion of the native peoples and gzovernment to an extent
commensurate with their ability in the course ol the year.
Japan intends to realize this state of affairs as early
as possible in Dwaja in view of the advanced condition of
the island and the desire of the people.

bxhibit No. 1346, the joint declaration of the
Assembly of the bast Asiatic Nations, November 6, 1943,
12098 stated * that it is the basic principle lor establishing
werld peace that each nation have its proper place and
enjoy prosperity through mutuzl aid and asslistance.
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+he U. S. and Britain have oppressed other
nations and peoples. £Especially in tast isia, they have
indulged in aggression and exploitation, and sought to
enslave the entire region * and menace the stapility of
bast Asia. This is the principul cause of war.

The countries of the Sphere undertake to
cooperate toward prosecuting the war to a successful
conclusion, liberating the region from domination and
assure their self-existence and self-defense, and construct
a Greater Last Asia on the following principles. 1, They
will insure the stability of the region and construct an
order of common prosperity based on justice; 2, they will
insure the fraternity of nations in the region by
respecting each others sorereignty and independence and
practicing mutual assistance; 3, by respecting each
other's traditions and developing each race, thus
enhancing the culture of bast Asiaj; * 4, they will
endeavor to accelerate their economic development through
close cooperation upon a basis of reciprocity; 5, they
will cultivate friendly relations with all countries and
work for abolishing racial discrimination, the promotion
of cultural intercourse, and the opening of resources
throughout the world.

The Assembly opened on November 9, 1943. There
were representatives of Japan, China, Thailand, Manchukuo,
the Philippines, and Burma. Also present was subhas
Chandra Bose.

* The second sesslion took place on Wovember ©,
attended by all representatives, asscciates, and observers.
A proposal was made by TOJO. Thereaflter the Jjoint
declaration was approved. 1T0JU read the draft, which was
approved. Present at the meeting were TO0JU, osiallkava,

* SHIGEUITSU, HOSHINO, SATO, and Ond,

Isxhibit No. 1347-A, address of 1UJu on November
5, 1943, at the Assembly of the Greater tast Asiatic
Nations, stated * the present war is decisive for all
peoples of kast Asia, and only by winning can they
insure their existence and enjoy common prosperity. A
successful conclusion of the war means completion of the
construction of the new order. To enable all nations to
have its proper place is the fundamental condition for
establishing world peace, and to practice mutual help in
one region is the most * practical method of securing
w..1ld peace.
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The nations of Greater Last Asia are bound
by inseparable ties, and it is their coumon mission to
secure the stability of bBast asia and construct a new
order. This is to rest on the spirit of justice inher-
ent in Greater East Asla, and is fundamentally different
from the old order designed to serve the interests of
the U. 5. and Britain.

ihile the nations of the Sphere mutually
recognize their autonomy and independence, they must
establish relations of brotherly amity. This cannot be

. created if one country should use another as a means to

12106 an end. * These things come into being only when there A
is mutual respect, and as 2 result one prospers through '
another's prosperity.

Continuing with Exhibit No. 1344, it was stated

12107 * that at the time of this decision, T0oJdu was in favor of
independence and was supported by the roreign winister,
but the Supreme Command maintained strong opposition,
while others took the stand that once independence was
granted, Japan for personal honor would have to respect
it, and this would be difficult when nezotiations and
peace came to be considered. for this reason the status
quo should ve maintained. Territorial incorporation was
thus finally decided on.

. The Japanese army squthorities on the spot were

dissatisfied with this decision, and made no representa-
tions of their positilon. Soekarno, who visited Japan
soon alter the conference, requested fudu to grant the
East Indies indepencence. fhe meeting ended without any
definite reply.

12108 + Later HaYadhuI, Chief of the Justice Adminis-
tration, then Supreme councillor for the Wilitary AGmin-
istration in Java, came to Tokyo with approval of the

Supreme commander of the army on the spot with the
problem of jndependence for Last Indies, and uld his pest
to get it acceptead. 3 IGha It supported this and made
efforts to alter the former decision.

4t the conference OL the U150 Cabinet, argu-
ments for independence began to carry SOme weight. at
the first Var Supervision Conference 1T was decided that

a statement concerning independence for the Last Indies
<hould be declared at the next viet session.
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+% this time the Llariana defense line in the
Pacific had been broken, and the U. S. was rapidly
turning to the offensive. The new cabinet had to take
12109 some new measures to unite Bast Asia, * and it was only
natural that the Ioreign iiinister should insist on the
independence plan. The centrel avthorities of the army
were also inclined to approve the ;| lan in compliance with
on the spot requests, since racial . »maciousness had
become noticeably enhanced in Java aud Sumatra. naving
left the problem of independence so vague, it had become
difficult to secure the cooperation of the natives.

. fhe navy, however, still maintained such strong
oprosition that the promotion of independence was deferred
entirely so far as areas under the Navy's iilitary
Administration were concerned.

Exhibit No. 1348, policy in regard to the
' independence of the kast Indies, as proposed by the
1211C ministries concerned, September 2, 1944, stated * that
the policy is to announce that the Eust Indies will be
made independent in the future to win the confidence of
the people and to elucidate the Bast aAsia policy to the
12111 world. This announcement * will be made in a special
Diet Session, that independence will be granted in the
future. The territory is to be the former Nil, excluding
New Guinea, and the Navy's approval is reserved. The form
of independence and the relation tc Japan will be
‘ determined separately, but steps will be taken so that
Javan's requests will be fully attained. The time of
independence will be determined separately, taking into
account the condition, the political ability of the
people, avoiding a too premature enforcement. Whether
the whole territory shall be made independent at the same
time or by degrees shall be decided according to conditions.

in Java the following measures will be taken.

Efforts will be made promptly toward carrying out the
12112 declaration * of the Imperial Government. Radical changes

in the present status of the military administration will

be avoided, but popular participation in politics will

be strengthened and expanded. Ihe, will recognize as

speedily as possible the investigation and study by

inhabitants on matters necessary fcr independence.

Indonesian songs and flags will be permitted. As to

other territories, similar measures will be adopted so

as to conform to actuzl conditiocns.
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12113 * tontinuing with Exhibit wo., 1334, it was
stated that no definite policy was decided in regard to
independence, except that 10IS0 made a statewent at the
Diet to the effect that independence [or the Indies would
be encouraged in the future. In the spcech he stated
that the inhabitants of the Indies have participated in
politics and have tried to carry ouv the war, and have
cooperated remarkably with the milit. -y government. 1In
view of these facts, Japan declares that she intends to
recognize their independence in the future, and she thus

12114 intends to continue with her former policy, * and by

I developing the spirit of the joint declazration she
expects to live up to that trust. If ugreater Last Aisia,
with Japan as the center, increases its solidarity and
prosecutes the war ardently, Japan believes that it can
destroy the ambitions of U. 3. and England.

e

Continuing with Exhibit No. 1334, it was
stated that the war situation took a turn for the worse,
and sea transportation petween Japan and the south came
to an end. Demands by the troops on the spot for
economic self-sufficiency increased, and it became
difficult to win the natives of Java and Sumatra by
abstract statements of independence.

The army authorities had established a Central
12115 Advisory Council in Java,* but this was only a consultative
& body. The decision of a definite policy for preparing for
independence became an imminent problemn.

The navy no longer had any reason to adhere to
its past position, since the abandonment of the south
had already taken place since the fall of the Philippines.
Since the beginning of 1945, the opinions of the army
and navy became uniform on the independence of the Indies.
Consequently, after a discussion held by the three
ministries at the Supreme Advisory Conference of July
17, it was decided that Japan shall recognize the
independence of the Indies at the eariiest possible
opportunlty. Preparations for independence shall be
immediately promoted. Less than a month later Japan
surrendered and this was never put into effect.

bxhibit No. 1349, measures for the il
independence, Data for Foreign Minister's Lxplanation,
' 12116 July 17, 1945, stated * that there had been fierce
irdependence movements in the Last Indies ever since
the Dutch occupation. As soon as Japan's army occupied
the area, the pioneers 1in the separationist movement all
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rendered whole-hearted Cooperation in the €xpectation
that independence hag offered itself, Ihey have
achieved sSuccessful results in their activities ag
members of the Central advisory Council and as members
of the loecal administrative bodies. The Greater East
Asia Joint Declaration Wwas lissued in November 1943,
clarifying Japan's policy to respect the independence
of each country in Greater bast Asig. With the estap-

leaders of the movement in East Indies hag been greatly
Encouragzed.

Japan regards it pProper to carry through the
Spirit of the declaration and to make some gesture in
regard to independence of the Indies as g rewarc for the
COoperation and expectation of the natives. Accordingly,
at Supreme Wapr Supervisory Conference of veptember D
1944, KOISQ, in his declaration to the lDiet on oeptember
9, made g statement that Japan is ready to recognize
independenc: for the Indies, » thereb, clarifying Japan's
intentions on the problem. 4t the conference it was
decided that this statement was to be made at the viet
Séssion, and there Was no question as to independence to
be granted to Java and Sumatra, but nothing definite was
decided on the rest. It was decided to permit use of
Indonesian SOngs and flags heretofore prohibited, and to
€ncourage and increase native participation in polities,

In response to this statement Dy Japan, an
Independence Investigation Committee was established in
Java, and in Sumatra and the Celebes measures were taken
to €ncourage native participation. In the statement of
September 7 it vas merely stated that independence would
be recognized in the future, but no time had been
indicated. To promise them independence » and have its
realization uncertain for a long time will give rise to

Especially, when the €nemy's counter ofl'ensive
is about to éxtend to the hagt Indies, it will be
1mminent, from the point of seeking more Positive
Cooperation from the natives, to urther materialize the
statement made last year and Lo decide clearly the time
for independence and announce it at home gng abroad,
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vehibit No. 1350, Decision of the Supreme War
Plans Council, NoO. 2%, ALY 17. 1945, re Leasures for the
12121 East Indies Independence, stated * that to contribute
toward complete prosecution of the war, Japan will
recognize as soon as possible the independence of 1ine€
Indies, and for this purpose preparations for independence
should be hastened.

1dl2¢e * The area UTO D€ independent will be the former
NI, and preparations for independence will ve pushed
throughout the entire territory, and as soon as prepara-
tions are completed the independence of & nNEW nation will
be proclaimed. However, in areas where preparations aTe€
not completed, steps will be taken tTO transfer them DY
degrees to the jurisdiction of the new nation.

For this purpose, al independence preparation
committee is to be speedily organized 1in Java to carry
out various matters for independence.

12123 *+ The date shall be fixed as soon as possible,
and to be announced bY the PreparatoIy Committee,
together with the areas to be designated as the domain of
the new nation. I[heé policy, political system, name of the
country and scope ol the citizens shall De established DY
public opinion.

Efforts will pe made to promote the race con-
scion sness of the people, and to make them contripute
toward the prosecution of the war. wcasures will be taken
to prevent any hindrance tTo operations and preparations.

he spot shail

cTr

The execution of the policy on
be entrusted to the army there.
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BY MR. HYDE

12,130 ¥ The witness stated that Exhibit 1391 was a
statement prepared by him and the facts stated therein
vere true, In the Zxhlhit he stated that he was a Major
in the Netherlands Indies Army Reserve.ftfter studying
law at Leiden he entered a lawyers' office at Sourabaya

% (Java) on 2€ August 1929 and pract.2ed law in East-Java,
b Bali and the South East of Borneo urtil the middle of
1937. 1In 1938, having been employed by the Department
of Justice of the NEl at Batavia and in 1939 went into ;
. private practice c¢f law in fumatra. On December 12, 1941 ¥
he hecame a reserve officer in the NEI Army and served
with the Staff of the First Division.

12,131 * After the capitulation he became a ICW and
was confined in several camps in West-Java until the
middle of September 1945, He acted as camp translator
of the Java new papers in the NMalasy language which were
allowed to be brought in until the end of 1944, He
spent much time translating the items extensively into
Dutch and together with cthers indexed the data according
to personalities and subjects, intending to prepare
several studies concerning the Japanese occupation and
to gather perscoral data on Jzpanese authorities.

these studies when it became hard to keep the work secret.
. 12,132 * In January 124 1t became clear that ne would be moved
to another c¢amp 0 he and hfs friends sois---° e of
the data and indexes in tins and buried them in tho camp
grounds. From Feoruary 1944 unti!l September 1945 he kept
abresst of actual events in NEI by reading Malay or trans-
lated Japanese rniewsyparers and by listening secretly to
Japanese local broadeasts in Ldl;?g He continually ex-

He had already prepared notes for several of
e m D' T
!

changed informaxrion with new rivals and cther channels,
fter igust 1%, 1945 he again received Malay

newsparers s Uk o} f'"’"rirn of September 1945 he re-
covered a com opy of his notes and indexes., 1n the
micdle of Septe he was releaszed from camp and was
assigned to t itical Secticn of the Commanding Cfficer
of the Nl Cix v\dministration for Java to complete his

12,133 work of ccllect lata * on the occupation, special
secti of 2C created under his direction i:r became
a s jal br. ncl I the Netherlands Fcrces "rt lligence
Service in Janu 1646
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A large group of prominent Chinese, because of
past support of Chiang Kai-shek and on suspicion of anti=-
Japanese attitude, was interned. The policy became
stricter and from July 1942 they were applied to QOceci-
dental women. By the end of 1943 . % may be stated that
all Occidentals r -t Lorn in the NEl, nil  =2nd female,

* had been interned, with excepticiis for people 65 and
older, All Occidentals born in the NE1 who showed
affinity with the West were interned and sympathetic :
Aslatics were interned. hAccording to the Jaranese offi-
cial returns as of September 1, 1945, 62,532 persons,
mern, women and children, were interned in Java., A1l
Cccidental military personnel, some 45,000 men, were
made priseii=rs of war,

Of the former western community, the only free
groups were the Axis subjects, a few neutrals and some
non-interned Eurasians, but they were rigidly spied
upon and prevented from exercising their freedom in
many other ways. They were subject to he~ , pressure.
Besides being spied upon by the Kempeitai they were ine
timidated by arrests * and trials invclving hundreds,
and by the fact that Kempei interrogation and treatment
by Courts Kartial deprived the victims of all rights and
abandoned them to arbitrary maltreatment and starvation,

Occidentals were dismissed from thelr positions
thus depriving this section of the community of its means
of livel'hood. All bank balances were frozen and western
banks liquidated and liquidation percentages withheld.,
The few non-interned Occidentals had to sell all their
Possessions and were further handicapped in that the
Japanese requested whatever they wished without payment.
By introducing ccmpulsory registration and fees, military
authorities made the position still more difficult.

The use of western languages * was forbidden
in public and business communications and in scme places
within the home. 'Those speaking a western language at
home were suspected and subjected to methods employed by
the Kempel. The Japanese imnediately closed down all
schcols ard they remained banned during the second reriod.

In .#pril 1942 a ban on listening to the radio
ircm cutside the NE1 was promul:i*ted and enforced by com-
pulsory senling and regisiration of all wi‘eless sets
. + make them unsatisfactory for shert-wave broadcasts from
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abroad. 1In July 1942 sentences vere pronounced by a
Ccurt Martial 4t verscns who had listened to foreign
broadcasts and :prezd news therefrcm hed been sertenced
toc death. Thrcighcut the cccupation persons susrected
of having failed to comply with this vrohibiticn were
selzed by the lempei, tortured ang sometimes tried,

e

41 The possession of certain bocks * in enemy
languages was punishable and the books had to be burned.
All monuments were taken away, destroyed or otherwise
. stcred. The street and town names were changed to
Japanese or Malay., advertisements could no longer arppear
in western languages, but only in Japansse or Malay.
All expressions of democratic or pro-Cccidental sympa-
thies i« : silenced, All exXisting Courcils where the
opinioi: o: various communities could be freely expressed
were abolished. The leoples' Council, exercising
legislative ang budgetary functions was first abolished
and 1t was followed by the abolition ol the Frovincial, %
¥unicipal and Regency Councils, which hsad similar rowers., ;
12,142 * 1In regions outside Java councils were liquidated. i

[

ance of /ipril 29, 1942 of the Commander-
all existing law courts were abolished,
and Japanese military goverrment courts established as
provisionai to be replaced later. There was no provision
. for appeals and decisions in all pending cases were
declared to be deemed to heve been affirmed.

By ordin
12,143 in-Chief, Java, *

By Ordinances Nos. 2 and 3 of March 1942, all
meetings and associatizns were forbidden, By Ordinance
No. 23 of July 15, 1942 this prohlbiticon was not only
explicity maintzined, but all chairmen were ordered to
dissolve their respsctive associations, excepting those
concerned with sports ang recreaticn, and scientific,
cultural, charitable and distributing vrganizations,

Even associations not prchibited were restricted
in their activities and subjected to pclice supervision
12,144 and had to obtain police ; “ni.. .- faop meetings. * In
practice, activities were rermitted only those which
accepted Japanese leadership and cculd be used for propa-
ganda purposes, From the besinning the Jajanese built up
&n extensive propaganda machine. Along with the first
uroops to land on Jeva, came the vanpguard, These propagan-
dist, orgenized in the I roraganda Secticn of the 16th Army,

— i
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tried to establish “mmediate contact with disaffected
Indonesian and Chin se politicians, With the help of
these in Anril 1942 the 'Tiga A' movement was established
with local Indonesiin committees set up to carry cn,
which comnittees hat no functicn but to carry ou? the
rlans of *he local varanese P'cpagandists, The vrcpa-
gandists scized control of al’ means cf eéXpression, radio,
the cinema &nd the ‘ress. For the first two months after
the cccunation » brcadcasts ang newsparers could He
transtitted in Dutch, 'Then the Propafranda machine had
been sulf'fiziently organized, w11 news'apers were fore
bidden zi:é new Parers were introduced in Nalay under the
directicn of Indonesian and Chinese prcssmen car:Tully
chosen., O April 23y 1942, the imperor’'s birthday, the
first new +alay languege dalily, 'The Greoter Asia' wag
established and apreared regularly unti: September 9,
1945 as tia Propaga..da crgan, At first it was under the
+é&panese, but when ithe Indcnesian steff had proved itself
to2 directicn was Otf'iciaily nanded over to them with
rcal direction in Japanese hands.,

Cther places in Java followad so that ultimately

Japan cont*reclled Newspajers in Malay wer- issued in five
Piaces, A Japanese angusage naper, the Java Shimbun, was
published i1 Batavin In her bropaganda Jajen referred
tc herself as the 'lLiberatcr', come to establish a 'New
OCrder,' ag * it stated that the new Java was to be eduy-
cated to “e:ocme g wor Lhy riember of th- Co-Frosperity
“rhere uncer Jaran': leadership, They Institutec a rigid
censorshir affecting all rostil, telegraphic and tele=-
Poonic cormunicatios and extenied ever. to rhotogrephs.

511 publi: utterances were ¢t jeet to censor-
ship, the treater, the radio, the press., and sermons.,
Tieatrical Companie: were takar over VY the prope ganda
service. Bcok publication was subjeet to censorship and
ocnly works emanating from the bPropaganda service appeared,
The Japanese thus cortrolled all expressions of publie
cpinicn. During the periog Japanization of the Southern
Regions wag vegun. Thne use ¢f Jaranese words war immed-
lately introduced for official services, offices, ete.,
ard the uvsage becz.ae Prevalent, so ultimeotely tre reading
O1 a kalay paper was lmpossivle without knowledge of cer-
tein Jayenese werds, * The Japanese intr: uced the
Jaranese system of aating years, the time stem and the
Ludgetary vear.

T il
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"olice vore the Japanese flag for cap badges.
Emperor worship--offznsive to Mohammedans--was introduced.
A1l meetings began with a bow in the direction of Tokyo
end most meetings erded with 'banzail' %o the IEmparor.
i1)l Japanese hclidays were celebrated and the display of
snything but a Japarese flag vas fcrbidden. The Japanese flag
Lad to be 1'lown on all official and private buildings under

-

strictly prescribed rules.

Portraits of the Dutch and allied officials were
. forbidden &nd had toc be burned. The possession cof Japanese
Imperial family was governed by rules aimed at insuring
that there should be no 'lese-majesty.' Festage and revenue
stamps were marked 'Dai Nippon,' and later new stamps were
issued with texts in Malay and Japanese reading 'Dal Nippon.'

LZ,14€ The Japanese began to establish * schools which
taught only Japanese. Later schools for Indonesians were
re-opened but the curriculum was changed to meet Jajanese
needs and important subjects were Japanese language, SONgs
and dances,

In finance their economic program in the East
Indies was simil.r alithcugh some areas were administered
by the Army and some by the Nawvy. Java and Sumatra were
occupied by different Jaranese armies and the rest of the
. area was occupied by thes navy with no contact. Nevertheless,
' the basic principles administered were entirely similar,

The first ordinance of the Commander-in-~Chief,
Java, March 7, 1942, introduced Japanese military parer
currency with a Dutch text reading 'The Japanese Government.
One half guilder.' C(ther paper money was issued. The
guilder was reduced tc the value of the yen. 0ld pajer
12,4150 money at first was kept in circulation, but later * when
it had a considerably greater value than Japanese occupatlon
mcney it was withdrawn and its possessicn constituted a
crime. The paper money diffcred in varicus areas. In
Sumatra, originally vnder the same administration as Malaya,
the same text appeared as in the case of Java, but in
English, whereas in cther regicns of the NEl and Timor, the
Dutch text was used. In 1944 new paper money was designed
and vrinted in Batavia, with the text in Japanese and kalay.
Thie paper mcr<y was 1ssued ultimately without backing,
which soon led to inflaticn, which began early in 1943 and
cintinued to the midéle of 1945, and this money had a value
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of about one fortieth of its original value.

A1l banks were closed down at once. Luring
1942 and 1943 the circulation bank and private banks were
ligquidated, The Fcst Cffice Savings Bank and the lecples'’
Ny 12,151 General Credit Bank * were reopened under Japanese names
and d¢irection, but the balances duc at the time of closing
remained frozen. Later Indonesian balances were partly
unfrozen while those cf Occic¢entals, internees and
priscners remained frozen and were transferred to the
. Enemy Property Administratior Bureau, charged with the
custcdy of enemy property, which liquidated nearly all
confiscatad rroperty and credited the ovners with pro-
ceeds in Japanese rarer money and after kay 1945 the
liquidation was hastened.

!

In Batavia the Kempei frequently bought at so-
called public aucticns and the proceeds in Japanese
occupation mcney bore no reasonable relaticn tc the real
price for the same article in the same paper money in
the open market,

A1l stocks of Occidental importers as well as
private poussessions ovned by Occidentals were changed
into claims in Japsnese paper money on the administration

L2 o1 52 bureau. * Possession of enemy property was a punishable
" of fense. Even non-interned Eurasians were considered
enemy nationals so that rents due them were paid tc the
Jaranese. Unsold property was delivered on request to
Japanese officials and ipdividuals,

Before thes war in the NEI, b.g capital belonging
to westerners had been invested in agricultur i industries.
The agricultural entervrises, excepting sugar factcries,
were brought into an crganizaticn charged with administer
ing enemy agricultural ccncerns and the control over all
other agricultur.:.l enterprises, including those operzted
with Indonesian or Chinese capital., Llittle attention was
psid to owners' interests, The bcady carried out a peolicy
of carrying -ut a rigorcus war effort and to maintain pro-
duction recuired by the Co-Prosperity Sphere. enterprises
and industries of no importance tc the immedlate war effort

125153 were switched * to other production, or if not feasible,
were retained if deemed worthwhile from the point of view
.f the Co-Prosgperity Srhere at the end of the war. heal
snd rubber plantat.ons suffered serlcusly because the




.
1

Page

g

12,154

NARRATIVE SUMMARY C¥ THE REC( RD Fage 190%
\Cecember €, 1946) \
{de Weerd. -Direct)

Jaranese rave precedence to food crops. Tea plants and
rubber trees were vLsed for firewood and the estates
parceled cut among local farmers to increase areas for

food erops.

A large part of western -wred agriculture was
liquidated. The entire sugar indu:stry was allctted to
six or seven blocks to large Japanese sugar ccmpanies and
expi. ited by them under the direction and control of the
organization. Sugar production was.reduced considerably
and unused machinery was partly scrapped or carried off and
factories not switched over produced war commodities,

The possession of land belonging to Occidentals
or governmental institutions was * trarsferred to a special
organization which handed cver the prorerty as required
to the Jajaness military or civilians for business and
personal purposes. The old ownership was drastically
changed. So-called private estates vere arpropriated by
the military government without payment of any compensa-
tion under ordinances of the Commander-in-Chief, Java,
June 1, 1942, This expropriation tcook place in other places
such as the Celebes. TFublic utilities were seized by the
military administrztion and operated without compensation
and 1n some cases allotted tc private Japanese companies,
Frivate railways, tramways and busses were amalgamated
with the State Rallways. The egquipment of private railways
was in large part shipped to the Burma=Siam railway, Di-
rection of railways was unified under ihe railway head
office * and all f{ormer independent operation was obliterated.
The personnel of these companles w = pcoled and Japanese
rank designations =z=nd terminology were introduced.

All gas and power companies and privately owned
mining concern rs tsken over and operated by the mili-
tary govermmen: or Jz; anese companies. The policy of ex-
ploitation of naturasl rescurces was carried on partly by
the military ddministration, nartly thircugh monopolies to
big Japanese concerns and partly by Jepanese 'national
policy companies.?

The Southern Development Bank, entirely government
owned and operated, had as its chief function the financing
of the development and explcitation of natural resources in
vie  Tsithern Regions and the control of circulation and
finance 1n those areas, This was directed by the Ministry

B R S P S ————————
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of Greater Last Asia and acted as cashier to the Japanese
Army.

12,156 Japan €132 divided up * all the natural resources
in the areas ameng the various Japanese applicants and
allotted each of them part of those areas, usually accord-
ing them monopolies. Domei was granted a news service
monopoly althcugh a local agency had started first. Press
menopolies in the Southern Regions were divided among
varicus big Japanese newspajer ccncerns.

—

f

. in banking the Yokohama Specie Bank and the Tai-
wan Bank were chartered to operate in Java and tcok over
the functions of private Occidental banks. The liquida=-
tion of the banks and introducticn of Japanese banks was
effected in part by compelling the debtors who had debts
claimable on November 25, 1942 to arply to the new banks
for new credits backed by secu:rities pledged to the western

banks.

During the first phase the administrative machinery
was relatively simple. The Chief of Staff of the Commander-
in-Chief, Java was concurrently chief cf the military govern-

12,157 ment * and was assisted by a central ocrgan and by three
Army officers. Local administration was by commanding
officers of occupational detachments. Original Tokyo plans
rrovided for sending experts in administration, finance,

. and econcmy immediately following the cccupational troops,
but it was not until Avgust 1942 that the provisional set-up
was succeeded by a reguir~ administration. Military govern-
ment was developed into a separate body. Its funetions were
laid down in Ordinance No. 1 of March /y 1942 in which the
Commander-in-Chief assumed all powers of the Governor-General.
The administraticn was divided into nine departments under
the chief of the military government. They were General

12,15¢ Aff::‘rs, Internal Affairs, * Finance, Justice, Folice, Fublic
Jorks, Economics, Auditing and I'rcpaganda,

In addition, from time to time, there were a num-
ber of bureaus and other bodies under the chief ard equally
independent tc handle varicus matters such as religious
aff:.irs, shipbuilding and enemy property. Chi.ic:: were made

12,159 which did not affect the structure. * The rre-war central
administration was changed thoroughly. Prior there had been
no Ceneral Affairs or Fropaganda Departments. Folice were
under Internal Affairs and other matters werec hardled

differently.
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The Government Secretariste, the Council of
State and the Gover: - . Cabinet disappeared. The former
department of General Administration was reorganized on
Japanese plans. All leading positions in the departments
were occupied by Japanese and on September 1, 1945 there
were 23,242 Japanese nationals emp'oy .d in Java, amount-
ing to half the number of service p2rsonnel staticned
there,

legislative powers were exercised by Tokyo, the
Supre ‘e Commander in th: Scuthern Area, the Commander-in-
Chief, Java * and the Chief of Military Administration.
The laws of the first two bodies were not published locally,
although thousands were punished under them. The ordinances
of the last two were published in Java in the bi-monthly
gazette, printed in Jaranese and kalay., 3Some secret
ordinances appeared cnly in the Japanese edition. The
later advisory councils did not affect this leglslative
positiocn,

Ordinance No. 27 of the Commander-in-=Chief, Java,
August 5, 1942, sit up an entirely new system of local
administration. Java was divided into 17 districts and
one special city of Batavis., The four Sultanatos were ad-
ministered by a Bureau. The former Provinces were elimi-
nated. In early 1945 three regimes coinciding with the
former provinces, * but different in kind were set up. These
local bodies supplanted the former decentralized, autonomous
local administiration and were under the Chief in a central-
ized system. There were no local councils mentioned and,
therefore, no public adminlstration.

These districts were subdivided into smaller units
in accordance with the Japanese pattern. The organic laws
governing the functions of administrative bodies under the
0ld system were abolished and replaced by Japanese regula-
tions. The position of locel officials was, on one hand,
considerably strengthened, and, on the other, made more
dependent on the central administration. The Fuehrer-
principle was introduced. The officials responsible only
to their superiors had a large measure of liberty in execu-
ting their duties with power to dismiss and approint and
unrestricted disciplinary power.

* They could issue regulations to implement ordin-
ances promulgated by higher authority and also regulations
¢ nrerning matters not covered by such ordinances, but they
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were subject to the authority of superiors and responsible
to them. The object the Japanese had in mind was to build
an administration fclleiineg those of Formosa and Korea.
The ruling Sultans were maintained, not as having hereditary
title to their positions, but as newly invested rulers
owing allegiance to the Japanese Army, All key positions
were occupled by Japanese., From the Chief of Military Ad-
ministration through the District Office the staff was
almost entirely Jajanese. From the Ken Office downward
the Indonesian staff was maintained, but from 1944 onward,
the head was assisted by Japanese advisors.,

The composition of the Administrative Corps * was
modified later pursuant to TQJO's promises, but leading
positions remained with the Japanese and w~ ~e an Indonesizan
held an important post tne real executive was a Japanese,
The Japarese did not hand over actuzl authority until the
end of August 1945.

The biographies of the Japanese officials show
that the corps was assembled chiefly in cclonial Formosa
and Korea and some had been engaged in administrative
fune:ions in Japan.

* The new administration system in other islands
developed along the same lines., At first Sumatra and
Malaya were under the Army Commander at Singapore, but
later Sumatra was separated. The 1l6th ang 25th armies in
Java and Sumatra were under the 7th Area Army at Singapore,
commanded finally by ITAGAK1., The 7th Area Army came under
the Southern Theater commanded by Field Marshal TERAUCHI.

The Military Administraticn cperated under orders
issued through ordinary channels of command and also those
issued directly from the Ministry of War.

In the Celebes, Borneo and all islands east of
the line through Bali and the liacassar Straits the Japanese

Navy was in power. The system was not substantizlly different

having the seme principles of centralized administration
and Japanese and indonesian officisls., 1n navy territory
the administration was executed by the Minseihu at Macassar
* under the command of the officer commanding the Second
~duthern Squadron at Sourabaya, who, in turn, was under the
/th Sou'.hern Squadron at Singapore.
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The Judicial System was entirely revised. In
addition to the fivrst period courts cf military ¢dminlstru-
tion there was the Cun ¥:izi. = Cowrt Martial proper, to
try Japanese personnel subject to court martial and the
Gunritu Kaigi, a court martial to try viodlation of Army
Ordinances. The military administration had jurisdiction
to try violations of military government ordinances and
regulations and formexr Dutch Ordina..ces continued. This

jurisdiction was shared with the Gunritu Kailgi.

The final military administration coorts were
set up by the ordinance of Septembe: 26, 1942, There were
eight types of courts, all having Japanesé names and in-
cluding the final court of ajpeal * and the intermedlary
courts of appeal, both of which were entirely manned at
first by Japanese. The lcwer ccurts, corresponding to
local administrative subdivisions,and the two special re-
ligious ccurts, all manned by Indonesians were directly
controlled by the intermediary courts cf appeal.

There was a prosecution section in each court
centralized under tne Justice Department, Later this was
detached from Justice and combined with the police force
under the renamed lublic fecurity Department. In criminal
courts with Indonesian judges a Kempel attended, sitting
next to the prosecutor. 1In the initial stages the former
Fenal Code was maintained, however, since this was based
on demoeractic foundstions the Jszpanese introduced a new
Penal Code in 1944, in which criminal acts were defined
in vague terms and high iainima of punishment were introcduced.

. * The adminis+tration interfered frequently in
trials by Indonesian courts and in practice the Kempel
determined the sentence in criminal cases. Only Japanese
and Malay were spoken in trisls and court martial trials
were conducted in Jarsnese without proper internretation.
In cther islands there was the same,

AL the outset of the occupation the Jaj anese
tcok over the lolice School at Sukabumi, Java and in the
various capitals of the districts introcduced permanent
courses for training police personnel. [Iropaganda courses
for personnel in the service were conducted regularly in
which the ideals of Greater East Asia and Japan's might

ere taught. A system of corporal maltreatment for the
seltlement of minor infracticns was in iroduced. * This
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was scen daily in the streets and some sections of the
indcnesian i olice Force adopted these tactics. Later when
a separate yolice department was set up it was established
cn centralized lines and the Japanese had all executive
functicns. The existing fcrece was felt to be insufficient.
The Kempeihoo, an Indonesian extension of the Kemrei,
trained by the Kempei, was organized and feared and hated
by the reople.

In /pril 1943 the Feiboodan, a village guard,
was orranized as an auxiliary force everywhere and re-
infcrced the regular police by 1,3CC,000, * This organi-
zation had a variety of duties. It went into action in
case of fire or cther calamities, it had to assist the
regular police in ayprehensions of crashed allied air
crews, raratrcopers and cthars, did 24 hour guard duty
and turned out for public meetings. Its mein duty was
spying. 1n 1945 they were used to train the peorle in
guerilla action. This taught the simple farmer fear of
foreigners and hate for Cccidentzls and led to barbarocus
display of cruelty.

* A third force was set up early in 1945 and
called Keibcotail, which cperated only in towns. Its
members were recruited from among the Chinese. The
Eempei-Eoc was part of the Kempei, while the other two,
although Japanese lead, were no rart of the officizl Army
organization. The members of the latter two * were volun-
teers, but insufficient vclunteers led to drafting.

The priscn system was reorganized. New ccurses
for training new personnel ang improving the old were
intrcduced. Jaranese designations and Jaranese merkings
were introduced. Treatment of prisoners was inhuman,

The military government laid down a2 revised educational
program to reoren schools for Indonesians. Elementary
education was revised with instruction in Jayanese songs
&nd cdances and physicasl training. rneading and mathematics
were substantiallyreduccd and the remainder of the
curriculum abolished. The varicus types of intermediate
schools gave way to one type of public school with uniform
curriculum. This sshool was divided into a First and =
Higher s~hcocl. The curriculum was very much simplified
with forelgn languages ani zeneral history dropped to meke
rlace for Jaranese * and Jananese history, Texts o= the
~istory of the islands were burned 2néd new cnes int>rcduced
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emphasizing racial ties with Japan. A new subject called
'Seisin' “eaching i11e Co=Prosjerity Ideals to tha younger
generation was broci:zht in ané the chil:'ren were exhorted
to fight ianks and >ther mode 'n weapo:: with bamboo
spears 1f necessary. Vocatici1al =schoo. s were organized
on Japane:e lines.

Satavia Nsdical Col .ege wacs . 2opened under a
new name :.n March ¢, 1943 und:r a Japsrese president,
assisted "y six newly appcint:d lndone:ian professors.
3ix month: later th:se Indone:;ian pro”: ssors werc demoted
and succecded by Ja-anese prc 'essors. Instructions in
Japanese language was obligat ry. Tae students pledged
themselves to enter the milit .ry gcve:':ment service after
zraduatici:, They ware Tillet:d and suinjected to a strict
* and semi-military rejimnente .icn und+: special Jaranese
#ho instructed them ir .3z an'; greatn.:s and the ideals
of the srhare. The cuririculw: was rediced by cne-third.

Literary, Law and Te:chnical Tolleges were not
recpened, out in 19+4 i aighe: vocaticnal school., with a
limited program for three yea 's was re~pened under the
same routine after recical co.lege. .an College was sup-
~lanted by one year ccurres fir the t.ssining of civilian
officials znd lawye:s. wuch " ime was zrent in Cc-Prosperity
ideals an¢ Japan's i resuiness. There %:. regimentaticn and
da large amiunt of ingst:uection in Japaiese.

crivate ecuzstion rocmained %ebco until 1933 and
1934 and c-:rtain privats schccls for {i.lonesians and Chinese
were allowed tec reoiganiza, it with & c¢fficial curriculum,
* \lestern teaching =7 teaching to wczierners wes pro-
hibited zan: strictly eufurced. and the mere suspicion of
having taupht Occldent:i: invclved Bus -icion by the Kempei,
tiany colle;:ec students, r~aduates and p:ominent lndonesian
rersonalities were sen to Jajan. All :ections of society
vere organ. zed into cco:naraticns along rasecist lines. This
was carrie: out among slil racial and rcoliticel groups, as
vell as al. professicr: -ad trades, er  ocmic sections,
cultural gocups, religi- s greaps, the  ounger generation,
sports orgunizaticns ard women's movers..ig. The .Japanc:ze

lkept a clc:e grip or any :ocizl groupr thrcugh these corg=2ni-
zations and used them i»~ 8id and supp:s% for the Army and
milltary government. Thay had te tur.. cut in force duvring
raes meetings * and tney vere utilizec for disseminating

vropaganda amcng mencer “nd to keep (i Japanese abreast of
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public cpinion ang conduct espionage., The Propaganda Le-
rartment maintained close relations with this organization.
All addrecses by Indcnesians were not only pre-censored
but were usually drafted there, The corporations were under
close and strict supervision of the Cffice of Kiljtary

- Administration, all serving uniform rurposes and all mcdeled
on the same lines,. -hey viere begun by crdinances of
the Commander-in-Chief, Java. All ordinances read the same
dénd stated that the cbjective of the corporation was
support tc the military government,

. The executives were appointed by Japanese ang
branch executives were résronsible to the main one, 3Both
vere assisted by adviscry councils appointed by cr with
the arproval of the Jaranese. The executive bcdy could
lay dcwn rezulations binding on the members as obligatory

12,176 for a whule given group., * For example, the medical organi-
zation ordinance of August 3, 1943, stated that it was
established to ccordinate those engaged in medicine in Java,
tc train *heir knowledge ar:l character And to raise their
capability so that they can give their contribuvtion to the
utmost to Japanese Army in medical affairs.

Physicians, dentists ang medical experts in Japan
cculd become members if nct enemy nationals., The organiza-
tion was to carry out such work fcr conducting the Military

. 12,379 Govirnment. * The head could issue orders ang instructions
to carry out the work to the members af*er obtaining apjyroval
frcm the Chief of killitary Administration wWno was to super-
vise 1t, Fractically all other rrofessions were similarly
Crganized.,

In all fields there was obligatory membership,
unilaterally binding rersulations, uniform objects and
Japanese nsxecutives,

The importance of a truly Orientsl arti
Fression was emphasized ang Ccecldental influence
sidered inimical. 'aintings and other art works we
be judged, not on artistic values, but their merits . re-
lation to the Co=Irosperity Sphere., The crganization for
12,17¢ the control of this * showed the same characteristics. The
Jaj anese attached much importance to the spiritval molding
of youth and tcok the matter ccmpletely in their hands,
The Indonesian Youth'kovement, authorized in the beginning,
was prohibited in the middle cf 1943,
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in Lecember 1942 the Jaranese Co

mmander-in-Chief,
Java declared that the train

ing of the younger generation
tc be good citizens cf the Co-Frosperity Sphere was of such

importance that the pest Jaren had to offer was not good

énough and the matter was, therefore, kept an exclusively
Japanese concern. The crgan of

coatrol was the Jawa Seinen-
dan (Java Youth Corps) established ‘n April 1943 to convince
the youth of Java so that they will energetically cooperate
with the Military Government and render assistance in
building the Cc-Irosperity Srhere

=]

* In every district a Ja
for loecal instructors was establish
ing camp wes orened, all under Japanese direction, Later
2 youth organization wes organized in every locality and
in some factories. These were organized intc the United
Youth Corps ¢ :'ava on military lines ang commanded by

Japanese officers, sge limits were from 14 to 2% and men
were aorafted to make up deficiencies in volunteers, Only
the rhysically fit ang those tes

ted for their enthusiasm
were admitted,

rénese training center
ed and a central train-

Training consisted of the Jajsanes-
spiritual angd militsry trainin

air raid precautions a
manpcwer for the D
All other youth org

language,

g and 1 hysical training,

nd Jaranese musie ung dances, The
lfense Corps were from the youth corps.
anizations * were prohibited.

Sports also were brought inte 1

type cf set-up. To cover the Sports-world of all REast
Aslatic nationals in Java a branc

n was established in every
local place and were ocrganized in their respective districts
and subordinated to the main bogy,

ine under this

The 1ndcnesian women were organized into the
Huzin Kai, * ©The purpose of this organization was to
heip the Japanese Army with efforts befitting the position
of the women of the original inhabitants and also to raise
the women's virtue. The working section Was to carry out
work necessary for improving conc itions behind the front
line and in savings, education, public safety and health.
To deepen their conviction of their duties the organization
Was to give instruction in first aid and to organize lecture
meetings and ccurses @and establish close ccntact with the
Youth corps and village guardes in dev:lopments in other islands

roughly parallel to those in Java., The problem of political
* 2oordination wss tackled more sketchily,
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one order from the Chiel of 3talf of the 1loth
12216 Army,* Exhibit No. 1392, dated September 1944, stated
that the Chief of Staff was notifying the recipient that,
based on KO0I30's proclamation on granting independence
of the East Indies, the Army will meet the situation
- properly in accordance with certain stipulations. JIhese
were that the purpose for granting independence should bpe
thoroughly understood; that 1t is not permitted to touch |
upon the time of inde~endence, the sphere ol the bast i
Indies nor the form of government until they are finally
decided; national consclousness is to be railsed to the
. 12217 highest degree, especially during * the war it 1is to be
utilized to strengthen defense and cooperation; There are
to be no great alterations in operations and pusiness
structure of the military government, out participation
is to be enlarged and strengthened; nationalistic speeches
and activities are to be allowed, and for that purposse
the people are to be allowed to sing the national anthem
and use the national flag; Use€ such words as "the Indo-
nesian people"; in addition, nationals are to Dbe appointed,
put advocates of independence who are connected with the
Communists shall not be allowed to exist; they shall
recognize investigation and study necessary for independ-
ence under guidance of the military governmentj thorough
measures are to be %taken for spreading the Japanese
12218 1language, institutions, and culture; * there is to be no
distinction between natives and other races, but they
. must understand that they must participate in constructing
s new soclety; all Japanese must realize and put into
oractice the mission of this era, in which dakko Ichiu
is to be carried outj the idea of colonial subjugation
is to be banned, and the natives must be approached with
affectionate feelings while being instructed and guided
sternly; haughty and arrogant speech 1s forbidden; in
guiding public opinion, stress is to be laid on raising
national consclousness and intensification of the war
effort, with confidence anrd reliance on Japan. I'hey must
12219 anticipate confusion accompanying changes in power, but
it was forbidden to meddle in them; although resentment
may arise against the indonesians, the Japanese must not
be hostile, but must guide them; in instructing the
Volunteer Defense COTpS, the Japanese must scrutinize the
attitude of officers and men to deepen theilr feeling of
unity. and not let them get the idea that they form an
ind-pendent armny. Special attentlon is to be paid to
training instructors. In observing the real situation,
Japanese must not make the error of pelieving that the
2 af securing native confildence in Japan has been
atcained from their enthusiasm, but must continue
12220 * to gulde them.

f
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By Mr. hHyde.

12182 In considering the third phase, it should be
remembered thzt as early as the first period there had
been some activity in the political field, but the
policy adopted was one of wait and see. imnediately
after the occupation, Ordinance No. 2 of the Commander-
in-Chief, Java , March 8. 1942, prohibited until
fur ther notice, the participation in any organization,
at-endance at meetings, propaganda in favor of the enemy,
and the posting or printing of placards.

By Ordinance No. 3, March 20, 1942, it was
prohibited to discuss and engage in activities, encourage
121837 or make propaganda on * the organization and structure of
government. As a result of “hLesc, certain Indoneslian
ieaders were arrested in April 1942, some to be released
only much later. In December 1942 to January 1943 there \
was a large scale round-up of Indonesians engaged in
underground work which might be construed as anti-
Japanese. These, except for those executed or who died
in prison, were not released until September, 1945. Even
after January, 1943, the Kempel guarded and spied on all
underground activity, with a large number of victims.

In 1942 the Japanese initiated the M"AAAM
Movement, standing for Japan protector of Asia, Japan
leader of Asia, and Japan light of Asila. The "&AAA" was
printed in large letters and in a different color.

12184 * This movement elaborated the theme of Asie {or Asiatics
and hate ageinst the white race, and against Western
exploiters. The Japanese were stated to be of the same
race as the Indonesians, and the words "The Indonesian
people, wno have the same ancestors and are of the same
race" as the Japanese, appeared in Ordinance No. 1 of
March 7., 1942. Western influence was designated a
corruption of the Lastern soul. Japan was the saviour of
Asigtic peoples, and the Co-Prosperity Sphere, under
Japan's paternal leadershlp, was to liberate asiatics.
Aside from the slogans "New Java'" or "y New Order in
Java"™, the Co-Prcsperity Sohere was not further defined.
The word ":ndonzsia" politically was not permitted, and
in most cases the Indonesians were referred to as the
original inhabitants.

while this movement was going on, further
contact was sought for the Indonesians, especially those

12185 Adissestisfied with the * former rule and progress for
1 “enendence.
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chief among these was SURARNO, who having been
brought to Jav: by the Lempei in July, l942, formed the
nFour-Leaf Clover" with three otker nationalists. 4All of
these became leaders, under the Japanese, of cooperative
nationalists. These men saw in Japanese promises the
means of attaining early independence. They believed in
them, and therefcre advocated cooperation.’

The Japanese also sought tc contact the
Indonesian intellectuals who had not been discontented
and haed held high office under the putech. In December,

. 1942, there was set up the committee for the study of
former customs and political systems, to survey and study
certzin matters and to contrioute toward adminlstering
Java. This group consisted of nine Japanese, including
the chairman and ten Indonesians, including the rour
Leaf Clover and certain former Chiefs of Departments,

12186 *professors, and members of the former council. This
group was never important, ana was abolished in November

1043,

The first re. uest made by the four men was UO
be allowed to form a party. This was considered until
December 8, 1942, when at a meeting in Batavia the
Commander promised that a single party for indonesians
would be permitted. The decision to start would have to
come from Tokyo.

. On March 9, 1943, the "putera" movement was
begun, derivipg its name from a symbolic abbreviation
of words meaning the center of the people's spiritual
power. The word 1putera"™ means "knight's son",Its aims
and policies were similar to the previously discussed
corporations, except its name was lMalay. It was not a
party, but only a movement, with leaders and advisory

councils.

12186 * The leaders were aprointed by the Commander -
in-Chief and were assisted by an advisory council
equally divided Letween Japanese and Indonesians. The
Indonesians were nominated by the leader with approval
of the military government, with local leaders appointed
with Japanese approval.

The organization was governed by rules laid down
ty the Commander-in-Chief, and its aim was to arouse the
strer: *t =2 ~"forts of the people to support all measures
s~y winning final victory to the war.
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Sinc2 it 1s closely linked #ith the policies
of military government, all leaders must have a profound
knowledge and faith in the aims and objectlives of the
Japanese army. Puter 1 leaders were urged to be fully

12188 aware of existing limitatlons * and never lead the
common people astray. They were to do their best to
fulfill the aims and objects of the movement and cooper-
ate in establishing the Sphere, and ho build a new Java
to be a member of it. -

|

Its functions were to impress the Indonesians

. with the duties and responsibilities in establishing a
new Java; to eliminate Occidental influences; to partic-

ipate in defense; to foster self-discipline; to deepen
mutual understanding with ti. e Japanese; to encourage the

12189 study of Japanese; * to raise Indonesian standards; to
encourage care of health and sport, thrift, and savings;

and higher production in every village.

The organization was only for Indonesians. <the
Japanese had five grades in the social hierachy: Japanese,
Indonesians, other Asiatics, mixtures, and buropeans.
Indonesians were treated as privileged characters, while
the 3 to 5 group were treated as foreigners, with
Europeans and Lurasians receiving the worst treatment.

when the Puterz was adopted, restrictlions on

travel by foreigners was strengthened, and €veryone had
. to immediately inform the polic.: when lodging someone
from outside his place of residence. [Forbidden zones
12190 * covering the entire south coast and the eastern and

western ends of Java WETE established.

Great enthusiasm for Putera dwindled when it
became clear that 1ts activities were to be restricted i
to the principles laid down by the propaganda service. |
There was great jisappointment when its youth movement
was forbidden and the Japanese set up thelr own. At the
time, outside the hast Indies greal changes had taken
place. Japan had heen forced from the offensive into
the defensive and lines of communication were seriously
threatened.

In this background, on June 16, 1943, 1udO
made 2 speech in which he stated that since the people
of Java had snown thelr readiness to cooperateq they
should be given participation in the government. L€
21 -~ promised independence to Surma and the rhilippines.
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* In pursuance of this, 1000 visited the
southe:n regions in pérson, and while enroute to Java
répcated promises of independence for the rPhilippines
and Burmg. In Java he promised only participation in
the government, coupled with the conditions that there
will be complete coopcration with the Japanese to win
ultimate victory.

In August, 1943, an Indonesian was appointed
Chief of the Religious Affairs Department, with actual
control in Japanese hands, and two other indonesians
were appointed Chiefs of Residencies, with actual power
in the hands of the Japanese Vice-Chielf. A number of
Indonesians were appointed to lower positions, which
thery had held cefore, and were incorporated into the
Japanese Administrative Corps and accorded corresponding
Japanese rank,

* The Adviser oystem was introduced, and
Indonesians were nominated but acted only on referred
questions. 1In all Residencies and in patavia an advisory
body was established to advise the Resident on local
government, by Ordinance No. 37 of September 2, 1943,
¥hich prescribed the number of members to be appointed
and elected. Klections were indirect, with secret
nominations and open ballot. The function of these
bodies was to answer guestions of local government put
by the district leader, with the right to make sugges-
tions on the referred suoject. It met only on orders,
and its sittings were opén and closed by orders of the
officials of the leader's Olfice, who could attend and

participate.

The sessions were public only for the Opening
address and the closing session. Jessions proper were
closed. At the final session motions already settled
were put to a mock vote and passed unanimously.

* Sessions only lasteg four or five days, and its
chairman was ap minted from among the members by the
district leader. iach local group sent representatives

to the Central Advisory Council of Java,

This was established on September 5, 1943, by
Ordinance No. 36. 23 out of 43 members were nominated
in advzace by the Commander-in-Chief. 18 0l the remainder
were elected by the Szngi s, and two were nominated by
the Sultanates. The procedure was the same as the local

body. They could only offer advice in resronse to questions

0. the Commander-in-Chief, and to make suggestions.
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The actual direction of affairs of this central
body was with the head of the Record Ofiice, a Japanese,
as were his other officials. The function of this ofiice
was to deal with the incoming and outgoing * correspond-
ence, and to exercise internal supervision over the big
body. The head and his staff were appointed by the
%gﬁgander, and the first head was private secretary to

.
The secretary of the local Council was always
a Japanese, and from the very veginning these organiza-
tiorns were used for Japanese propaganda to recruit labor
and volunteers. and to encourage the increase of agricul-
ture and delivery of crops to the military.

‘Wider administrative powers were given Lo the
Sultans of Central-Java in elementary education, local
sovernment at lower levels, public health, farming, etc.

Simultaneously with the establishment of the
Central Advisory Council, the military and aduinistration
took the view that the Indonesians should give expression
of their appreciation for T0JO's promise translated into
fact, by demonstrating * their preparedness to support
the military administration by organizing a volunteer
corps. The Propaganda Service stated that it shou.id
appear that the inhabitants desire to have thelr own
army.

it the end of August, 1943, a friend of Sukarno
asked for permission to set up a volunteer ccrps. In
October, 1943, the Commander scid he was favorably disposed,
and by the tezinning of October 1943, the army of volun-
teers for the defense of the homeland was set up, to call
on the Indonesians for the defense of Java, based on the
orinciple of joint defense of Greater Last asia.

The 4th Article stated that the Corps should
be convinced of the ideals and lmportance of the task of
defense, and it was their duty * to participate in
defendingz the home country sgainst the Allles under the
leadership of Japan.

These organs are commanded by the commander-in-
Chicf of Java. and it was stated that it was not to form
vart of the Jupanese army, and that it would have its
own officers, trained by Japanese. It was not to be used
¢ +side Java, and would consist of vclunteers.
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Recruviting started immediately, but on subse-
quent levies it appeared that there was insufficient
enthusiasm so that each new levy contained a required
number of volunteers. One of the chief activities of
Japanese propaganda was to encourage enlistment. The
training of officers began in October, 1943, and lasted
three months.

The plan was to form one or more battalions
of a thousand men each in each district, as a unit for
defense of the district. This object was achieved by
the time of Japan's capitulation. The task of the
volunteers was mainly one of guarding road * junctions,
bridges, and strategic important points. Jeapons were
only supplied during drill, and most training was with
wooden guns. The Beppan, a special section of the 16th
Army, was charged with training and made use of its
training to spy on the volunteers, as well as to use
them Cor spies.

Prior to this, the Japanese had used Indonesians
as auxiliaries. Shortly after the occupation, many
Indonesian soldiers had been compelled to serve as 2
auxiliaries. These units formed part of the Japanese
Army and were issued Japanese uniforms, Ihey were gen-
€rally used in Ordnance Corps and to guard camps. Lhey
were sent off the island.

The Navy made similar use of auxiliaries. Both
the volunteers and the auxiliaries were taught Japanese,
and their commands ang regulations were written in Japane se,
They wore Japanese insignia, and were instructed in
"Seisin".

* One of the important aims of Japanese propa-
ganda was the increase of crops and the delivery to the
Japanese. They had to provide large quantities of food
for occupation and fighting troops. The army of occupation
was laying up large stocks of supplies. Java, which
before the war could not meet its own food problem, was
expected to produce more, yet an lncrease was obstructed
by a lack of proper supervision of irrigation due to
replacement of personnel and by haphazard metheds used
by the Japanesze in foreing producticn of commedities
unsuitable to climate and geography. This reduced the
area available for food crops. It became less advantageous
for the farmer to hand his product to the Japanese.
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"rom the bezinning, the Japanese adopted the
NEI policy of stabilizing the price of ricze. as the
military guilder decreased in purchasing value, the off-
12199 4icial price * for rice fell far below its former value
in relation to othzr commodities, and other articles
became virtually unobtainable

The Japanese ordered that 60p of the harvest
had to be delivered to them, and tock far reaching
neasures to combat black marketl by closing regional
economic areas, and by checkpoints on the highways.
Threshing of rice in other than coordinated mills was
prohibited.

The propaganda service exercised all powers
to persuade the farmer to cultivate wider areas and to
yield his crops to the military.

Not only in Java, but everywhere, Japan used
labor to build military fortifications, airrields, and
strategic railways. Java was a source of this labor.
From the beginning, the Japanese encouraged voluntary
enlistment of the coolies and WeTe at first successful,
but when the inhabitants learned how they were treated,

12200 * their desire to work for the Japanese disappeared.
This became worse wnen the coolles sent out did not
return and there was no NEWS. The Japanese thereafter
adopted conscription, both for work in Java and outside.

In 1943 a vigorous campaign was startea in
which the economic warrior was represented as fulfilling
a sacred task by working for the Japanese. One could not
speuk of coolles. The coolie was & soldier, and his
contribution had to be appreclated. Recruiting was
undertaken by every possible means. One was to give a
sign. to his home, pointing out that the puclic should
honor such designated houses. His relatives were supposed
to enjoy certain privileges in the distribution of scarce
commodities, which they got only after the government
officials had received their share.

1220) . - The *» laborers received less care than the
POW and internezs, and thelr condition was aggravated
by thelr ignorance snd lack of hygienic precautions and
medical care. Lhe officlal estimates inaicate that
some 270,000 men were sent out, of whom not more than
70,000 have returned. Most received inhumane treatment.
~ommodation, food, and medical care were ¢ither inad-
equate or absent altogether. During certain periods,
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1aborers Wno had died of starvation and contagious
diseases WeTrec carried out of certain camps bY the
carload daily. 1n religious matters, bthe propaganda
service tried tO obtain complete cooperatlion, partic-
ularly to influence the Kohammedans, who were in the
majority. priests and preachers of enemy Traces were
fornidden Lo have services except for the enemy race,
and 1 an Indonesian noticed an Indonesian among the
congregation he had to make him leave.

% With respect to the Mohammedans, the Japan-
ese adopted three principles. One, the Japanese Army
was the protector of Islamj WO, religious sssociations
would be suthorized to carry on sctivities to propagate
the ideals of areater East Lsia, and O support the
Japanese; third, thal the cooperation of the Jiohammedans
in education was scceptable in so far as it was
girected at full support 1o the Japanese Army, and was
imbued with the ideals of the Uo—Presperity Sphere.
w#ithin this restriction religious education would De
permitted and suppor ted. ‘he religious office estab-
lished 2 permunent training center 1in Butavia Where
three week courses 1n Japanese jdeology Were given to
groups of religious leade€rs. These COUrsSesS were alsoO
used to test whether Japanese prepaganda had its effect
and to select eellaboraters. These accomplices carried
the propeganda * to the rural population, and weTe
reSponsihle for producing sufficient rice for &
sufficient supply of laborers and for enlistments as
volunteers.

The Japanese worked on the fanaticlsw of the
inhabitants, and tried Lo have the leaders declare the
war a holy wal against the unbeliever. When it was
pointed sut that the Japanese were unpbelieversS, the
common ancestry of the Japanese and Indonesians were
pointed out.

In the peginning of 1944 religious disturbances
took place 1n certalin districts, =nd the Japanese held
the Indonesian 1eader of the religious affairs respons-
ipble., and replaced him by an old and popular Lohammedan
leader. i€ gccepted this post and spent one€ day in
Batavia and then returned TO his religlous institution,
1eaving the direction of the department TO the Japanese.

grom Novemberl, 1943, the Washumi became the
oy ~anization through which the Japanese ruleda the
Islamic intellectuals, and carried on * propeganda for




NARRATIVE SULMGARY OF THE RuCORD Pa

e 1923

0q

(December O, 1946 )

(Netherlands - DeliniAD-Direct)

Page

12205

12206

!
t

the Japanese, sounded public opinion, and carried on
espionage. Relations between the Mashumi and the
Religious affairs se partment was strengthened until it

was directed by the religious affairs vepartment for all
purposes.

The Jananese established religious affairs
gsections in every district, under lccal leaders, who
had the duty of making the military nolicy understood
in the villages. The Religious arfairs pepartment issued
a publication called "Asshu lay", edited in Malay, Java-
nese and Sundanese, printed in Arab seript, which it
distributed free of charge among 211 wohammedan leaders.

The Japanese made specladl efforts to coordinate
the Chinese, the mainstay of the middle class, first by
trying to lnduce leading officials of the Chinese
associations to form one big organization, put the effort
failed. In August, 1943, * they decided to establish an
organization with the support of a few pro-Nanking
Chinese. This was organized along customary lines, with
leaders appointed by the Japanese znd with cooperation
with the military as the sSupreme object. <They TOOK no
action on thelr own, and the organization was used UO
disseminate Japanese propaganda and to spy.

At the same time, the Japanese permitted limited
Chinese private schools, and the sending of small
remittances to families in Japanese occupied china. 1nhis
latter promise was not kept.

At first the Lurasians Were ostracized, and
were replaced 1in the hizher ranhks DY the Japanese. ilOWEVET,
not enough Japanese Were available, and trained Indonesians
were insufficient in number. IThe first effort to obtain
Furasian cooperation Was made in oseptember, 1943, They
began to Dbe treated as belonging tO the native population,
* put the Japanecse stipulated that they had to realize
that they were members of the Greater bastU Asia community
under Japan's leadershlp, «nd to renounce thelr western
ancestry. The Japanese promised ULO admit a numober of
Eurasian childrern tO village schools reserved for
Indonesian children. Separale schools for Lurasian
children remainec forbidden.

In the beginning of 1944 the Japanese decided
to dissolve the rutera and replace it by an organization
ir which all Asiatics would combine. The ruterxs had
fo.ied to reach the simple villager, comprising about
80% of Java's population and supplied the manpower for
the Japanese.




e, 1 -

NARRATIVE 5UKFAR¥ oF THE RoCORD Page 1924
(December ©, 1946 )
(Netherlands - De JEERD-Direc t)

18]

goe

;

In addition, the movement had become too

strongly nationalistic. The new organization followed

the Japanese pattern and combined propaganda with
organization for distriobution of essential supplies.

12207 Beginning in January, 1944, * all of Java was divided

: into small communities of 20 houses each, called Tonari
Gumi, organized oOn centralized 1lines. This was headed
py a leader appointed from above and responsible to
carry out his orders. All existing associations were

. The duties were extensive, such as distribution,
training for air raid defense, and guerilla warfare. Ihe
head of the community had to jecture at least once & week
on Japanese ideology and the practical application.

Japanese aims in regard to population were extolled,
according to instructions by specially trained Indonesianse.
Other meetings were held for larger units once & month,

in which one member of each family had to attend.

All inhabitants of one area of lonari cumi hed
12208 to be members * silnce only membership gave distribution
facilities.

On March 2, 1944, the Putera was officially

dissolved, and the Corporation for Communal services 1in

Java, comprising 211 Asiatics, was officially 1nstalled.
This corporation remained the jnstrument of Japunese

' control until aueust 31, 1945, when it was qissolveu.

According O the explanution of the Ordinance,
it was set up as an organ of military administration to
carry out 1ts instructions in friendly cooperation with
the peovle. 1t had the duty to se€e that these instruc-
tions reached all, And was to work closely 4#ith the
Tonari Gumi. 1ts leader had to SEe€ that everyone was
enlicted 1n positive support of the rilitary. 1t was,
in fact, an ayecutive body, pased on the principle of
comple te coordination of all jnhabitants.

12209 The central airection * WasS appointed by tne
Commancer, and only of Japanese. fne Executive pureaud,
ander central direction, had several Indonesiane. The
wpgnchers WETE established 1n all localitles, and 1ts

emallest unit supervised one Oor more AZa, which in turn
sapervised 2 number of Ponari Gumi.
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Ihe leader of each local administration was
sisted Dy a council, which met at least once every

« months to discuss ways and means of promoting

sistance to the military. The Tonari Gumi, the lowestT
body, had the task of actively supporting the police and
village guards in jefending the country, during air raids,
and other dangers, and to make the inhabitants understund
the laws and regulations of the military administration;
the stimulation of incereased food production, ond delivery
and distributionj the general support to the military,
and mutual help and assistance.

The new organization ~bsorbed all others pursuing
similar aims, regardless of nationallity, jncluning the
Japanese. Ihe Wiomens Corporations, the Islamic Corporation,
the Chinese€ Cornoration, the Sports Corporation, the
Cultural Corporation, were all tneorporated into it.

Activities by Eurasians for tpeir mutual support
hroucht systematic prosecution by the Kempei-tai. pozens
of leaders died 1in prison &s & result of {11-treztment,
starvation, diseases, or sentences. sIIyone who attracted
suspicion was tortured, till false confessions pecame &
daily thing, pringing fresnh victims within the Kempei
clutches. & typical example happened 1in 1944 1in pontianak,
»where more than 1200 prominent Indonesian and Chinese were
executed on Aan unfounded suspicion of conspiracy. In Java
the Indoneslans constantly feared the Kempei-tal. great
care had to be taken, since spies were everywhere. rthere
are hundreds of C&SE€S where people WETE cruelly tortured
by reports of entirely innocent conversation, bY the most
rorrible tortures.

» Outside Java the same€ policy was adhered to
an political and religious activities. & number of
prominent Indonesians weTe appointed and similar podies
were established, but the process was slower than in
Java. Nevel territories were siower to follow than those
ynder army occupation. in the naval areas the Central
pdvisory Council stage was never reached, although in
sumatra such a council was installed in February, 1G45.
No organization 1ike the Putera WwWas permitted, despite
requests.

Compared tO Java, propaganda in the other
jslands was concentrated on the younger generation.
+ Volunteer Corps Were€ established.

st el A
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During 1944 the four basic ailms of Japanese
propaganda were given full play. Using the slogan of
ipngia for the Asiatics" and religious hatred, the Japanese
worked on a2ll sections of society by holding courses of
instruction. The first group dealt with was school
teachers, followed by policemen, heads of villages,
minor civil service officlals, higher officlals, doctors,
pharmacists, lawyers, and zovernment personnel. kven
the smallest group was given attention.

This propaganda, yrile crude, was to some
extent successful, partly due to chaos and dalstress and
hardships. The Japanese realized the potential dangers
of the situation. It was the task of the propaganda
service to bend these sentiments so as to distract from
the Japanese occupatlion. There was an increasing campaign
of hate against the West, particularly the U. S. and
Britain. which with Holland were held responsible for the
» sufferings of the people.

Prior to the fourth phase, Septemper 1944 to
August 1945, the strategic situation outside Java had
considerably changed. The break-through at Saipan had
occurred, the T0JO Cabinet had been succeeded by the
KOISO Cabinet, which recognized that it faced the 1solas
+ion of the South, and the necessity of the Japanese
troops to stand there by themselves, and that it was
more important to gain popular cooperation.

When the Japanese intentlons became known 1in
August, 1943, disappointment was expressed clearly among
prominent Indonesians who had still confidence 1in Japan,
and the Japanese were warned to accelerate national
aspirations in the South if they were TO retain full
cooperation.

On September 7, 1944, Prime Minister KUISU
promised independence for the fast Indies, * although
it was not made clear what region would gain independence
when granted. The oromise was conditioned on the people
jefending their territory for the Co-Prosperlity ophere,
and independence was jdefined only by reference GO
membership in the Sphere.

Previous to this, at the end of august, 1944,
the 16th Army in Java had been informed confidentially
of the contents of this statement, and it issued certaln
s -ret orders which were discovered in the oifice of the
military administration.
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»larning and execution is the duty of the
military governcent, and others must cooperate with it %
so that there will be no inconsistency. The 7th day of i
Sentember 1ls to be National Independence Commemoration
Day, and the week from the 7th to the 13th is to be the i
National Festival. On the 7th the provincial governors
will assemble, and the Commander wi'l indicate the new f
policy. On the 8th there will be a ~eremony for
exnpre sion of gratitude. Un the 9th or 10th there will
be = spacial council in every province, and on the 1llth
' s =nsecial session of the Central Council.

Exhibit No. 1353, the order of aeptember 7,

12221 1944, @ rom the ilitary Administration, gtated * that

the policy was to promote the racial consciousness of

the Indonesians and to incite this into a hostile feeling

for a complete war to exterminate the U. . and sritain.
12222 * This racial consciousness promotion is to be planned.

Responsibility and afforts of the race are to be stressed

12 the people made to realize thelr aggravated mission

for the complete prosecution of the war. Measures for

independence are to Dbe left to the Army, and the people

sha1ll wvnderstond the need to offer themselves entirely

to the military administration during the war.

They are to be influenced by looking at the
independence and participation in government ofl the
. Philicpines and Burma, and thus induced to increase
their confidence and reliance on Japan.

12223 * Those who found fault with persons coOOpera-
ting with Japan or who have not themselves cooperate?,
are to be ostracized, thus forcing out and checking all

critical speech and action. By emphasizing the signif-
jcance of the conference anc the joint declaration, the
people are TO become conscious of a feelling of certainty
regarding the <anstruction.

fo chzck counter propaganda beforenhand, they
shall be reminded of past oppression by tracing the
history of atrceities of the U. S., sritain, and tiolland.
The cooperation of the Chinese, half-castes and arabs 1is

12224 worthy of ~ttention. * These people must be made To

exert themselves +oward constructing a nNew society with
the idea of concord of 211 peoples with the Indonesian
roce as the niacleus. The new policy will be zlorified
wv utilizing the actual results.

g 1t § TR P S L TR RN B B e e
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reasures to be adopted are to include every
kind of information organizati.n and primitive method.
Newspapers shall issue extra bulletins, and there shall
be no suspension of publication on Sundays; on the first
two days of the week, four page newspapers are to be
issued.

The functlons during the i"2ek alter the
officisl announcement are to be filmed and edited. 1In
broadcasting the text of the official announcement in
Tokyo, the statemecnt of the Commander * and the talks
of the military administration shall be repeated, accom-
panied by clear and cheerful music. Thne inspiration and
determination of the natives shall be put into the dally
progranm.

T'he national flag of Japen shall ve hoisted for
one week. The details of the Outline are to be planned
and executed by the Department of Propaganda in coopera-
tion with the Bureau of Natlve Affairs.

« The witness stated that the promise made on
September 7, 1944, by hOIS0, was announced in Java, he
stating that the nation to be set up would pe a Jjust and
true nation, a link in the Co-Prosperlity Sphere with the
duty of contributing to the development of Greater Last
Asia under Japan's leadership. 1f g1l inhabitants want
to rzise the standard of the nation, it 1s necessary that
they train themselves to become 2 Greater hast Aslatic
people, until final victory is achleved. If final
victory is not won, then the construction of Greater Last
Asia cannot materialize and the Last Indies will not get
independence. The natives must endure 211 hardships and
remove all obstacles that will come in the future. *
While waiting for indepencdence, all inhabitants must work
hard to continue the war. The Japanese condoned the theme
of Indonesian gratitude for KOISO's promise as propaganda
for months to come.

At the same time, the 16th army was instructed

to advise the ¥War Ministry as to the area 10O be declared

independent, the datc that it was to take place, ana the
form of the new State. The liilitary Administration
submitted a report entitled "Gist of Measures for Guiding
Independence", in which 1t proposed to make Java first
independent. It suggested, in order to bulld national
consciousness, the creation of the Academy for the Building
¢~ the State, and increased participation in administration.
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Only two practical steps wWere teken to carry
out the promise. on september B8, 1944, the people were
allowed tO rly the * Indonesian along ~yith the Japanese
flag on certain occasions, subject to rezulations, and
permission was given to sing the Song of Great Indonesia
as the national anthem.

On September 1l, 1944, the Commander convoked
a special session of the Central AdvisoTy Council to
answer the question on how Indonesians could show to
Japan and her army their gratitude for this promise, and
how the will of the people to fight could be further
enhanced.

Another session was held on November 17, 1944,
and a motion was adopted laying down the five rules for
the conduct of life as a compass foT the Indonesians.
These five rules stated that the Indonesians, along with
other nations, regard this war as one with Japan, and
will contribute their efforts % in ali sincerity because
the war stands for justice and righteousness. Trhey will
found an Indonesian state which will be independent,
unified, soverelgn, just, and prosperous, and will value
the spiritual merits of Japan and will live as a true
member of the sphere. They will try to achieve greatness
by keeping alive their civilization and culture, and by
developing Asiatic culture.

While maintaining strong relations with the
nations of “ast Asla, they will serve their country and
people with an unwavering nind and belleve in God Almighty.
They will strive to achleve cternal world peace, based on
Hakko Ichiu.

On December 1, 1944, participation in administ-
ration was jnereased by appointing several Vice-governors
and some Indonesian officers. * & uoard of Officers was
established to meel regularly with the military admin-
jgtration 1in periods when the Advisory Council was not

in session.

In the meantime the Propaganda service had
introduced a new slogan of nJava Une yortress". This
was to bring a maximum war effort in the face of an
Allied landing. fhe population was worked upon by
powerful propaganda, and trained in guerilla fighting.
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During one propaganda meeting in Batavia,
efi'figiesz of Roosevelt, Churchill, and Van der Plas,
o Dutch administrator. were purned. <fhe inhabitants
were urged to seclare holy war on the west.

o T

M

* Three new gsemi-military organizations were
established, and the Tonari Gumi were used LO reinforce
the village guard. On no cccasions. however, were the
villazers told that such action would constitute a
violation of the rules of land warfare and would compel
the opposing party GUO treat them as uifranctireurs".

This training had an unintended result. Iin
webrusry, 1945, a detachment of volunteer delense corps
in East Java surprisedly attacked the Japanese guards
and captured Uhe town. an orgy of murder and robbery
ensued, with all victims peing non-lindonesians and
included Japanese. 'he movement was partly settled DY
compromise, and partly by violence and blouashed.

There was also jnereased resistance against
Japanese regulations in the economic field, especially
against the delivery of products and recruliting of labor.
Te overcome thls, stringent measures were adopted against
Indonesian ofiicials, * ~ho were held responsible for
poor results in recrulting. kany were dismissed and new
ones substituted, esneclally those who had come to the
fare through the big corporation or through the religious
courses. Thesé new arrivals were not fully competent,
and they always had Japanesc advisers., One-third was
staffed with nationalists favorably dispose€eaQ toward
Japan. iowever, the required delivery of food and the
recruiting of coolies were not achieved. I'ne Japanese€
realized thatl they were increasingly dependent upon the
cooperation of the people =nd would have to bear the
conseguences of their own oropaganda.

In September, 1942, Count RODawa, an advisor
to the Commander, visited Tokyo Lo try to arouse interes?y
in local vliews. In November, 1943, SURARNO was sent to
Japan and pressed 70J0 for independence, out got no
answer. at the end of 1944, HAYASHI, highest adviser to
the military sovernment, vent to Tokyo with the consent
of the Commanderrii—uhief in Java uO persuade Japan tO
* support puppet independence.

'he Academy for LOE suilding of the otate was
 -apted on April 27 194%, to influence the minds of

re leaders and TO imbue them with Co-rrosperity

1

-
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Ir, the meantime Java headquarters pressed
higher authorities for a speedy solution. on aApril 30,
1945, a ccnference took place at SingapoTe, attended by
Chiefs of General Lffairs Departments of all areas under
the 7th Army in Java and Sumatra and commanded by
ITAGAKI. At this conference the leader of Java explained
how far the Indonesians had been awakened and pointed out
that they could not regain their cor fidence except by
carrying out the promise of independaence.

On May 15, 1949, Marsha.l ILRaUCHI's Headquarters
requested v1ews of local headquarters on independence.
Jzva responded with a proposal declaring * all of the NEl

-

independent within a year. Singapore dodged the issue.

On May 20, 1945, at The instigation of ILAGAKT,
a meeting was called of all Chiefs of Stafl at Singapore,
in which they recognized that war was turning against
Japan. 1t a1lowed Java to convene a committee for the
study of preparations lor independence. Tnis was installed
on May 28, 1940, and took a solemn oath of loyalty to live
and die with Japan.

* The naval territories were not represented at
the conference, and the measures discussed related only
to the army. narrowed down to Juva. oumatra laggea behind.
This new commitlee consisted of 60 members, including four
Chinese, one Indo-Arab and cne purasian. & Japanese Was
deputy chairman, and there were sevell other Japanese
members. Ihe Committee had an Administrative sureau with
a Japanese Depuly Chief. The Ordinance founding this
committee reguired 1ts findings to Dbe reported tO the
head of the lilitary idministration, anad later a new
Committee for the Preparation ci Independence would De
formed. The present Committee was to confine itself %0
study and could not make any decision. The Committee metb
twice, from May 29 to June 5> gnd from July 10 to 16,
1945, in closed session. * LU qrafted a constitution
resembling that of the Philippines.

fhere was much disappointment when 1T was
arned that the Committe could not make decisions

had to restrict 1 gelf to Java.

le
an

on July 17, 1945, the supreme dar sirection
Council decided 1O grant independence to the past Indies
as soon as possible. This decision reached Java on July

1945, and according toO directives the territory was
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to comprise all of the NEI. while a Committee for the
Preparation of Independence was to be set up in the
near future.

Emphasis was laid on the need to safeguard
requirements for military operations. The Headguarters
of the Southern Army at Saigon was orderead to work out
the details. From July 30, 1945, a' 1TAGAKL's Head-
quarters * in Singapore, a conference was held of the
heads cf General Affsirs Departments of the Military
Administration of the regions concerned, and a scheme
was drawn up for guliding preparations for independence,
with the day set for the spring of 1946.

In the Fifth Phase, in the beginning of August
1945, TERAUCHI received orders from Iokyo to hasten
preparations for the new state and to create it in
September, 1945. In pursuance of this order, on August
7, 1945, TERAUCHI set up the Committee for the Prepara-
tion of Independence. This was done by a proclamation
of that date, which stated that based on the proclamation
of Japan, September 7, 1944, the Southern iArmy had been
taking measures * to guide the Indonesians. Due to the
awakening of the people, the Indonesians have so far
succeeded in training for government and for the defense
of the country with burning enthusiasm. In response to
the efforts of the people, the Southern Army approves
installing about the middle of august a Committee for the
oreparation for independence for Indonesia which is to
accelerate all measures for final preparations for an
independent government.

On the same day, the Commznder-in-Chief of
Java issuved a proclamation in which he stated that Japan
has promised to zrant Last India independence in accaord-
ance with Japan's bzasic principles. The mast Indians *
I ave worked hard so that their lndependence could be
built fully and speedily. As an independent nation, she
will now join and take her place in the battle-line for
the common defense of Greater Last asia.

The Chief Military Government stated that
independence is based on humanitarian principles for
contributinz to form a new world order. <The new nation
musl have sufi'icient strength, and its administrative
machinery * must be organized speedily and smoothly.

The first duty is to bring the war to a successful con-

¢ 1sion, and the Indonesian nation must develon its
war potential %o

its fullest extent.
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There was then a few days of silence while
Japanese propaganda continued to elaborate upon the
common ties of destiny between Japan and Indonesia.
On August 9, 1945, three leading nationalists, including
Sukarno, were flown to TERAUCHI's Headquarters at Saigon
and received by him on the 1lth. He stated that they
were supposed to have been sent to fokyo to receive the
Imperial Decree directly, out because of difficulties and
dangers of communications and time he had been instructed
to transmit the contents of the Decree to them on behalf
of Japan. The Decree statea that Japan had been pleased
* to set up a comnittee for the preparation of independence.
The new state was to include the entire NEI.

The day of independence was UO be determined by
Japan at its discretion as soon as preparations were
completed, and the government would be installed first
in the place where preparations had been first completed;
and would then be extended to include other areas as
preparations were completed. All Japanese demands
militarily were to be complied with.

Sukarno was appointed chairman of a committee,
with 13 members from Java, three irom Sumztra, and five
from naval occupied territories. The members weTre
appcinted on nomination by local Japanese military
commanders. On August 14, 1945, Sukarno returned and
was selected as the new leader of Indonesia by the Com-
mander-in-Chief and many of the military and Indonesian
» guthorities. Meanwhile the Committee members from
Sumatra, Borneo, the Celebes, and Bali, were flown to
Java after having received their instructions from the
area military or naval authorities.

The first meeting of the Committee was fixed for
August 19. On August 15 they were informed secretly of
Japan's capitulation.

During the night of August 16 to 17, the
Committee, with ot,ers, met at the residence of the
Japanese Naval Liaison Officer, and it was decided to
proclaim independence the next morning. The constitution
drafted by the Committee for study was hastily altered,
and the following morning independence was broadcast DY
Sukarno through the Japanese radilo.

P _,...i.'..:&.!%




NARRATIVE SUMMARY OF THE RECORD Page 1934
(December 6, 1G46)
(Netherlands - DeWEERD-Direct)

Page

12243

* The people of Java, except for rumor, still 1
did not know of Japan's capitulation. On instructions i
from the Commander-in-Chief, the Japanese Propaganda 4

Service kept Japan's defeat secret, and the newspapers
and local broadcasting stations, between August 17 and
21 made no announcement of anything but that of indep-
endence and the proclamation of the constitution.

On August 21, 1945, along with the text of the
Emperor's broadcast of August 14 on the surrender, there
was published a proclamation which stated that Japan will
always be a friend of Indonesia, immutably and forever.
Japan will never forget her oath.

Until August 21, the defeat had been kept secret;
the period has been called the "stolen week".
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CR(SS=EXARINATICN BY MR, LOGAN, CCUNCIL FOR KIDO

* The witness states hils report was based on
investigations in NEl and he was not familiar with similar
measures taken during the cccupation in other ccuntries.
When asked whether the procedure was not proper for an
army of occupation, the witness stated that not only were
preminent sections of the Western Section interned, but
all white people * were interned, which he thought un-
usual. 1t was obvicus the deliberate intenticn on the
part of the Jaranese to eradicate l'estern influences.,

In no document ¢id he find any indication of anything
that the internment was solely a security measure,

* He stated that the population of the NEI was
70 million. Before the war this included 250,000
Occidentals, the majority of whom were born in the islands
* and the majcrity lived in Java. About 100,000 people,
including military personnel were interned with slightly
more than 100,000 left uninterned. 1t is rerfectly
correct to say that by the end of 1943 all Occidentsels
nct bern in the NEI had been interned with few excertions,
* In the 10C,000 uninterned they were cealing with Occi-
dentals not born in the Indies. When he stated the Ccci-
dental population he included both those born in the islands
as well as those born outside. There are between 50 to
100 thoussnd full blooded Dutch in the islands and approx-

imately 150,000 “urasians.,

* The witness stated that all bank balances
were frczen.

* The witness stated that on a few occcasions
there had been a few attempts to get in touch with the
Dutch Government by transmitters in wireless receiving sets,
The cases he knew of were transmitters that had been used
to ccntaet the Netherlands Government in 1943, while re-
ceiving sets had been sealed as far back as April 1942,

* One of the first categories of books to be
burned was one which contained anti-Japanese sentiments.

WWhen asked whether the existing ccuncils were
ant’-Japanese he stated he cculd not give a direct answer.
Le could only say that they were made up of representatives
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of all communities of Java and the Indies and it 1s
possible or probable that the ¢ :re some who had anti-
Japanese sentiments, There were no restrictions on
the grounds of racial descent, soO all Javanese could be
representatives on these councilse

1t js correct to say that lew courts were
abol ;hed and the new system had been set up by Jaran,
and these new courts administered eriminal * and civil
law in the Netherlands East Indies.

vhen the Japanese forces entered Java there had
veen some robbery b gang:s. However, he did not see what
advantage came abcut from instituting the new courts. At
the beginning it may have been desired to prohibit
gatherings and associatlons, but when he uses the term
associations he means the gathering together of people,
*+ but does not include the prohibiticn of the association.

The witness stated he understcod English.

i rior tc the war public broadcasis were handled
by NIROii, a private concern bound by government regulations.
Since the NEI was at war with Jaran there were some anti-
Japanese brcadcasts made after the outbreak of the war and
before the cccupation. This is true as to newspapers. As
to films, the industry in Java was backward and he did
not know of any pictures having been made which expressed
anti-Japanese sentiment. The radio and newspagpers were
not used for anti=Japanism for two months after the cccupa-
tion. Newspepers, films * and radio came immediately under
Ja) anese control and from what he had seen from tie parers
and heard over the radio there was ncthing which could
give offense to the Jaranese and lead to restrictive

measuresSe.

He did not know the correct figures about literacy
in the NEI, but it wes approximately 10 percent and refers
to all the people. The schools were closed on the day of
the occupation. Indonesian primary schcols were reopened
on April 29 with a provisicnal curricvlum. That 1is, the
schools opened which were not used for billets or other-
wise cccupied by the Jaranese forces., Not until August
1694 did all lndonesian primary schools reopen with the new
curriculum. Such subjects as general history were drorped
and other subjects of a non-political nature were maintained
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but suffered from the intrcduction of the Japanese
language, dances and music. As a subject, history was
entirely reorganized, reformed and it was not merely a
guestion of eradicating cccasional anti-Japanese sentl-
ments, the whcle subject was reformed * and an entirely
new history was introduced, giving a Japanese view. Be-
fore the war both Dutch and genera’ world history were
tzu-ht and there was no particular prejudice in the
tezching.

Wthen he said in his statement that the basic
rrinciples for administration wers substantially the
came he meant that the administration in the islands out-
side of Java, as well as Java, were all along the same
1ines laid down in Tokyo. The NEl was divided into var-
icus areas, scme under the Navy and scme under the army.
In both areas there was * a military administration carriasd

out by service cofficers.

In Java there were three distinct categories of
of ficials, regular army officers of whom the military
sdministrator was one, civilians with miiitsry rank and
civilians without military rank.

In primary schools the teachers were chiefly In-
donesian with only a scattering of Japanese. The same is
true for intermediate schools., Vith respect to higher
institutes, the medical college of Batavia had chlefly
Japanese instructors. * Thils was the only medical college
in the NEI during Jaranese occupation. All the professors
were Japaneseé,

'k
{
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12,268 * The witness stated that the Japanese tried
to restore law and order as quickly as possible after the
occupation was completed. The Dutch Government personnel
12,269 was interned * and was in no position to carry on the
administration. It is correct to say that the Japanese
introduced their own laws and susyended the Dutch laws.,
He, however, did not know of any Duteh Acts which required
such suspensions. The new law courus served a dual pur-
pose. They tried criminal cases and heard civil cases.
12,270 So far as civil cases were concerned * every inhabitant
. in Java could bring suit in those law courts.

when asked about the control of industry by the
putch prior to the occupation, the witness stated that
they had to distinpuish between two different categories.
There were first state cperated enterprises; and second,
private concerns. The state enterprises were controlled
by government bodies bound by certain regulations laid
down by representative councils., The second category was
largely in Western hands, but Indonesian end Chinese capital
played a big part. The private concerns were subject to

12,271 government laws * laid down by representative bodies.

The Japanese used the transportation system to
transport soldiers, material and supplies. Law and order
were restored by the Jajanese.

. 12,272 * He could not state what the secret ordinances
referred to in his statement were because at the time he
1ect Java the scanning of the gazette had not progressed
to a point where results could be ascertained.

The information that the form of government was to
be similar to Formosa and Korea was gleaned from Jajanese
suthorities who expressed th@mselves in this manner and
whose utterances were published. He had with him trans-
criptions made from newspapers at that time and could look
up the speeches concerned. The only dccuments he had seen

12,273 that refer to tne matter are documents introduced and
presented to “he Court.

The witness stated that in 1938, 17,000 Occil-
dentals were in zovernment service, including those who
were born in the islands. He, therefore, found it impossible
to say what the proportions were of leading and non-lead-
ing government officials interned. He could not agree with
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the statement that those who were not government officials
held key positions in leading commercial enterprises., He
did not know of those interned if there was any potential
SPy or sab teur. * The women ang children interned were
families of the males. The Japanese Occasionally stated
they were interned for their own safety, but there was no
reason to believe that they were in any way threatened by
the native population. He would have to assume that the
Japanese safeguarded these women and children against the
potential threat from the Japanese, * Before the Japanese
invasion the wcmen and children were in no danger at all,

With respect to the courts, the higher courts
vere «T first staffeqd by Japanese and the lower courts re-
mained staffed by Indonesians. Irior to the occupation
there were lndonesian Judges in both the higher and lower
courts, The peoples councll, prior to the occupation, con-
sisted of 61 members, The president was of Dutch extrac-
tion, but there were three deputy chairmen, of whom two
were Indonesian, #* The remaini:r was made up of 30 In-
donesians, 25 Dutch, and 5 Chinese or other Asiatics, He
was not certain of the proportion between electeq and
appcinted Indonesians, but belleves two-thirds vere elected
and the rest were appointed. The remaining one~third was
arpointed by the NE] government in which Indonesians were
represented as well zs the Dutch, The Dutch did not have
the final word in these meetings.

It is correct to say that under the Japanese more
minor officials were Indonesian than under the Duteh rule,
but the statement has to be qualified. The Japanese
abolished the system of municipalities such as had been in
force so far, =» Before the occupation there was a division
of administrative pewers. Dutch communities were organized
along Dutch lines, but the Indonesians lived in their own
native organized villages,

It would be correct to say that the Japanese
abclished this ang introduced a uniform system of adminis-
tration for 213 villages or towns, In the main cities and
Principal tcwns the Japanese ajypointed Japanese chiefs,
while in the smaller villages and tcwns Indonesian chiefs
weére appointed., These were Indonesians who hagd been chiefs
of their own organizations. Prior to the occupation there
had been political parties which aimed at Fotential indepen-
dence
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It is not correct to say that under the Dutch

-

rule reference to inderen "<i.a. aw TZEGQTIET #2 Er  eon
Each member of the ccunecil had the right to speak on any
subject in any way ena could not be punished, There were
sever:l political parties whieh had as their Frogram
eventual independence. He hag never heard that the word
"merdeka," which means independence was banned by the

Dutch., 1

* From the beginning of the occuration onward
the Jaranese tried to lay up stocks of food stuffs., So
far as he had been able to trace, their object was to supply
their own troops in Java and then to supply their troops
elsewhere. Finally, these stocks were necessary to
suprly Java itself. Eince prewar Java had been just about
able to support herself it would not have been necessary
to step up production if it were not for new conditions
of a dual nature, » First, there was the occupation army
of about 5C,000, augmented by demands in connection with
the necessary supply of troops elsewhere. The other factor
Was under Japanese management food production showed a
tendency to decrease,

After the Jaranese in the beginning had apclished
all schools where fishery andg seamanship were taught they
reopened them, Before the occupation the ccnstruction of
wcoden ships was of no great importance., After cccupation
the use of wcoden ships was important tc Jaran for trans-
portation * and +the Jajancse opened up wcoden shipbuilding
yards and schcols,

* The witness stated that he has seen more docu-
ments with respect to orders lssued thrcugh the Kinistry of
War than have been introduced to the Court, but all the im-
portant ones have been introduced into evidence,

The witness stated thst &8s a matter of ‘“act he had
not witnessed the atrocities to 1 200 Indonesians * but hzd
learned of them from hundreds of rerorts from news items
carried by the .apunese local parer znd fron eye wltnesses,
He had never seen any denial or contradictions, but he had
seen confessicns by the Jepanese chiefly resrconsible for
them.

The witness stated that during the rericd starting
at the end cf August 1945 and for several mcnths therezfter

B L T SR TR - g R S e L
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wvhen there ere insufficient /llied trcops available

to maintain law and order in Java and elsewhere the
maintenance of law and crder under the terms cf surrender
vere given to the Jaranese,

* ''hen asked how he knew that the members cf the
ccmmittee for preparation for independence received in-
structicns from the militzry or naval authorities, he
stated he had seen one diary written by a member of the
committee, a delegate from Sumatra stating that he had
reprorted at Fort de Kock in Sumatra and received instruc-
tions from the Japanese chief civil administration and
he had seen a similar passage in a diary written by the
delegate for the Celebes. The instructicns were not quoted
in the dlaries,

* (On August 15, 1945, the head of the General
Affairs Department informed committee members of Jaran's
surrender, but they were not rermitted tc further brcad-
cast this infcrmation. 1In Java the news of surrender was
not broadcast before the 21st of August. The receivers
had been sealed and could nct be used to receive brcad-
casts from abroad. Sfome pecple did use thelr radios
surreptitiously, but since the Kempel searched very care-
fully for various receiving sets it was very dangerous
* to broadcast any news and to talk about it, As a re-
sult all sorts of rumors went into circulation but noboedy
trusted the source of information.

* The witness stated that he had never read thzat
the brcadcast from Tokyc as to the surrender was not re-
ceived properly by Japsnese military authorities in Java.

It is true that the Bemoeda, on the morning of August 16,.
kidnapped Sukarna and Hatta to have them immediately declare
independence, * but this organization was entirely under
Japanese control. According to what Sukarna stated he

‘agreed to take immediate steps to ceclare independence, In

reports thal o had read Sukarna and his followers were
brought to Admiral MA_LA's by the Bemoceda.

* He had stated in his statement that Sukarna
conferred with General NISHIMURA, acccrding to an interroga-
tion of General YAMAMOTO., * NISHIMURA had stated to
Sukarna that he could not declare independence, because he
did not know whether or not the Japanese had actually sur-
rendered and since they were military they would have to
h~ve new orders before they could ccuntenance a declaration

- il A-J-_.ﬁ-uﬂ
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of independence, The exact number of pecple gathered befcre
LALDA, the witness did not know, but he did know that the
Benoceda collected ali members i the committee for the
preparation of independence at MAEDA's house. The next
morning on the 17th they decided to proclaim independence
and did sc over the cfficial Jerancse broadcasting system.

* The witness stated that the Governor-General
on Lecember 8, 1941 announced over the radio that the
Nethsrlands Government at London had anncunced that a state
of war existed between Japsn and the Netherlands in the lifl.

CROSS-EXAAMINATICN BY MK, BLEWETT,
Council for TCJO

* \/her asked where he c¢btained his information
that the first head of the Record (ffice was the then
Private Secretary of TCJ0, he stated he fcund mention of
this iIn the Chahaya, a Jaranese managed Malay newsparer,
published in Bandoeng. aAn article of Cctcber 1%, 1943,
stated the chief of the ileccrd Cffice of the Central Ad-
viscry Ccuncil gave an interview and stated that he was
at one time private secretary tc TCJO. As s elled the
name was ULABA and not VATABE. He had not * thcught this
detail important enough tc check it, but assumed the
Japanese propaganda service had sufficient knowledge of
these facts and details. t/hen asked whether he had in-
vestigated to see whether T(JO ever had a privete secretary,
he stated he had restricted himself to events and develcp-
ments in Java,

CRCSS-EXANINATICN BY LR, LEVIN,
Council for SUZUKI

The witness stated that he had been mobilized on
December 12, 1241. * The army in Java was mcbilizes on
the 8th of December 1941, while the army in the outer islands
was called up a few days later, Nc¢ general meobilization had
taken place before December 8, Before that date there was
in existence a skeleton of the regular army, a mere nucleus.
It was all active service. The reserve and militia had teo
be called up.

* The Malay newsparers bkrought intc the camp cone-
*ained nothing but Jarasnese propagsnda. The publishers were
vithout exception the Ja:anese prop: ganda service,
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NARIATIVE SUNMMARY CF THE RECCRD Page 1943
(December ©, 1946)
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* Jis statement that Japan's pclicy 1in regard
tc the Scuthern Reglun was broadly laid down in Tokyc 1s
based on the Imperial Conference which took place cn
November 12, 1941 and introduced intc Court. 1t is also
based on varicus reports and interrogations of Japanese
authorities whe had served in Java or other parts of the

NE1 .

* The witness stated that there were a great
number of internment camps all over Java in varicus places
and he found it impossible to say where the special so-
called workers camps were 1ocated. He visited tnese
camps cnly after Se tember 10, 1945, His statement that
the contact with the outside world was restricted as
much as possible 1is based on hundreds of camp and individual

rerorts.

# 1ith respect to Red Cross supplies, he could
only tell of hils own experience and he received Recd Cross
packages twice. Cne at the end of 1944. According to
the address on these packages, they had been sent at the
end of 1942 on board the cso-called BExchange Ships. These
packages had to be divided up--one smong <4 men, The
ceccnd was received in Nay 1940 and was divided among 2%
He did not know how many packages were sent, but there were
a great many more in Jaranese guarded warehouses than were
distributed. He based this statement on what was told to
him by fellow prisoners who looked in these warehouse€Se.

* Then asked how he knew the Chinese who were
jnterned were supporters of Chiang Kai-shek, he stated that
the internment of important Chinese wei.t = ..rding to 2
regular program, - 1ist of pecple who had contributed be-
fore the occupation to a fund to aid Chiang Kai- hek. They
were simply arrested and interned withcut legal proceedings.
He stated the Japanese requlsitionea whatever took thelr
fancy generally without any payment of compensation, This
statement is based upon hundreds of affidavits and similar
documents, * It can be stated as a general rule that no
payment was made at all and that in very lew casesS vhere
compensation wes made it was a matter of surprises. Gener-
ally no paper showing indebtedness was issued, but i . did
haypen in a few casesS.

Conditions were rather upset in 1942, butl in his
opinion it would have been better tc send the children to
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Meetings were limited to varicus groups, such as
sports, scientific, cultural groups, ete, Crganizations,
€spcelally those Concerned with politics, were not permitteq
tc meet, Before the CCCupation it wag usual to get per-
mission from the pPolice to holg certain meetings, So fap
as he .knew the rrohibiticn of POCssession of money was
effective for all persons and he did not know that this
measure w-g taken to Prevent military men and others 'rom
cbtaining Dutch money from the Duteh by 1174eit means,

* Until the Prohibition was laid down, Duteh money was
used to pay taxes, but in 1944 taxes had to be raid in milj-
tary seript,

The witnecgs stated that the 'elationship between
the Tekisan Kanribu ang the Hudoosan Kanrikoodan was such
that the Tekisan Kanripy handled the administration of
cnemy property while the Hudoosan Kanrikoodan administerea
the rroperty taxes. Tekisan Kanriby administration began
only in 1944, » cources on this matter are rather con-
fused. The g Ordinances mention property exercised s
the army y “hile th- worg "administration" ‘‘@as only given
and used in lagter ordinances, It is only Pertially correct
to say that Private estates were aprropriateq, because the
Ereprietors or these estates were absent. The ma jority of
these estates belonged to Chinese who were never interned
and whose POssesslon was not vacant,

* The witness stated he hag never attended 2
court martial orf the Jaranese but he hag ¢btained his in-
formation by statements from witnesses., He had reaq g
number of translations of verdicts . It never arpean:d from

these translaticns whether a correct interpret.+ - . had been

The Keiboodan Consisted orf Indonesians oniy with
Jarznese instructors. * Then askeqd what he meant thet there
Wzs "the same picture of Obligatory merbershir, unilateral
binding regulations," on Page 25 of his statement, the wWitness

T P
g 3




Nu.;nTIVS
(Cecember

SUMKAKY (F TH.: RECCRD Fage 1945

el

9, 1946)

(de Weerd--Cross)

Fage

12,309

12,310

12,311

12,313

12,316

reviewed the varicus provisions of the ordinance with
respect to the medical °rganizaticn and saig there were
Similar regulations tc be found in ordinances establish-
ing econcmic corporations.,

the Futera except that it was Japanese controlled, * the
wWitness stated that the organizaticn was set up entirely
1

The witness stated that he had never said that al3]
surasians and aljl Persocns of Cccidental extraction were
* taken cut of technical ang administrative functions,

The promises to the Chinese of sending remittances
to families in Jupanese cceupied China were not kert,
The Kakycvo Scokai ¥ac established and its services vere
enlisted to list these Chinese whe wanted tc¢ make remit-
tances. Aprlicaticns streamed in, but nothing was ever
heard about them, It is PCssible that a few remittances
woere made but the majcrity of the arplicaticns were not

handled,

* He could only repeat what he found in reports
on the matter ang in a few cases remittances hag been
sent, but in most Cases they had not been sent,

CRC&&-EAARINhTZCN BY KR, BR{ CKS ,
Council for OKAWA

* The witness stated that he had no knowledge
of what was known tc the Letherlands guthorities of Jaran-
ese plans prior to the cutbreak of war,

Y The witness stated that his statement that

Japan's policy was brecadly laid down in Tokyo is bdased on
Exhibit £77, the liaison ccnference of Ncvember 20, 1941,
in which it is stated that al} important metters concerning
local government would be decidegd by consultation between
military and civilian authorities on the spot. * He
learned about this document since he arrived in Tckyo, All
reports drawn by Japznese authorities on the spot mention
the faet that they acted on instructicns from Tokyo.,

The first measures mention the dissolution of the

-
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The abolition of courts of laws and the intro-
duction of new courts * was permanent and not temporary,
as viere the abolition and ban on all organizations except
those concerned with sports., iclice of the few remain-
ing orgenizaeticns was also permanent., * The original
B tan cn mectings and asscciations was medified
in tiic case of sports. All existing corganizations were
substituted with Japanese cnes, * 1t is correct to say
that Japsnese policy in the case of rermanent changes
vas to replece Dutch control with Javanese control, The
key pecsitions were taken over by Japanese and this applies
to key pesitions formerly held by Indonesians,

* Vhen asked after the capitulation of Japan
ncw the people were treated who acted in viclation of the
rules of land warfare, the witness stated that in Bekasi,
& ritish plane, carrying Indizn soldiers made a crash
Landing in November 1945, * the ropulation was scared and
hassacred the Indlan soldiers just as they had been in-
structed to sct by the Jarznese,

CROSS-EXAMINAT

1CN BY Nk, CUNNINGHAN,
Coinell fo

r OSH]ILA

The witness stated that he was an officer in the
reserve of the Royal KNetherlands 1ndian Army, * lie has
nct yet been demobilized ané has been assigned to the
Attorney General's office temporarily., He considers him-
sell’ tc be a representative of the Attorney General's
Office, Batavia for investigations * in Tokyo. He has no
other status but that of official representative of the
Attorney Genersl of Batavia., He had not testified in any
other trial and his testimony has not bteen used in any
other trials involving Jepanese defendants. He has not
made any report which has been used in any other trial.
His report has not been officially approved by the officisle
of the Dutch East Indies., * 1In making his report he has
tried to be as objective as possible and bring out only
important things,

-
.

He was In the NEI when the liberating troops of
pritain and Holland arrived, * He had made no estimate of
the number of casuzlties resulting from Jepanese occupation.
* "o Jar as the wiiness knew Java was cccupled by a forcee
O0. apprcximately 0,000 men. There were about 45,000 in
~umaira and the number in navy occuplied territories is not
K tc him. The whole of the entire KEI territory was

S o e
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occupied except for a small part of New Guinea and probably
the whole of the NEI ceme under the cccupation of Japan,
* The Japanese commandsrs in the NEI surrendered to Lord

Mountbatten.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR . OKUYAMA ,
Council for NAGANO

The witness stated that he practiced law until
De~ember 12, 1941 and had practiced law for about ten years.,
* Most of the time he was primarily concerned with civil
ceses, but did take up some criminal ones,

Altogether he was in eight different internment
camps. The last place was Bandoeng. The nlace where he
collected data and  T.ried it was Tjimahi about seventeen
kilometers from Bandoeng, At the beginning of his intern-
ment he was an interpreter of the Malay papers,

10, 1946)

* Quite a few persons were concerned in drawing
up the material with the witness, There was a nucleus of
four pecple working with him, among them were those who
could read Japanese newspapers., His helpers had normal jobs
in the camp working at that time in the vegetable gardens.,

* The solder and cther utensils to hide the stuff came

from the work shops. None of hls accomplices worked in the
factories. His statement is based on materials found in

the official gazette * and has been added to by other news-
parer material. The material collected while in the intern-
ment camp has been used as additional evidence. The evidence
which he collected in the POW camps has not been presented

to the Court as such, because it would have been too much.

The witness stated he does not belong * to the
IPS. Most of the documents he saw since coming to Tokyo were
in the possession of the IFS.

* The witness stated the Jurisdiction of areas
occupied by the Navy was regulated by an ordinance of
November 1843, setting up the final establishrent. Before
that there had been a provisional system. . side from this, a
JudiZial system was otherwise similar to that in Java under
a different name,
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“ith respect to the werds
Decree dir .+ I'rom the Jay ar
stated the ‘'words were taken
between TERAUCIH1 ang
interpreter wh

"to receive
1€se governmentn

* Pha witness Stated tha
with the staff of the First Divics

. "Ll Army and the
only thing he nad to do with Preparatic

araticn c¢f military plans
before lecember 1941 was that he was Connected with the
preparaticn of defensive brepar: tions in ./
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(Dec  »r 10, 1946)
(B: ¢ 3 offenses--Philippinas)
N 12,348-12,376--Cpaning statement by Mr. Lopez.
12,378 *  @wxhibit No. 1355, affidavit of Alva C.

carpenter, Chief of legal Section, SCAP, certifying
as to 317 reports on atrociti es committed in the Phil-
ippines was offered and received in evidence.

i

12,381 * ®xhibit Mo. 1356, a ma, of the Philippines,

showinz by dots the places where atrocities occurred was
of fared and recei ved in evidence.

. wxhi bit Mo. 1357, a radi ogram from the War De-

12,382 partment, Washingion, Tuly 9. 1946, * showed that the
numbher of T.S. Army, {neluding Filipinos, murdered was
2253, recipnients of oruelty and torture 1646, starved

12,383 and neclected 35,092, % other scsaults and mistreatments
267. As to American civilians, murdered 317, cruelty and
torture 25, starvation and neglect 244, other assaults
and mistreatments O. Filipino civil ians, murdered 89,818,
cruelty 1258, starvation 7, other assaulis and mistreat-
ments 101,

wehioit Ne. 1358, a chart of the War Department,
U.S., on war crimes death v ietins of U.S. and Filipino
12,384 armed forces and civil lans * showed the total U.S. armed
forces victims killed 23,039, #ilipino armed forces 27,258,
7.9, civilian victims 595, Filipino civi lian victims 91,184,
. a grand total of 142,076

#xhi bit Mo. 1359, JAG Report No. 11, on atroci-
ties committed at HeadGuarters of the Philippine Red Cross
12,386 in MYanila in February 1945, «tnted * about six ofclock in
the evening when 70 persons; including patients, staff
. members and refugees were in the building, shots were
12,387 heard at the back gate, and a woman came in screaming *
that her child had been shot. Four Jspanese marines, in-
cluding en officer, came in and began to fire a revolver
at the children. Hveryone lay £ 1lat on the flcor except
one child who was shot. Thr ouzh an interpreter the Jap-
anese were advissd that they were in a Red Cross building.
This did not stop them. Dr. Venec'a was shot and killed,
12,388 and a volunteeT attendant ¥ was vayonetted when she at-
tempted to protect him, as were & nther patients. This
same rzrine went through other partis of the building,
k‘iiing and bayonetting the victims. Patrocinio Abad ,
& movie actress and refugee at the neadquarters, was

L ————————————————————————
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NARRATIVT® SUMMAKY OF TEW® RWCCRD Fage 1750
(December 10, 1946)
(B and ¢ COffenses--Philippines)

12,389 shot and btaycnetted * 9 times and her child killed.
The carnage lasted for 20 to 30 minutes, after which
the Japanese left. The bullding was burned on Febru-
ary 13 with the bodies sti1l in it. Records, fi les
and safes were destroyed before they could be examined.
The number killed was variocusly es imated from 20 to

50,
DIRECT EXAMINATION OF WANDA O. WERFF
BY MR. 1OPEZ
.12,392 * The witness stated that she was 25 years

oI age and worked for HeadQuarters PACUSA as e secre-
12,393 tary. * When the war broke ouit in the Philippines she
was workling for the War Department at Fort Santiago,
Manila 6 as a secretary. At present she is secretary
12,394 to the Judge Advocate of PACUSA * in Tokyc. When the
Japanese first entered Manila on January 2, 1942 she
was at her home in Menila. She was arrested on Januery
3, 1942 by the Japanese and put in Sento Tomes Intern-
ment Camp where she remained until December 10, 1944.
From December 10 until liberated she was interned at
los Banos Internment Camp. O©On December 10, 1944 150
internees at Santo Tomas were ordersd by the Japane se
to get ready to go to los Banos. At 2 o'clock in the
morning the 150 were gathe red, counted and put on
12,395 trucks * and teken to the station where the roll was
called. They were told by Japanese guards to load
into a steel windowless box car. The group consisted
of 120 persons over 50 and 30 under 30. They all went
into the box car with 7 or 8 zuards., Most were s tanding,
with a few older ones =i tting down, The train left at
2 o'clock and arrived at Los Banos at 11 o'clock in
the morning. Some of the older people had passed out
from suffocation. When they sot of f at the station
they were made to line up on the rocad, exhausted and
weakened., They stood at attention under the hot sun
until 4 o'clock, when they were then marched to a
place two miles south, arriving at 8 o'elock. Only
half of the group arrived, the rest having fellen out.
12,396 Some of those who fell out were never seen again, *
When they arrived the re wes no foced prepared and they
did not eat until the next morning when they got the
usu=- rice, corn and water.
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“here had been orizinally 1950 internees ang
the new Sreup increased it to 2025. 1In the camp living
conditions were poor with 96 to one barrack. The water
Supply was POOT, they often going 4 or 5 days without it.
The latrines Were open type and no disinfectant was is-
Sued. Drinking water was usually too dirty to wash

At that time they egot 200 grams of rice,
corn and water, one mesl 5 d2y. The ares of the camp
is one of the most ferti le regions in the Philippines,
Where she yseg Lo g0 to visit before the war because of
the hot SPrings. Abundant Crops there are corn, coconuts,
rice, Sugar bananas, sweet potatoes, Dangoes and chi cos,
¥ The Prlsoners complained to the Japanese about the
Of food but were told that there Wwas not enough fpod to
feed them ang even the JTapanese did not have enough,
This was not true, because the Tapenese killegd pigs and
chickens for their mea 1s, On one occasion she saw a
truckleoad ofr rice being brought in which the prisoners
never got., The Filipinocs tried to bring food to the
Prisoners frop the ounteins, but were driven away by
Japane se guards. About 20 feet from the fence one could
See thousands af banana trees loaded with bananas, One
8ide of the camp was Surrounded with banana groves and
the other sije with coconut groves. * The mi]k of coco-
nuts is VEry nutritious and would havye been gooqg for the
400 children in the camp. The pri sone rs asked rermission
to pick some or the ssg fruits, bdut 1t was never Branted.,

At one time the Japane se allocated gn area of
land to the Prisoners, The men Plowed, using one man
88 a draft animali, and the wWomen planted corn, lettuce,
cabbage, radisnes. garlic, onions, sinkamas ang Pichay,
When the harvﬁs:fnq S€&ason came the arca was put ofr
limits ang Y 1nternee * caught ne ap the area was
threatenegd With shooting on sight. At that time the
food consisted of ope meal g day of rlice and water.
Added to thie the prisoners ate dogs, cats, cockroachea,
snails, Slugs, ang Some even ate rats and weeds,

The v: tness atated that Feorge lewis was a
Pen-American airways eiployee, 28 years old and g POW.
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(B and ¢ Offenses--Philippinss)

On January 28, 19,5 Tewls was digging for some weeds
in the gutter and he was shot by a guard. Without
any trial on that day he was executed for attempting
12,401 to escape. * When she was liberated she weighed 88
. pounds and when she entered Santo Tomas in January
1942 she weighed 152,

CROSS-TXAMINATION RY R. 30MIYA
12,402
The witness stataed that she did not recall
ever knowing of the Philippines suffering from a severe
. food shortage. The o] imate at los Banos is divided in-
to dry and wet S€asons. To her knowledge there is no
shortage of water there during the dry season. There
are qui te a few waterfalls. She did not remember that
12,403 area ever having a shortage of water. The waterfalls *
do not dry up during the dry season. There was a water
8ystem at camp from the mountains in a bamboo tube.

CROSS~-EXAMINATION RBY MR. BLEWETT,
COUNSEL FOR TOJO '

When she was at Ios Banos the witness stated
Mr. Hikert was chairman of the commi ttee. The commander
of the camp was Major IWANAKA end a sergeant. There
were about 50 gusrds around the pates and the commandant
had about 15 on his staff. The guards wore military
clothes. She did not understand Japanese Army military
. rank but the men hag stripes on thejir sleeves and on
12,404 their shoulders. * ghe gathered that they belonged
to the army. S'e could not tell whether the guards
weére army, navy or marine, but the command ant was army .
At Santo Tomas the highest officer was Geéneral HOMMA.
The witness stated she had saig nothing about Santo

Exhibit Yo. 1360, JA® Report No. 88, showed
that on February 17, 1945 63 civilians had taken refuge
at the home cor nr, Moreta in Manila. At noon about 20
Japanese marines €ntered and separated the men from
the women. Grenadas were thrown into the rooms whe re
the people were seﬁregated¢ Neany women were bayonetted,
12,406 stabbed or shot. No one witnessed any rape, but the

bodies of Several of the women showed indication of
violation.
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¥xhibit No. 1361, JAC Report No. 70, showed
». 408 * that on Fabruary 9, 1945 from 200 to 700 people were
assembled at the Price residence. While Japanese sen-
tries :ppeared at reguiar intervals, theg did not mo-
12,409 lest the refugees until about 5 o'clock when 30
marines appeared. When they appee~ed many refugees
were both inside and outside the hc1se. The people
E inside were ordered out. Wnen they ~ame to the garage
at tlc rear, the Japane se opened fire with machine
guns . rifles and pistols. The Japanese then adminis-
tered coup de grace to those who made any sound or
. moveusnt. The Japanese, after sn orgy of drinking,
urinated on the dead bodies and permitted a pig to
1 .ck taa blocd off the floor.

J

Exhibit No. 1362, the affidavit of Basilio
Umagap, stated that in February 1945 the Pons re sid ence
was entered and the Japanese shot 10 people including
12,411 & baby. The witness by feigning death * was able to
escape,

Exhibit No. 1363, TAG Report No. 27 on the
12,411 massacre at De Ia Salle College, Manila, stated *
that due to war conditions the college was not in
12,412 active operation and was temporarily used * by the
Japane se as a hospital unti] January 1945, when cer-
tain eminent Filiipinos, 17 lay Christian Brothers,
,x. 7 servants and & refugee priest took residence there,
Shortly thereafter an unidentiried rnumber of Japane se
marines or navy men occupied a portion of the first
floor,

On February 10 the officer instructed the :
soldiers to murder all the peopls and they began
Shooting and bayonetting. Many took refuge in an
improvised air rsid shelter, but were ordered to

12,413, leave * and struck down by guna, lined up and killed.
There was evidence that attempts had been mads to
rape some of th= vietims., On February 13 the Jap-
anese returned end there is evidence that some had
intercourse with =g corpse. That evening the Jap-
anese came back and kicked the bodies to find out ir
they were s5till) alive. Attempts were made to burn
the s uth wing of the building and & Christian Brother,
t~y ing to extincuish the Flames, was seen and killed,
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Exhihit No. 1364, the testimony of Nena
L 15 Alban at the trial of General HOMMA stated * that she
was a nurse in 1241, working as u social worker through
the American and Philippine Red Cross. During July of |
1942 the Japanese Army was cccupying the grounds of
San Beda College. On the first arvernoon she saw 4
12,416 Filipinos beheaded by Japanese solciers. * She later
saw z more and the reafter saw 7 mor: who were made to
knee® scross a hole in the ground and were behe aded.
She .ster saw 10 more beheaded and she saw 4 Filipinos
kilied by Jjudo by being thrown heed first on the con-
. 12,417 ¢ret= pavement., She saw other atrocities. * She saw
Fiiipinos tortured, boxed, kicked, beaten with heavy
worde; sticks. She saw 20 Filipinos tied up and then
tortur2d in many ways, When they screamed or cried
they ware placed under the very hot sun. Another group
of Fiiipinos were placed under the sun and hit in the
stomach and beaten in many ways and when they were
12,418 sleepinz water was thrown on them, * Four Filipinos
were bayonetted rizht near San Beda College.

Filipinos were hung by a chain toc a tree and
were heaten by Japene se soldiers who passed. She saw
at least 8 othsy Filipinos receiving barbarous treat-

12,419 ment. * She saw other groups held in the stock by
the leg, in twe groups. Their hends were also held
in the stock., Tiney were pushed back amngalnst the

" barbed wire fence and were hurned with burning cig-

arettes, and some were burnéd by pieces of flaming
wood put under the ir armpits. Two more FPilipinos
were beaten to 2eath. She saw 9 or mere Filipinos

12,420 bayonetted throuzh the eyes * by Japanese soldiers.
She saw at least 7 Filipinos have their tongues pulled
out by pliers.

Exhibit Mo. 1365, JAG Report No. 66 on the
massacre at the “erman Club in February 1945 in Manila

12,422 stated * that the Jerman Club was managed by a couple
of %erman citizens., On FPebruary 6; 1945 all houses
in this vicinity were sw rounded by Japsre se Naval

12. 523 qround Forces The district was then * being bom-

barded and shelled, From TFebrusry 7 to 10 there were
at least 200 eivil jans wheo took shelter underneath

the " 4«0 in a 4 foot space between ithe concrete floor
c® vhe Club ard the ground. They stayed there until




i
L
»

v

NARF.: -
(De
(r

12,424

12,425

12,426

8 ..

12,428
12,429

12,430

12,432

™ STMMARY OF THE RECORD Fage 1955
ar 1C. 1946) :
~ Offenses--Philippines)

February 1C leeaving only on secret trips for food and
to go to the ‘atrine. About 10 o'clock on February 10
the Japanese surroundsd the Club and forbade anyone to
leave the shelter., Wnilie guarding the victims with

aimed rifles, the Japanese vuilt an inflammable barri-

cade completely surrounding the Ciub and hemming in the

vietims., 0fasoline was poursd cver this and ignited.
As the heat from the flames mounted * many ran out

and tried to leap over the parricade. Most were bay-
onettad and shot., Some women were raped. After they
were raped their halr was fgnited with gasoline, and
ths hreasts of some of them were cut off. The genital
organs of an eye-witness were cut off.

wxhib it No. 1366, testimony of Mariano del
Rogar:o in the trial of VAMASIITA gstated * that he
was city undertaker for the City of Manila during
Pebruary 1945. Fe went to the Campos home after the
fightineg had diminished with Major Binkley, Division
Sanitary Inspector, to remove the dead bodies in the
loecality. He found about 100 bodies in the Campos
yard, He was able to notli ce the type of wounds on
the dead bodies. They found a lady whos e breasts
had been chopped off * and enother whose genit al
organs had been ripped out with a bayonet.

#xhibit No. 1367, testimony of Rosallnda
Andoy in the YAVWASHITA trial, atated that in Febru-
ary of 1945 * sha went to the Manila Cathedral as
ordered by the Japanese and stayed there one day and
was then taken toc the Santa Rosa Church. She was
there with her whole family except her father *
who had been killed by the Japanese at Fort Santiago,
having been taken from the cathedral . They were then
ordered to go to Santo Domingo * where immediately
some grenades were thrown by the Japanese., Her
mother 1 now dsad, having been killed by the Jap-
ancse inside the church at Santo Domingo. The wit-
ness saw her killed,

The witness was wounded with bayonets and
raceived * 38 wounds. She, her mother and a person
by the nsme of Salin were togethe>, The witness'
wounde were in different parts of her body. She had
17 on the left arm, 4 on the right arm * an unknown
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number on her chest, certaln wounds on her abdomen,
As a result of the wounds on her atdomen her intes-
tines ceme out. She had one wound on her back amd 5
wounds on her leg., * That night the witness slept
at Santo Domingo beside the dead body of her mother.
She left Santo Domingo in the morning. When she left
she sew a boy child tossed uv in tha air and caught
with a bayonet. * The baby was aboit 3 months old
and t'e bayonetting was done by a Japanese.

wxhibit No. 1368, JAG Report No. 53 on the
massacre of 200 civilians at St. Paul's College, Man-
ila, February 1945, stated * about 250 people were
placed in the premises and the doors and windows shut
and barred. The three hanging chandel iers were wrapped
{n black-out paper with strings running from inside
outside the transom. Five Japanese brought in some
food and liquor and the people were told that they
could eat and drink when the Japanese left. The
people rushed for the candy and biscuits and in a
moment the re were three explosions, there belng
grenade traps in the chandel iers. The Jepanese began
machine gunning end throwing #renades into the rooms
and corridors. Holes were blown into the walls and
people tried to escape. Many were killed * by machine
gun and rifle fire while trying to escape.

Fxhib it No. 1369, JAG Report No. 63 on the
atrocities in the Campos residence showed that on Feb-
ruary 7, 1945 four Japanese navy men came to the Campos
house and looted the place, taking pesos, jewels,
watches. They then took two of the Campos boys to
the Nippon Club * promising to brine them back, but
they were never Sseen again.

At ahout 4 ofclock on February 12 four Navy
men ordered all occupants of the house to lsave and
go to the garden. The men and women were separated,
searched, and gross indignities were given to the
women. The Japanese took a great deal of money and
valuables and burned the house of one of the inmates.

2xhib 1t No. 1370, JAG Report No. 84, on
the massacre of more than 1000 civil ians at lLippa,
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2 4,38 Tuzon, showsd * that during the latter part of Febru-
ary 1945 the Japanese engaged in a program of murder,
looting and destrucetion in Lippa:. One civilian woman
was bayonetted to death. Two groups of civilians,
each having from 200 to 300 persons, were pushed into
wells where they died by drowning, by crushing, or by
gun fire. A group of over 500 civii ians were bayonet-
ted., Another group of 6C0 were assembled at the
Cathedral and bayonetted. Other bayonettings and
murder took place. In March 1945 the Japanese burned
Iippa and destroyed its utilities, 1incl uding the water

' system,
Exhib it No. 1371, JAG Report No. 117 on

additional massacres at Iippa in March 1945 showed

12,440 that atout 9:00 PM * on March 5, 1945 about 1000
Pilipinos were required to assemble in the Barrio of
Bulihan. Men were separated from women and children
and led to the edze of a ¢cliff where they were blind-
folded, bayonetted to death, and their bodies pushed
into the stream. The women and children were dis posed
of in the same way, the slaughter lasting for 5 hours,

12,441 Five hundred to 600 * corpses were later seen on the
edge of the river.

On the same night 500-600 Filipinos were
assembled in the Barrio of Suloc, two kilometers from
" Bulihan. About 200 of these were released, but the
remainder were taken and bayonetted to death and their
bodies thrown on to the bank of the stream. Nineteen
other males were similarly killed.

Exhib it No. 1372, the affidavit of Apol-

inaria Navarro, stated that in February or March 1945

12,442 * about 500 residents of Suloc with a few men were
taken to a schoolhouse. About 200 people were selected
and placed in dif ferent places. There were 300 people
remaining. The Japanese bayonetted the two children
of the witness, a boy age 10 and a girl age 6. The
witness was baycretted by 5 Japanese in the back.

12,443 Because of the force of the bayonets * she automat-
ically fell to the side of the river on top of many
dead bodies.
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@rhibit No., 1373, JAG Report No. 106 on the
massacre of 194 Pilipino eivilians at Santo Tomas
stated that at 0500 on February 11, 1945 the Japanese
came to Santo Tomas and went from place to place steal-
ing, killing meny inhabitants and burning the dead and
wounded., Three of the victims were subjected to attempt-
ed or actual rape, and 194 resident: were murdered.

12,444 At one home * there were between 65 and 70
people. About 25 were taken to a cemetery. Three of
the men were taken tc a latrine, bayonetted and thrown

. in Another group of 50 were taken from their hiding
place, bayonetted, stabbed, doused with gasoline and
get afire., Another group of 50, after belng shown
the bodies of 20 killed, were stabbed and burned by

‘ 12,445 gascline fire. * In one instance the Japanese were
chattering and laughing while the bed ies turned.

Exhibit No. 1374, JAG Report No. 69 on a
massacre of civilians st Bauan showed that on the
morning of February 28, 1945 Japanese Army men sta-
tioned at BRauan notified all residents of a mass meet-
ing at the Cathclic Church and that all must assemble.
suards were placed on all roads leading from the town.
By 10 o'clock everyone in the village had congregated
at the church, where men and women were separated and
the women taken to the elementary school. The men

. hed to remain in the church, were searched, and their
property taken. They were made tc sit in the pews and

12,447 were counted, there being a total * of 328 men. About

1 o'clock the men were marched in groups of 100 to the
basement of the house of one. The doors were closed.
There was an explosion which either killed or wounded
most in the basemeant. Those not killed by the explo-
si on were shot and hayonetted as they attempted to
escape. A few d1d escape.

*xhib it o. 1375, JA7® Report Mo. 90 on the

12 ,LL8 massscres of civi!!lians in Taal showed * that by 10
o'clock on Pebrusrv 16, 1945 the Japanese had begun
to burn all barrios near Taal. Sixty Fllipinos tried
to take refuge in a ravine. Six or 7 Japanese threw

hand e#renades into the ravine, killing 10 to 15, and
machine gunning tne survivors,
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Exhib it No, 13?6i JAT Report No. 96 on the
massacre st Cuenca sho wed that on PFebruary 16, 19,5
about 175 civil ians ware assembled in one house in the
barrio of Mambug. The Japanese t ook the men out in
groups of 5 and none were seen again. On February 13,
1945 52 civiliens, including 2 wom>n, were put into a
house aml each victim was held by «panese while 3
others bayonetted them, The bodies * were thrown into
a we.l. Only 2 escaped.

On March 11, 1945 90 civilians were taken
from a shelter and imprisoned in g tunnel. On March
19 they viere ordered to come out. As they left they
were hayonetted and shot. Six escaped,

Exhib it No. 1377, JAG Repart No. 101 on the
massaecre of civillians et San Jose stated * that through-
out January, February emd March 1945 the Japane se carried
out a program of burning and killing in the barrios of
San Jose. At least 107 Filipinos were killed; many
vere tlied and bayonetted. Some bodies were mutilated
by cutting of f hands and feet.

Bxhibit No. 1378, JaAG Report No. 74 on the
murders at Iucero stated that early in the morning
* of March 13, 1945 about 15 soldiers came to Rosario
and began shooting snd bayonetting all they could find,
without distinouishine between men, women and chi ldren.
Since the men could run away, most of the victims were
wonen and chilidren.

Exhibit MNo. 1379, Taa Report No. 126 on the
massacres at Tepal showed that in July 19%5 the Jap-
anese surround ed the huts in that town along the beach
and when the Filipinos ran they were machine gunned
and bayonetted.

Exhibit No. 1380, JAG Report No. 197 on
atrocities in Calanang slowed that in February 1945
* the Japanese took people from their homes and bay-
onetted or stabbed them,

Exhibit No. 1381, the testimony of Jose Habana
in the YAMASFTTA trial stated * that he went to the
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Catholiec Church in Calamba on February 12, 1945 where

there were about 2000 people., When the witness was

able to uncover his eyes he saw around 5 feet of bodies,
12,456 Some of whom were st111 alive. * There were about 500

bodies in the room. All 2000 people were civ il1ians

and none of them were armed.

.
-
-

Exhibit No. 1382, JAG Repo.t on the burning
of Nanipil and the murders on Titig Mountain showed
12,457 * that early in the morning of April 15, 1945 6 male
. Fiiipinos and cne woman were captured on the road by
abcut 1000 members of the Ticer Unit under Major SAYTO.
After being questioned on the location of guerrillas,
they were forced to go to Cabali Mountasin with the
Japanese. Early the next moming the Japan ese entered
Nanipil and burned the vil lage and shot some of its

¢ivilians,

After burning Nanipil the Jamnese took the
7 prisoners to Titig Mountain, forced the men to take
Ooff their clothes and made all 7 kneel at the edge of
a preciplce, with their hands tied. Two Japanese
attempted to behead them one bty one, one striking the
vietim with the saber, while the other pushed the de-
12,458 capitated bodies over the cliff. * All were killed
but two. There was no definite mroof that the woman
was killed, but a survivor heard her scream with pain.
. She has not been hard of since.

Bxhib it No. 1383, JA® Report No. 267 on
the exccucion of 21 Filipinos at Barrio Angad showed
12,461 that in November 1944 * a number of Filipinc parolees
were summoned to a meeting where the names of 27 POW's
were recad. These men were grouped and marched to the
garrison where they were guestioned and & released.
The remaining 21 were placed on a truck and teken to
a nearby barrio., later machine gun fire and screams
were heard and flame and smoke seen. Charred bodies
were later seen oy cziviliens.

Exhibit No., 1384, the te stimony of Mariano

12,462 Bayaras in the VAMASFITA trisl stated * that he was
Mayor of Bascc and he had bsen given a 1ist by the
Janr. a8e of persons killed there, There were 74,
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12,463

12,464

12,466
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He had never seen snyone mistreated, but he had seen
those who suf fered from bad treatment. He had seen
them with their hands tied behind, eat ing food without
usine their hand s, Some kad broken hands. Some had
bruised faces and one was missing an eye.

wxhibit Mo. 1385. JAG Re, ort No. 304
* showed that on March 10, 1944 two Ame ricans and
some Filipinos were taken from the Japane se garrison
at Dasupan to Alaminos. The following morning thelr
wedies were seen in a grave, the Americans having been
woheaded and the Filipinos tayenottad.

myhibit Mo. 1386, JAG Report No. 1 showed
that * about 9 o'clock on December 29, 194 a patrol
of ahout 50 entered the barrio of Dapdap. Shor tl1y
after arrivine at the plaza about 400 to 500 people
were ordered to group in femilies and assemble in
the church so that they would be unobserved from a
strafine plane. The people followed instructions.
Some people were taken out. When the church was about
half empty, the remaining becane eapprehensive, Some
saw blood running from a nearby shack and a few saw
the Japanese soldiers cleaning their bloody bayonets.
Others saw that when people were taken out side they
were shackled with ropes. The remalnier were ur ged
by one of the survivors tc fignt and attempt to escape
and he threw a rock at the door guard. Many made &
break for the door and were machine gunned or stabbed
with bayonets. No mercy was sicwn. A VEIy few es-
caped unscathed and found safety in the sea and swamps.

On January 16, 1945 certein American of ficers
* went to Dapdap, made an investigation, and disposed
of the dead bodies. Before arriving they met 3 sur-
vivors with numerous wounds. The foul odor of dead
bodies filled the air. They saw many bodles in a
bad stete of decomposition and dogs and other animals
had eaten away !arze portions of thne bodies. Tvidence
shows that there were many women and children in the
groups. They found similaz conditions elsewhere.
They foun® 100 bodies in the church grounds. * Dogs,
pigs =rnd chickens were eatine the ramains. They
cc ated 230 dead and estimated there were about 500
sodies in the berric. Plctures were taken.
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2xhi bit No. 1387, JA® Report No. 137 stated
* thet 4in the early pert of August 1945 six Japanese
were seen going to a certain home. The Japanese bay-
onetted all 5 occupants and ate the flesh from some
of their victims during the two-day period they stayed
in the house. The, ate the bodie~ of 3 victims. One
other victim was thrown into the r ‘ver and the other
2 vyictims were not touched. Two Ot servers, aftar the
Japanese left * saw some of the fle sh in the kettles
used by the Japenese,

®xhibit No. 1388, affidavit of Isidro Cabusas
stated that about 9 o'clock in the evening of August 19,
194L the witness and others left Cebu and were teken to
cordova. When they arrived there the Japanese soldiers
gathe red all civilians in a cantral school house. The
women were compelled to disrobe completely. * Many of
the men were beat with clubs, baseball bats, and rifle
butts. All money ard veluables were taken. The next
morninz 3 men were beheaded.

®yhib it Mo. 1389, JAG Report No. 253 stated
* that durine Aueust to Novermber 1944 the Japane se
military had & garrison near Bogo. For 4, months civ-
1lJians were beaten, shot, bayonetted and raped. On
October 12, 1944 two women were bavone tted and a third
severely beaten, 2 girls raped, one of them by several
soldiers. One vietim had to live with a Japanese
corporal as his mistress for 3 weeks. On October 17
the soldiers * burned houses and warehouses and on the
same day 25 were btaycnstted to death for sabotage and
suerrilla activities.

®xhib it Yo. 1390, JA? Report No. 180 showed
that in August 1944 the Japanese bayonetted 2 women
and threw a young child into the sea at Duman jug.

wxhibit No. 1391, JAC Report No. 174 showed
* that durins the summer of 1943 20 to 40 Filipino men
were arrested as sples and investigated at Calbeyog.
Two or three weeks later 5 were sxecuted by the commard-
ine officer, who stated that this was by order of his
comm~nd er at Catbalogan.
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Exhibit No. 1392, JAG Report No. 298 showed
that 37 were killed in Pilar in December 1944,

Exhibit No. 1593, JAG Report No. 142 sho wed
that on December 18, 1943 Jepanese officers and enlist-
ed men left Iibacao for Ileoilo City. The next morning ;
they reached Camp Hopevale, which t. sy surroumded and :
entered. Sixteen Americans and 3 ot 2rs were placed
under zuard without food or water. On the afternoon
of December 20, 1943 one American woman was seen kneel-

12 ,475 ing with hand s tied amd asking for mercy. ¥ This was
. refused. An hcur later 8 house was found in flames
with 12 hodies in it, some of the vietims havinzg been
beyone tted and cthers behe aded.

Three weeks later ano ther witness visited
the scene and was able to identify the remains of the
vietims and buried them. On the day of the execut ion
one Filipino saw blood on the trousers of a Japanese
guard and was told that the Americans were now Rone
and the Pilipinos should obey the Japanese. Another
witness saw the smoke from the area and said her rel-
atives had seen the bolies. Some of the remains were

12,476 {dentiried. All of the viectims were members * of the
faculty of the Central Philippine College at Iloilo.

Bxhibit No. 1394, JAG Repart No. 140 stated
® that from time tc time a group under Colonel WATANARE
made punitive expeditions throughout Panay Island. In
Barrio Iungao many Filipino eivilians were que stioned,
killed and their bodlies burned., The whole barrio was
burned. Children were killed.

12,477 * On October 17, 1943 another punitive ex-
pedi tion arrived at Bstesan. All civiliens were inves-
tigated and beaten with clubs and made to walk through

fire. In the morning the Japanese received orders to
prcceed and 140 civilians including 2 priests were be-

12,478 headed by Japenese noldiers. * In Altavas 30 to 40
old people and children, and in Balete 30 men were
killed. A blind woman unatle to flee had her clothes
stripped and was manhand led., Hundreds of people were
killed by the same expedition in Bataan, Altavas, Balete,
Iibecao and other places.
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12,482 * Exhibit 1395, JAG report No. 303, stated that
26 FOVW's were taken at Malaiba, questioned, beaten,
threatened and bayonetted. Only four survived. The other
22 werg identified and buried the following day.

Exhibit 1396, JAG report No. 300, stated that at
Malaiba in February 1944, 35 Filipipnos were questioned,
beaten and taken to a corn field where they were bayonetted.
The following day 14 dead bodies were found with bayonet

wounds,

. 12,483 Exhibit 1397, JAG report No. 263, stated * about
March 1, 1945, Luls Saban and a companion were taken by
60 Japanese to the bank of the Tagburos where theyjoined
approximately 3% Filipino prisoners, among whom were women
and children. These priscners were divided into three
groups. 1n one group of 20 Saban was struck by a saber and
bayonetted. Vhen he regained consciousness the Jajpanese
were gone and all other POW's were dead.

About the same date approximately 100 Japanese
soldiers were seen with apprcximately 70 Filipino civilians,
including women and children, near the Tagburos River., The
victims were all tied and bayonetted to death.

12,484 Exhibit 139¢, JAG report No. 291, stated * that
. in Qctober 1945, the Japanese raided a2 home in Jagna and
wounded the owner and carried away two women. The older
woman escaped but the other was kept until the surrender in
February 1946, During this period she was raped by 19
different Japanese,

12,4E5 Exhibit 1399, JAG report No. 290, stated * about
the middle of June 1942, a young woman was ordered by the
puppet gcvernor tc¢ go to the home of Col., MINI in Tagbilaran.
When she refused they threatened to kill her and burn her
home and forced her into a car and drove her to Col. NINI.
Col. MINI tore off her clothes and threatened her. \/hen
she refused to submit to him, he tied her hands, fastened
the rope to the head of the bed and raped her. The follow=-
ing night she jumped out of the window and succeeded in
excaping toc a nearby island.

Exhibit 1400, affidavit of Jose G. Tupaz, stated

12,4¢6 * in August 1943 at Tigbuan, after an investigation of an
hour, 24 men and three women were all tied with hands behind

their backs and strung cn a piece of rope and pulled to a
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thicket where they were beheaded., A three-month old baby
was thrown into the air by a Japanese and impaled on a
bayonet.

Exhibit 1401, affidavit of Nonito Tubungb:anwa,
stated that at the barrio Salngan the first group of
Japanese soldiers had caught a large number of civilians,
When they left theykilled all civilians and threw their
bodies into the fire burrinz the whole barrio,

'l“.
L

o Exhibit 1402, affidavit of Cayetano Narra,
12,4¢E8 stated * that in September 1943 he saw Filipino civilians
killed by Japanese soldiers., One was ¢chopped in the neck
with a sword and thrown into a house which was later
burned, The cther was crucified on the ground with three
slx-inch n&ils being driven one into each wrist and the
Oother into the base of his skull,

Exhibit 1403, affidavit of Lorenzo Polito, stated
12,489 * that in March 1944 on the second day of the patrol &

Priscners reached Canangay early in the afterncon, A young
woman was caught hiding in the grass.; The officer in charge
tore off her clothes while she was held by two soldiers.
He tcok her to a small hut and the officer in charge cut
her breasts and womb with his saber, She was left lying
in the hut whiech was set afire,

. Exhibit 1:°04, affidavit of Radimoda, stated that
12,490 ¥ one early dawn in August 1942 some Japarese scldiers from

Dansalan City, under the command of four cofficers, raided

the witness's barrio, whieh had s repulation of about

24500, They immediately began bayonetting the reople. They

burned down the whole barrioc. It was only when the houses

were afire that the peorle knew what was happening., 1n the
12,491 . commotion * four Japanese soldiers were killed, The Japanese

kept on firing andg bayonetting until they had cocmpletely

galned contreol .f the barric,

Exhibit 1405, JAG report No., 233, stated that in
~avao Fenal Colony and City Civilian lnternment Camp between
Jetober 1942 and June 1944 there were from 2,000 tc 2 920C
American FOW's and their number gradually decreased due to
deaths, escapes and transfers. On March 4, 1944 over 500
12,492 guerrillas were brought to the penal colon -, * Frisoners
were forced to construct airfields. They were beaten with
fists, rifles and eévery conceivable wearpon., They were
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threatened in different inhuman ways by belng kept in a
kneeling positicn for tnree days, by belng forced to
wneel on rocks and cinders and to carry boards and bricks
+ith the body leaning baekwards. “hey vere ccmpelled to
stand in water cor tea while 1live electric wires were
ajplied to their tedy. They were tied to a barbed-wire
fence ' hile burning bcards were applied to the bcdy or
face. They were used to hit each other. American POW's
were used as bayonet targets. * During bombing raids
FOW's could not seek shelter and they were forced tc work
from ten to fourteen hLours per daye

Exhibit 1406, JAG report No. 1¢6, stated that
in May 1945 at Tugbek they sounted the bodies of £9 people
killed:.

Exhibit 1407, affidavit of Miguel Estimada,
stated * that at Bacaca he saw 34 peocple in all, A Japan=-
ese soldier came 2nd dragged out a 17 year cld girl and
she was held outside the shelter by Japanese soldierse
The soldier came back and pulled ocut snother girl and she
was forced tc go with some Japanese soldiers. The first
Jaranese grabbed the first girl * from the soldiers who
were hclding her and tore off her clothes until she was com-
pletely naked. The other three soldlers grabbed her and
forced her tu the ground, two soldiers hclding her feet
and another her arms. The first soldier had intercourse
with her. The cthers each took their turn. Later the
first soldier carried the girl back intc the air-raid
shelter., * Llater the second girl was brought back and
stated she had been abused and rapedo

Exhibit 1408, JAG report 282, stated that on
Narch 23, 1945. Japanese rounded up civilians at citio
Bitute and confiscated 211 bolos. The prisonelrs were tied
and some were taken to & nearby stream where they were
slashed with sabers, bolos and picks. * (ne vicetim was
bayvonetted and one woman was raped.

. Exhibit 1407, JAG reportl No. 291, stated thatl on
+ Cctober 1, 1944, aboutb SO Japanese soldiers entered the
hospital area at Barrio Umagos and bayonetted two Filipino
guards and one civilian., Twe bedridden patients were
bayonetted to death. Three days later the Jarenese burned
the buildings and about 32 houses and left. The bodies of
the victims were later jdentified and buried.
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Exhibit 1410, JaG report No. 272, stated that
during the latter part of February * 1945 in Butuan, an
aged couple and their son were harvesting when they saw
four Japanese soldiers. The couple was tied and taken
while the son hid. Several days later the bayonetted and
beheaded bodies of the couple and anocther “illpino were
found.

hibit 1411. JAG report No. 281, * stated that
on June 6, 1944, about 300 Japanese tezether with Filipino
Constabulary and Moro troops entered Rerao~['ilayan and
gathered the civillans. On June 7, 20 prisoners wvere put
in one house where they were bayonetted and the house set
on fire.

Nar
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Exhibit 1412, JAG report 302, stated that from
December 10, 1941 teo April 3, 1045 * Japanese soldiers at
Vigan fellowed a usual pattern of operation against
snnocent civilians, raided and lcotea private homes and :
killed and mistreated people. On Aprii 10, 1944, six 5
Japanese bayonetted one woman. On Auvgust 27, 1944. soldiers A
fired on pecple in the coekpit 1in Santa Cataiina, wounding
one and killing several. On October 20, 1944, 30 were
srrested and tortured. On November 15, 1944, three
prisoners were beheaded. On December 27, 1944, several
persons, after their homes were lcoted, were tortured
and on January 7. 1245, nine eof t.u prisoners were beheaded.

3, JAG report Nc. 109, stated * that
the record az to For antiage contains innumerablie in-
stances of tne brutal and barbaric treatment of many taken
their for questioning. This practic: prevalled from

Exhibit 14

f.+ o
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January 1942 to February 1945, Vhen they knew Manila was
lost the Jaranese engaged 1in an oregy of mass murder Ly
shooti::g, bayonetting and buriiig aiive all prisoners 1n

the Fort, They cannot detail the treatment received by
each, but in general the forms of torture were imposed 1n
whole or ir part upon the priscners. OScme victims were
American POW's and nationals.

* [Upon arrival at Fort Santiago for investigation
a person was placed in a small cell with many other people,
4ot enough room to lie down, Talking was prohibited. The
diet was inadeyuate and consisted of a small amount of rice
and occasionally some vegetables. FPractically all witnesses
lost 25 to 75 pounds during the time they were held. Sanitar)
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conditions were unbearable, the ocnly toilet being an opening
in the floor at one end, which wa: not cleaned more than
once a day and the receptacles were inadequate, There was
insufficient water though each cell had a faucet. ko

soap was 1ssued and bathing wes infrequent and sometimes
less than cnce a week., * The men had to bathe in view

of the women., The only ventilaticn was small windows high
at one end and the stench was over-powering., The cells were
infested with lice and vermin. Fersons who were tortured
were returned to the cell and some died there. (nly one was
raped., Jome prisoners were kicked and slapped 1n the face,
beaten with the flat ¢f the sword across the back, shoulders
and kidreys, others were beaten with iron rods, baseball
bats, clubs, poles, ropes ang telephone wires and some were
thrown by Jiu Jitsu methods. The water treatnent whereby a
victim was tied to a bench =nd a water hose put into his
mouth and nost. ils and water was forced into his stomach
until he became unconscious. Friscners were susrended for
hours from the floor by poles inserted through their arms.
Others were hung by their armsg.
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* OSticks were inserted in the openings of the
genital organs and others were burned with lighted
cigerettes. Fingers were broken by being squeezed against
emmuniticn. Bambooslits were placed under toe and finger-
nalls and often the latter were rulled out by plisrs,
tlectric shock and burning were used., A man was forced tc
eat his own skin. Skin was twisted with wooden pli.rs. Toes
were ground under hobnailed boots, Three American rilots
received =sword thrusts through th:ir shoulders and were
burned by lighted cigarettes. Holes were made in the fingers
and wires inserted ané men suspended., MNany prisoners were
éxecuted., To Iintimidate prisoners they were shown head-
less men and beaten men. * Intestinss were removed from
living people One prisoner was forced to behead another.
Dead bodies were thrown into the river. This torture ex-
tended to men, women, nuns and to priests., Some victims
died after release, In February 1945 the :1lls were packed,
Docrs were barricaded, gasoline poured and set afirs, Hun-
dreds were burned te death., Others were executed. Civilians
who escaped the burning buildings were shot by guards while
escaping or swimming, ’

Exhibit 1414, the testimony of Justina lanlisik
in the YAMASHITA trial, stated that in February 1945, in
Tanavan the Japanese slashed open the stomach of her pregant |
sister and as the baby came out cut off its head, ‘

'ﬁﬁ‘--.-.-.'--------------.---.------.......-.-.-.inﬁﬁ
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12,508 Exhibit 141%, JAG report No. 262, stated * from
June 1944 to March 1945, several persons were apprehended
by the military police of Dumaguete, tortured and mistreated.
While being investigated tney were beaten, kicked, burned,
'water cured,’' choked, tossed about by judo and hung by
their wrists. Food was inadequate, sanitary facilities
were not provided and the prisoners were glven salty water
to drink. They could not take shelter in air raids.

/'

Exhibit 1416, JAC report 161, stated that at

. 12,509 Bacclod, priscners * were heaten by the Kempei-Tai. Che
after Deing beaten was, the next night, forced tc jump from
an 18 to 20 foot window into an acphalt pavement where he
dislocated his hip, The Japanese beat one man until he was )
a mass of bloed. Another was strapped to a table and his '
wrists burned with an alcohol flame. A third was bayonetted _
and questicned while the baycnet was being forced through 4

him.

Exhibit 1417, the affidavit of lLeonora Falacilo
12,510 Villas, stated * that in the middle of February, on a
Sunday, she, her two brothers and cthers were taken to the
municipal bullding in Fazlo. At their hcme there had been
a number <f guerrillas and friends of the family. One of
the guerrillas was discovered and the Japanese, believing
there were cthers, took these people to the jail. These
. 124,511 * people were not questioned during the night. The next
day one of her brothers had his hands tied behind his back
and he was suspended by his hands from & tree where he hung
stark naked. A Jaranese soldier heat him, drawing blood
from all over. He was whipred with a thorn branch for a
pericd of three hours, The Japanese poured gascline under
his arms and arocund his privates and set it afire. The

12,512 same was done to her other brother. Or Tuesday * she was
taken by Japanese scldiers to the municipal bullding where
2,513 they removed her clothes and beat her with a whip. * She

was allowed to redress, was given a little water and spent
three days in jail without any medical treatment.

Exhibit 1418, affidavit of Tayambong Chagse, stated
that he was about 60 and was a Filipino-Igorot, living in
12,514 * the flountain ‘rovince. On the mcrning of March 12, 1943,
the Jarpznese arrived at his town. They asked for American
and Fllivino soldlers. '‘/hen the witness answered that he
had not seen any, he was tied up in his house with his
hands behind his back, They again asked for the Americans.,
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/jhen he stated he 3id not know, they 1a4d him down on the
flcor and gave him a lot of water then they tied him upP,
burned his buttocks and legs and ¥nocked out two teeth with
a big piece of wood, He& W&s hung by nis hands which were
tied behind hils pack abceut four feet from the floor. ‘/hile
he was hanging there the Japanese 1it a candle =nd held it

s - D4 i close to the G-string he Wwas vearing. * _Ihe G-string caught
fire and burned antil only two feat were leit. Then the
G-string was put sround his head =nd burned. The Jarancse :
1zid him down on the floor &nd maede him drink a petrcleum ;

. can of water. They then acked nim the guestions and beat

him. Another stepped up and down on hils chest so that '
the water v ould come oul of his moutho One scldier sat on
his stomach and snother held a Trope tied around nis neck.
pfter while they stocd up and one began tc hitb him with

12,516 wood * repeating the sallS questionso after that they untied
him, put the TOPE on his hands &nd rook him to the forest
where one of the japanese ricked up = stone, kit him and
tied him there. After belng untied by friends he vent home
and the Japanece #id not bother nim 2gaino There were
about 70 Japanese -1 the Broup, including two officerso

12,517 rxhibic 1419, JaAG Teport Noo ¢, stated * that
Dr. Giibert Tsham Cullen at 11oilo City we 3 guestioned for
geyera’ hours ang struck 1in the abdomen with a club, slapped
and kicked. They pulled nils toe nail from nis great toe
. : with pliers. After belng elubbed he wWas ~3spended from &
cross beam bY his thumbs with his feet oft the floor until
the fingers of his left hand were bent and twisted until some
of them were proken and dislocated.

12,518 As a result of the treatment * Dr. Cullen had a
broken nose, several cracked ribs, &8 brcken right leg, 10SS
of his big toe nail, broken and dislocated fingers and an
injured JaWo This was all done to him to make nim Tev=al

the nemes Of 1ocal citizens who were sending radio messages
and to force him to reveal military {nformation. The torture

lasted from morning until late in the afterncono.

12,520 Exhibit 1421, JAG report No. 61, stated * that on
February 9, 1945, American trcobs were cliosing in on Manila
and bombing was continuouso Shelter was sought by countless
refugees throughout the city. During the afternoon Japanese

12,521 patrols * routed people in a certain district and brought

them to the plaza Fergusolo They were told that this was
done because the Japanese desired to protect them. Most of
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the citizens went voluntarily. By five o'clock some 2,000
pecple, all ¢ilvilians, had been brought to the Plaza. At
that time the men and elder ma' : children were separated,
The men were taken to the Maniia Hotel and women and children
to the Bay View Hotel, except 120 girls who were taken to

& restaurant. This latter group was later taken to the

Bay View Hotel. Between six and four thirty the following
morning * the Japanese in twos or threes came to the rooms
in which the women had been quartered, selected the girls
they wished, took them to other rooms and raped them.
Similar scenes were enacted at the Boulevard, Alhambra and
Miramar Apartments Young girls in all three places were
forced to go with the Japanese,

In the afterncon of February 10 one of the women
was informed that the Japanese had white women and their
orders were to kill all of them, but they had decided to
use them as a front line to keep the Americans from coming
in. While only seven would admit being raped the proof
is clear that at least forty * were violated. Thirty=-six
stated that attempts had been made, but the evidence indicates
that despite their denial the:e attacks came suspiciously
close to fruition, The treatment continued for varying
periocds, Those at the bay View Hotel were released on Feb-
ruary and those at the others on February 13,

One night one 24 year old girl was raped 12 to
15 times, and the Japanese, despite her weakenss continued
L0 rape her until four AM, « icking girls as they lay
Prostrate was 2 common dccurrence, and there were instances
where the girl was dragged away by her leg and pulled along
Oon her back, * A few £scaped because they claimed they
were menstruating, although prco’ was usually required. Some
girls acquiesied without resistance because of fear and
promises of freedom, White girls were favored because of
their white complexions., Some Peop.e managed to escape,
* Three prostitutes thought for fellow captives they would
submit and try to protect the younger girls and marr‘ied
women,

At the Miramar an officer, when a "'1lipino girl re-
fused to go to bed with him,proposed marriaze and she 1efused
and he sent her away. None of the incidents occurred in the
day time, although thirst and hunger was bad, Dirty water
was given to them to drink, For food there wazre a few bils-
cults, a small can of fish and some vitamin Pills. They were
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12,527 given some tennis shoes. In one room, * except for the
molestations, the women felt that they had been comparatively

well treated. In the main dining room two or three Red
Cross ladies set up an aid station and on February 10 took
B care of 200 to 250 women and children. This refuge was
temporary and on the following nights girls were taken from
the dining room and raped. The attacks mounted during the
third and fourth nights. One Japanese -offlcer told one lady
on February 13 that he was going to fight the Americans
and die and before he left he wished to have intercourse
. with her daughter as his last worldly pleasure. Others
=tated that they were a sulcide detail and behaved even
more brutally than before.

/

Fires which broke out proved the salvation for
the victims,

One girl contracted gonorrhea and nearly all
of them had medical examinations when the zmericans arrived.
There were no pregnancies and no deaths o7 though twe ladies
had tc be treated for shock and generally weakened condi-=
tions.

Exhibit 1422, affidavit of Baster Garcia Moras,
12,529 stated * that when the girls arrived at the Bay View Hotel
they were marched up stairs and taken into an empty room.
. The Japanese shut the door on her group, but they could be
12,530 heard on the other side., * The room was entirely unfurnishec
except for a few nets and old mattresses. There was & small
bathroom, but no water. There was one window and the Toom
was abcut seven y:rds square. Everyone was nervous and
praying. There was hardly room to lie down. Ip about ten
minutes five Japanese came in and began T0 100k arcund.
Girls tried to hide. The Japanese completed their inspec-
tion and left the room, closing the dcor, In about another
five minutes three Japanese cams in and grabbed her two
sisters and pulled them out of the room, the girls resist-
12,531 ing. * One sister returned in a half hour, crying and
<tated the other sister was having things done to her.
Nothing happened to her because she was menstruating. She
did not ask her sister for particulars because she was sC
upset. The other sister came back in about twenty minutes,
all perspiring and dirty and stated she wanted to die. The
12.532 witness did not question her * because she knew what had
happened. About five mimutes after her first sister re-
turned three Japanese came in and took out this sister and
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another girl, The witness tried to hold this sister back
but was not strong enough. She did not see her sister nor
the other girl until the next morning. About ten minutes
after her second sister came back four Japanese came in
and took some of the other girls., The witness stated she
was sick, but they took her. These Japanese were just
marines. She was made to lie down on the floor. * The
Japanese lifted her dress and tore off her underclothes.
Two ©f 'them stood around and laughed. The witness struggled
and kicked but she got slapped., Finally she became dazed
from the slapping and became exhaustcd. * After this all
happened the witness crawled on her hands and knees and
managed to get back to her room, She had been gone about
twenty minutes and returned about midnight. The witness
fell to the floor and sobbed, * The witness stated she
was raped between 12 and 15 times during the night, but
she doesn't remember exactly. It was a living nightmare,:
The Japanese would come in singly and in groups and drag
her out hardly before she had fallen to the floor from a
preceding raping.

Exhibit 1423, the testimony of Nena Alban in the
HCOMMA trial, stated * that she was walking and she saw
naked Japanese standing on the corner., She saw two of
them rolling in the street, When she came near she saw
two Filipino women pause and they were abused by the Japanese.
The Japanese took hold of the women's legs. The witness
tried to get away from that place because she was afraid
the Japanese would see her so she went a little bit further
and when she looked back the Japanese were using the girl,

Exhiblt 1424, the testimony of Apolinaria Dus Tuazor
stated that on February 2, 1942 * about midnight eleven
Japanese soldiers came to her house and fired shots into
it. As soon as they entered the house the Japanese took
hold of her husband and held him while three Japanese abused
her, * Afterwards they stripped her naked, held her by
the hair and dragged her down stairs, Other Japanese were
down there and they also abused her., There were about
four or five down stairs, Her husband was blindfolded and
thrown out the window. While she was downstairs she saw
her husband. She tried to talk to him and one of the Jap-
anese was about to strike her husband with the butt of his
gun, The witness * intercepted the blow,

Exhibit 1424, testimony of Celestina de la Rosa
in the HOMMA trial, stated * that when she tried to struggle
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she was threatened with a fixed bayonet. The man then
used her. Another Japanese did the same thing when she
was down on the floor. The witness then ezcaped. The
Japanese took her jewels and sent her out of the room,
* She became pregunant and was delivered of her child.

Exhibit 1426, the testimony of Amadeo Cabe in
the HOMMA trial, showed that the latter had stated that he
had received complaints 1in connection with rape cases in
January 1942. * The report submitted by an officer
stated that the two daughters of a Mrs. Webb had been forced
by the Japanese after beating. The girls were told that
they would be killed if they did not give in. An examina=-
tion at the hospital showed that the girls were really
raped.

Exhibit 1427, the testimony of Juan Etuijera 1in
the YAMASHITA trial, stated * that he had a conversation
with his dving niece. She told him she had been raped,
bayonetted in the abdomen and then thrown into the fish
pond. All of her nine companions, including two married
women, were raped.

Exhibit 1428, JAG report Noo 287, stated * that in
September 1945 at Balilihan and Sikatuna a group of six
Japanese looted a home and forced the son and daughter to
go as guldes., The son was bayonetted and left for dead.
The body of the daughter was found about a month later with
six front teeth missing and her legs severed from her bedy .

Exhibit 1429, the testimony of Francisca Bernardo
de Luna, stated * that on the 10th of January 1942 she saw
some Jajanese =oldiers at the barric of Sampaloc who searched
and arrested people, OShe was threatened with a bayonet,
although at the time she was pregunent. She was also beaten
on the face, arms and on the thigh 2nd then was raped by &
Jaypanese Captaln.

Exhibit 14:0, testimony of Vincente Arias in the
YAMASHITA trial, * stated that on the morning of February
5, 1945, he saw a group of soldiers set fire to the north
of Carriedo Street, * setting fire to a large number of
buildlings.

Exhibit 1431, JAG report No. 71, stated that on
December 26, 1941, Manila was declared an open city. The
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announcement was published in the press, broadcast over

the radic and announced on the streets. On the night of
the 26th all city lights were turned on and the text of

the announcement was cabled tc the U.S, * Twenty-one
Japanese bombers, plainly marked with the rising sun, flew
over Intramuros at an altitude of 2,800 feet., They dropped
100 and 3CO pound bombs. On the 28th various university
bulldings and many cther bulldings were destroyed by fire
as a result, The total estimated damage was over a million
pesos, excluding private residences.

Exhibit 1432, testimony of Dominador Santos at
the YAMASHITA trial, stated that in February 1945, * within
20 minutes after the Japanese went into the cinger Building
he had heard an explosi.ocn. The Japanese had left before
the explosion, The explosion was followed by a fire, The
witness * went back on February 5 and the buildings were
all burned.

Exhibit 1433, the testimony of Amando Alvarez in
the YAMASHITA trial, stated that in February 1945 he saw
the Japanese trying to break down the door of the bank of
the FPhilippine Islands but ¢ould not break it. He heard a
command given and he saw a soldier brin: back rags on which
pasoline was poured and these rags were thrown into the
building. One soldier carried a long pole with gasoline
soaked rags on it, 1it the end of the role and threw it
inside the building. * The whole building was burning when
the witness left,

Exhibit 1434, the testimony of Roza Calalong in
the YAMASHITA tiial, stated * that in February 1945 there
were between 4,000 to 5,000 peopie in the Manila Cathedral.
She saw some Japsnese come into the Cathedral during the
night. They went inside and pu.led girls out. Sze saw two
Japanese raping the women right in the Cathedral. After
the witness left the Cathedral ¥she saw i+t turning. There
had been an explosion from inside the Cathedral, There was
no American bombing or shelling yet. She saw drums around

the Cathedral.

Exhibit 1435, the testimony of Juan P, Juan in the
YAMASHITA trial, * stated that in February 1945 he was pre-
sent 1n his home when the Red Cross buildling was destrcyed.
Early on the l4th he saw flickering lights inside the
manager's rocom, * He didn't notice anybcedy in the building.

R
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In about an hour or so he saw thelight burst into flame,

He saw several soldiers on the street in front of the Red
Cross building. He did not notice that the Red Cross
building had been hit by shells prior to the time it burned.
The men he saw arcund the building were Japanese soldiers
because they wore the uniform and civilians could not

roam around the building.

Exhibit 1436, summary report, dated September 27,
1946 of physical destruction and other losses in the Phillip-
rines by Japanese aggression from December 8, 1941 to
June 4, 1945, showed that * prcperty to the value of
2,740,000,000 pesos was destroyed, including therein 270,000
private structures, making cne and a half to two million
people homeless, about 1,200 government buildings, about .
15,000 school bulldings, or a total destruction * of 295,000
or 300,000 buildings,

Exhibit 1437, JAG report No. 151, stated * that
on the morning of January 26, 1947, Japanese soldiers entered
barrlc San Indres, where they rounded up the inhabitants and
took them to the schoocl building. About 50 blood-covered
bodies were scattered over the area three Filipinos were
bayonetted to death., On February 19, 1745, about 30 Japanese
soldiers and others approached a house in Malvar, surrounded
it and one of them entered. After a while he came out and
the soldiers burned the house down, The bodies of six
occupants were found in the ruins.

Exhibit 1438=A, a mimeographed and handwritten
file of the Manila Defense Force and Southwestern Area Fleet
Operation order, December 23, 1944, to February 13, 1944,
showed that the people were ordered to make no mistakes in
* time of exploding and burning when the enemy invaded.

* When killing Filipinos to assemble them together in one
place so far as possible, They should be assembled either
in houses toc be burned or biswr up or to be pushed ‘into
the river,

Exhibit 1438=-B, the diary of a Warrant Officer
YAMAGUCHI,; Tenth Tank Regiment, stated that they had been
ordered in the latter part of 1944 #* to kill all males they
find and that the aim was to kill, or wound men and collect
information. Women who try to escape are to be killed,

Exhibit 1439, diary of Pfc MATSUCKA, March 27,
1945, stated that taking advantage * of darkness they had
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gone out to kill natives, The cries of the women and

children were horrible. He himself stabbed and killed
several persons.

Exhibit 1440, the diary of a Japanese soldier, November
19, 1944, stated * that they had received informaticn that
thirty guerililas had =tt:cked Lipa Air Depot and 11 had
been captured. The MF sqguad requested that the GIGO force
dispose of the captured guerrillas, During the night
holes were dug in the coconut grove and the men were bay-
onetted and killed. Some were as small as children and
had not been fed for three days since their capture. With
their hands tied they stood in front of the holes with
thelr heads slightly bent and said nothing. #* Later, one
by cne the members of the section bayonetted the puerrillas,
The writer bayonetted the second., After baycnetting them
they covered them with so0il and laid coconut leaves on top,

Exhibit 1441, notebook diary of a member of the
Akatsukl Force stated that on February 7, 1945, 150 guer-
rillas were killed by him. * On February 9, 1,000 guer-
rillas were burned. February 13, 10 guerrilias were stabbed
to death. At 1600 all guerrillas were burned to death,

Exhibit 1442, a loose, handwritten sheet contain-
ing a battle report of April 13 of the Ljichl Unit, stated
that he hsd expended 28 rounds of ammunition for killing
natives, At noon 22 natives * were stabbed or shot to
death,

Exhibit 1443, police affairs B No. 29 July 1 to
January 12, 1944, of the 14th Army MP Unit, stated = the
troops gathered all men and bove in the church and questioned
those connected with the guerrilla unit. They made them
drink water and then hit them. They then shcot and speared
them to death with bamboo lances,

o |

February 17, 1945 he noted that the Fillpinos are
~dapanese and headquarters had ordered them punished.
In varicus sectors they had killed several thousands and
burned their homes and taken their valuables,

Exhibit 1444, a handwritten alaryv from November
14, 1943 to April 17, 194%, of a member of wne Fujite Unit,
stated that for securlty reasons all inha“itants of the town
were killed and their possessions * confiscated on February
3 4 (SO
not pr

4o
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Exhibit 1445, a captured diary of the Japanese
soldier, stated in February 1945 that they spent each day
in hunting suerrillas and natives., He had already killed
more than 100, * He now felt that he was a hardened
killer, which he knew was sheer brutality.

Exhibit 1446, a captured Japanese memorandum
concerning the training of all officers and men for preven-
tion, N,vember 18, 1944, stated that while it is not pre=-
serived in the criminal code, those who eat human flesh,
except thit of the enemy, knowing it to be so, shall be
sentenced to death as the worst criminal,

Exhibit 1447, statement made by POW YANAGIZAWA,
stated, * that on November 1, 1944, Major General AOTU,
division commander told his troops that they must fight the
4117e¢s even to the extent of eating them, On December 10,
1944 an order was issued from 18th Army Headqguarters that
troops could eat the flesh of Allied dead, but must not
eat their own dead. Rumors were ~revalent that troops were
eating their own dead. On December 15, four men were exe-
cuted for disobeying this order,

DIRECT EXAMINATION OF &.B. MOODY,
by Mr. Lopez

* The witness stated he was a Staff Sergeant
frem Lynn, Massachusetts and had been in the regular army
since November 1940, He was with the troops of General
King which surrendered in Bataan in April 1942 and took
part in the Bataan Death March in which 1t took him two
days to walk 120 kilometers. They received no food or water
from the Japanese but got the water out of caribou wallows
and ditches on the highway, What food they did recelve was
from the Filipinos who threw it to them, Men would break
cut of ranks and run into the flelds to get sugar cane and
sinkamas., They were treated badly throughout the march,
being beaten, bayonetted * stabbed and kicked with hob=-
nail boots, Five of his best friends, including his closest

friend, were killed. If a man lagred to the rear, ne was
immediately bayonetted and beaten, His best friend had

severe dysentery from drinking muddy water. Vhen he fell to
the rear he was bayonetted several times and beaten and
died, The witness saw many dead bodies littered on the
highways., He also saw dead women * and some dead priests.
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As the Japanese troops came toward the Americans the men
were beaten by the incoming troops and stabbed and bayonet-
ted. The witness, by looking ahead, could see his friends
stabbed and beaten or could hear their groans from behind.

* The witness arrived at Gapan on May 1, 1942,
They were treated very badly. If the men did not cou. :t
off in Japanese, they were mistreated. He was the first
sergeant cn the detail and did not go out on the job, but
the rest of the men worked on bridge construction, carry-
ing heavy materials. The work was sO heavy and strenuous
that many men ruptured themselves. The food was a small
amount of rice, the skins of pigs, the rotten onions and
squash that was * ieft over from the Japanese. The Japanese
were eating meats, eggs, lots of rice, sweet cakes, peanuls
and had quite a blt of tobacco and bexr. Thirty-seven men
died in Gapan, the witness personally burying each of the
men. The gaskets had been prepared ln advance, three or
four at a time,

On one occasion the Japanese provided medicine.
There were so many men dying that the POV's demanded of
the camp commander some quinine to save the men's llves.
Instead he gave them a case of bromo-quinine, a mild laxa-
tive, with strict orders that each man would take the
pills every night. * They were moved out of the camp on
June 30, 1942, because there were no more men left to work.
Of the 203 men that went on the bridge detail only seven
are alive todaye.

CROSS -EXAMINATION BY MR. SOMIYA

The witness stated that the Bataan Death March
ctarted at kilometer post 18l and ended at San Fernando,
Pampanga. * He had not received any clgarettes or tobacco
from Japanese soldiers, but at the last year of the war they
were 1ssued, he thought, by the Japanese government,

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. LOGAN,
Council for KIDO

The witness stated he did notl know who was the
high ranking officer in the death march or the name cf the
officer in charge. * The only order that he had heard
about in connection with the march was that all were supposed
to have heen killed. He just followed the rest of the men.
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f 12,587 * When they got to the main prison camp at

: Camp 0'Donnell they were all lined up and the commander
had a paper in his hand and "rom what the witness could

s gather from the speech made they were all supposed to be

B the commander's slaves., This was at the end of the death
march. He, however, did not know anything about orders
about the death march. In the camp that he was in from
May 1 to June 30, 1942 there were 200 enlisted men and
three officers. The high ranking Japsnese officer was a

12,588 captain, * This captain allowed a Filipinc doctor to come
. to the camp., This doctor furnished medicine to the FPCWS

from his own pocket. VWhen the commander learned that
they were receliving medicine, the doctcr was not allowed
to come back,

The witness did not know of any orders from
higher echelons on treatment of priscners. One of the
reasons for receiving the beatings was language diffi-

12,589 culties. * The witness stated that after June 30, 1942
he was trensferred to the main prison camp at Cabanatuan
Camp No. 1. They were treated very badly. He was on
permanent grave detail for three months. He only stayed
in this camp three months and was transferred to another.

12,590 The treatment after Juie 30, 1942 * was so bad that he
became blind. He was almost dead and they took him to the
Bilibid Prison Hospital, where he remained until he got
well, The fcod after June 30, 1942 was »orse than at

. Gapan. POW's were eating roots., tree leaves, and rice and

pig skins, The food did not improve until June 1943,
After that it became be-ter for the priscners. There was
general disorder and confusion from April 1942 to June

30, 1942,

Exhibit 1448, affidavit of Major General E. P.

Eing, Commanding General of the American-Filipino Forces
12,592 at Bataan, April 1942, stated * that on April 9, 1942 at
12,593 two A.M, he sent a truce te:m * to make an eppointment to

meet the Japanese commander on Bataan to surrender. Part

of the team returned shortly after daylisht and the affiant

started forward with his aid=., On the way, although his car

carried white flags they were attacked repeatedly by bomb=-

ing and machinegun fire from Japanese p_anes. About 10

o'clock they reached Lamao where he was received by a

Japanese major general who stated he commanded one division,

but he had reported King's coming to the Japanese headquarters

and he had no authority to treat with him but that another ‘
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of ficer would be sent from headquarters to deal with King.
12,594 The affiant did not know the name of this general, * After
a while cne of his aides called his attention to the fact
the Japanese troops had resumed their advances and the
witness sent his aides back with instructions to show the
white flag and to go to his command post and direct
General Funk to order all units to give themselves up to
the first Japanese who approached. Shortly thereafter a
colonel, General HCMMA's Chief of Staff, arrived to dis=-
cuss the surrender. The witness was oniy concerned with
. the treatment of his men and whether they would be treated
. as POW's. The officer demanded unconditional surrender.
The witness wanted an assurance that the men would be
treated as POW's. The offlcer accused the witness of try-
ing to make a condition. Finally the officer stated that
the Japenese Army were not parbarians. Cn that assurance
12,595 * the witness surrendered,

In destrocying arms and equipment in preparation
for surrender the witness had reserved enough motor trans-
portation and gas to transport all the troops out of Bataan.
He tried tc procure assurance that this might be done and
of fered personnel needed to assist. The Japenese stated that
they would handle the movement of prisoners as they wished
and that his wishes could not be considered.

‘. Exhibit 1449, testimony of Basillio Hernandez,
Chief of Casualty Division of the Filipino Army, stated
12,596 « that at the time of the surrender at Bataan the number cf
the Philippine's armed forces was £3,000. Before the out-
1243597 break of the war * there had been 12,000 Filipino Scouts.

They had all been committed to Bataan at the time of sur-
render but he did not know theilr exact number at that time.

Exhibit 1450, JAG report No. 7%, stated that over
9,000 American and about 47,000 Filipinoc POW's weTe imprisone
at Camp O'Donnell, all having surrendered on April 9, 1942.

12,598 *+ Many had made the so-called death march., As a result of
their trip and privation, 211 left the camp in a state of
exhaustion. Upon arrival they were searched and some were

killed. Other groups of FOW's were executed, Most deaths
in O'Donnell were due to dysentery and malaria, coupled with
malnutrition and many could have been presnted by adeguate
food, shelter, clothing, water sanitation and medication.
Quarters were overcrowded and inadequate. Straddle trench
latrines only were available and many FOW's were too weak to’
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use them. No screens were provided for the kitchen and
food was contaminated and inadequate. * It consisted
only of a bowl of rice sprinkled with salt, camctes, with
an occasional watery soup. This was later increased.

The death rate mounted to 60 per day during the first two
months. At first the PCOW's were not allowed to use water
for bathing and hospital conditions were most unsanitary.
There were no beds or bedding and patients were crowded
with no prctection from insects and heat. Requests for
medicine and equipment were refused. More than 1,500
Americans died between April 18, 1942 and December 1942,
and about 2,600 Filipinos died in that periocd.

POV 's were forced to stand in the hot sun with-
out hats for hours for minor violations. Others were
beaten when they were exhausted while at work, Beatings
of all kinds * were common occurrences. Many FPOW's had
to bury the dead, build fences and dig latrines, though
physically unfit to wor:. On arrival they were forced to
place all personal matters on blankets and the Japanese
took everything of value, The POW's were forced to bury
their own dead in mass graves without proper means of
jdentification. OSixty-five dead were listed as unknown.
On some eccasions they were forced to bury live men and
on some occasions they were not given permissicn to bury
the dead for several days.

On several occasions the Red Cross and other
charities tried to bring medicine and supplies * but they
were turned away. When supplies were brought in they were
confiscated.

Exhipit 1451, summary of events of the report
of atrocities at Bataan General Hospitals, Nos. 1 and 2,
stated that on April 9, 1942, +he American forces in Bataan
surrendered and Corregidor and Fort Drum did not surrender
antil eix weeks later., During this time Japanese artillery
continually fought with the rmerican guns on the other
points. The Japanese placed * field pleces and tanks
close to the hospital where there were 7,500 Americans
and 7,000 Filipino patients. They were SO close that
it was obvious that the Japanese intended tc use the
hospital as a shield against American guns, particularly
since the patients could have been evacuated. One patient
saw 23 guns from his place in the hospital., When complaints
were made to the Japanese, the officers replied that they
would not be moved until Corregildor surrendered. As & re-=
sult at least five American patients were killed and

Nyl M
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many others wounded by American gunfire. After the sur=-
render the Japanese confiscated medlcal supplies and al-
most all food, leaving only some fruit Julces, canned

= milk and bad rice. ‘Japanese soldiers were eating meals

- 12,603 which Included vegetables and meat, * An American nurse
was raped by Japanese without disciplinary action, American
prisoners were forced to haul Japan:se field pieces for use [
agalnst Americans on Corregidor. Filipinos unable to work :
were forced to Join the death mareh ang personal effects

were looted.

$

‘ 12,604 Exhibit 1452, Jag report No. 189, stated * that
shortly after the fall of Corregidor about 10,000 Americans
and Filipinos were crowded invo a small area so crowdegd
that they were unable to move during the night without dis=-
turbing their companions. There was no shelter from the
rain or from heat. Sanitary facilities was an open slit

12,605 trench. There were no chemicals or disinfectants, = Vater
wa: from two wells and was ¢#alty and unpalatable. Priscners
were given inadeguate food, although there were ample supplie.
available and stored in the tunnels of Corregidor. Men were

. forced to load captured supplies on Japanese ships. Many
were suffering from illness ang wounds and all suffered from
privaticns, yet no medical care was furnished., Japanese
brutally beat POW's at the slightest provocation or for
minor infractions, As 8 result many POW's died.

. Exhibit 1453, affidavit of James E, Strawiorn,

12,606 stated * that at Nicholes Field between fertember &, 1942
and July 14, 1944 the men were allotted a certain amount of
work each day and it was impossible to perform this in the
time allotted due to physical conditions ang weather, If
the tasks were not complete, the men would be lined up and
flogged by +the Japanese with heavy metal. Arms, legs and
backs were broken and if a man fell, he was beaten over

12,607 his head until unconscious., * This was common, The wit-
ness had personally been beaten uncons<icus. Ancther form
of torture was to have a rerson stand at attention in the
hot sun with a bucket of water on his head. If the water
spilled, the man was beaten. Ancther practice was to tie a
man to a board with his heagd lower than his feet ang then
pour salty water into him. This would cause his stomach to
swell. The Japanese would then jump on his stomach. The
Japanese often forced a water hose down =z prisoner's throat
and fill his stomach and then Jump on him. Another punishmen
was to tie a man's hands behind his back and draw thenm up
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between his shoulders with a rope hung over the 1imb of
a tree and let him hang with his feet off the ground.
This pulled both arms out of socket.

* The witness had hung as long as 24 hours in
that position, receiving no food or water and exposed to
the sun and rain, He was beaten with plaited rope and
hit about the face and head with a pistol butt. Once his
hands were tied behind him and he was forced to kneel. A
piece of timber was placed behind his knee and he had to
squat. This disiccated the knee joints and cut off all
cireculation. He was in this position for about three
hours. Beatings occurred for all minor offenses. * These
torture methods were committed and witnessed by higher
authority, including the Admiral in charge of Pasay Camps
without any interference,
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Page SIRECT EAAMINATION of DONaLL £ Liwuli, by Mr. lLopez.
12610 + The witness stated that he was 2/, and 1lived

in Laurel, I11inois, and he had been with tn

at its surrender 1in Bataan in Aprll. 1942.

e U, 5. Army
In the early

part of April he had contacted malaria, and 1t was feared

he had contacted pneumonia, and he was sent to field

hospital No. 1. About thirty minutes after he
12611 Japanese planes pombed the hospital three times

arrived

was wounded in the right shoulder. The hospital was

plainly marked with red cross signs, 3 large one on
of each building. When it was discovered that he was not
the hospital

. areca, and wandered up the road to USArSE tieadquar

seriously wounded he was srdered to leave

top

v ilometer PostU 165. When the first Japanese soldier

arrested him he was lylng on a stretcher under a tree 1in

the USAFFE bivouac area.

lie had bronchial pneumonia and malaria,
12612 * temperature of 105.6. The first soldier prodded
the back with a payonet and ordered him to stand.

he did the soldier took his watch, ring, and everything

in his bil1l1fold except a couple of pictures.

It was comparatively ouvious that th
was 111. Despite his illness, he had bto jol
march and march for nine days. For the firs
they did not receive a drop of foecd or water,
from the Japanese€. Yany did nct get any wa

. The only available water was from an occasional a

12613 well OT & caribou well. Water in *ponds and ditches was

so polluted 1t was dangerous to drink, and that from the

n

e witness

nor rest

ter at all.
rtesian

artesian wells was SO small that when 8 qumber of men
tried to get it the troops would fire into the group:

The Filipino civilians tried on many OC
to give food to the men that were marching. :

at the risk of their lives, and many of the civilians

did lose their 1ives trylng: Gtherwise ther

accasional sugar patch.

The continued march.ing and sitting
in the hot sun, and continuous searching and
the shooltling of friends and buddies out of

12614 * for no Treason was a continual straln.

12615 * The witness stated that there

was =an Lpls
copallan chaplaln, Captain Day, on the marche
Day was in the same group of one hundred as the witness.

e was only an

for hours

harrassing,
the coluan

wlhia [11 ain

He had drunk some water from a pond OrF stream and had
contracted dyscntery, and it was necessary for him

>

* gnd he

ters at

and a
him in
anen

the death
t five days

casions
Tney did soO
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to drop out every few minutes. His usual procedure was
to go out of the line, take care of his needs, and come
back into the column. On one occasion as he did this, a
Japanese guard spotted him and charged up and wounded him

12616 with a bayonet. * The witness and several others helped
him. The witness personally helped carry him until the
next rest period, and in the following days took turns
helping the chaplain.

In one day 16 Americans out of his group were
taken from the ranks, bayonetted and killed. Chaplian
Day was given no medical treatment, and if they had been
unable to assist him he would have been left by the
roadside because tie Japanese did not tolerate anyone
not being able to walk.

12617 * The witness stated he could not accurately
say how many shootings he saw during the march: it became
so commonplace that they lost Lrack. Usually Ehose killed
were rolled to the roadside. On some Ooccasions some were
buried, but most were left where they were killed.

On the sixth day they were told that if they
turned in their watches, rings, and valuables they would
be given food. A few of them still had valuables, but
those that did were zlad to give them up for food. They

12618 received a teacupful of boiled rice only. * No salt was
used.

On the ninth day they were informed that they
did not have to walk any more, but would ride. The relief
was short-lived. They were crowded into small iilipino
railroad cars, 100 men to a car. GSome of the men never
touched the floor throughout the trip. Several fainted
from lack of air, and could not be treated because of
ciose quarters. There were four guards in the car, and
they kept the space directly in front of the door. When-
ever the train stopped, the Filipinos tried to give them
food and water, but the guards ran them away.

12619 * I'rom April 17 to May 27, 1942, the witness
was at Camp O'Donnell. On the latter date he was selected
as one of a detail of 300 feor a road building detail.
Ihey were told they were being sent to the Jungle
infested area of Tayabas to build roads and bridges. as
they passed through Pasay, the witness became 111 again,
and with 17 others was taken from the detail and replaced.
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In the meantime he had been sent to Bilibid,
and in August 75 men returned from Tayabas, a deplorable
looking bunch of sick, blind, and worn-out men, including
12620 two of the witness' closest friends. * They told him of
the work they had been forced to do in building rcads
through the jungle, without shelter, under torture, and
X without food or medicine. During this period the witness
was blind, had wet and dry veri-beri, dysentery, pellagra,
and scurvy.

The witness was at Nicholes rField Camp and
‘ Pasay School Camp, from June 8, 1943, to July 15, 1944.
The Japanese, with the aid of prison labor, were trying
to move a mountain to fill in rice paddies, to build an
12621 airfield for their military planes. * The work was of a
pick and shovel nature, consisting of lecading cars with
rocks and dirt and sand, and pushing them down along the
track. At first they had to fill 11 cars, but later the
number was raised to 23. If they did not make their
daily quota, the prisoners were beaten unmercifully with
pick handles, rifle butts, bamboo strips, etc. e doubted
if any POW escaped a beating.

12622 * From the first part of October, he had
dysentery. After a three mile walk to the field he had
to take care of his personal needs and went to a straddle
trench area, about 40 yards from the supervisor's field
office. While he was there the count took place, ana

. he was missing although he could ke plainly seen. Wwhen
he reported back, one of the Japanese became infuriated
and proceeded to give the witness a workout by makling
him stand at attenticn and kriocking him down. When he
was down he would be kicked a few times. His face was
badly cut, and he was dismissed to go lo work.

12623 He knew a man by the name of Red cavage. * In
October, out of a group of 300 men, only 16 were allowed
to stay in camp because of illness. If the numver exceeded
16. someone had to go to work. In this case 1t was
Savage, who had dysentery. L€ Decalie SO weak and sick he
could hardly make it to the field, let alone do his work.
On this specific day he did not return for luncnh. About
1.30 or 2 o'clock he was missed, and the men were taken
to the office while they searched for him. ne was

12624 killed after being tortured. * The wilness did not see
the killing. but heard the shot.
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“whenn the witness enterecd the Japanese camp he
weighed 150 to 155 pounds, and when he left Nicholes
Field he went as low as 83 pounds; he worked €every day
when he weighed 109 to 110 pounds.

CROSS-EXAMINATION by lir. Logan,
Counsel for KIDO.

12625 * The witness stated that he had not held a
_ commission. The Japanese soldier who first met him knew
. he was ill, because he was lying on a stretcher outside
in the heat of the day covered with five blankets and a
shelter-half. He was not in the hospital.

He nhad not testified in any case before with
respect to any atrocities. He did not know personally
the man in charge of the march, but according to news-
papers and talk, General HOLMA was the man. He did not
know the man actuelly in charge of the march or his
12626 rank, * because at thatl time he did not know anything
about Japanese ranks. “hen asked whether he was pitter,
he said there were several thousand ouddies that are not
here today, and that counsel could use his own judgment.

(December 12, 1946)
. CROSS-BXAMINATION by Mr. ShIMANOUCHI

12628 » Bombs fell on the fleld hospital at sataan
about ten o‘clock in the morning. The weather was Vvely
clear. IThe witness was at the hospital at that time.

12629 About 45 minutes later he left, walking. * He knew that
the roofs of the hospital were marked, because part of
them were visible from the ground. le did not know whether
there were any military installations near the hospital,
put there were no {mportant traffic junctions. lhe
witness stated he had saild nothing about a school. The
Number 1 hospital was at 1673 kilometer post, and USal r
headquarters was at 165, and he walked the distance.

12630 * The witness did not know whether the man who
awakened him was an officer or an enlisted man, but he
carried a rille. The man said "hello", but nothing else.
The witness did not try to tell this man he was sick.
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Chaplain Day's wound was of such depth and so
serious that it took the aid of the witness and friends
12631 to assist him to continue the march., = they assisted
him from the third to the 9th day, when the march ended,
During the marech he sweated out g3 portion of the malaria
and temporarily felt better. The witness said he was
not too familiar wit: Filipino routes, but he knew that
they passed through Pampanga Province and boarded the
train at San Fernando, Pampanga. A portion of the road
' was through jungle, and the rest through rice fields.

When asked whether there was any possibility
that tre captives would €scape if they went for water,
the witness stateg that in the mountain areas where the
roads were there were no artesian wells, and there was
not enough vegetation to possibly cover €scaping soldiers,
12632 He did not recall any freight carts or water carrying *
carts on the road. There was a lot of traffic on the

The witness stated he was not with the ATrmy
Quartermaster and was not familiar with Bataan's food
supply before the surrender. They had been on fighter's
rations, two meals per day.

. 12633 * The Japanese changed guards about three times
per day, and when they rested they invariably did so in

8 rice paddy. The Japanese troops drank water whenever

they felt like it. Un many occasions they took canteens

from the marching men. If there was no water in the

canteens they would throw them to the roadside. The

Japanese did not drink water from streams on the way.

raillroad situation in the Philippines que to war damages.
12634 * The railroad cars in which he rod: were about 40 by

8 feet. The USAFKE Rneadquarters was not a billet, out

only a jungle bivouae,

CROOS -LAAL INATION by Lir. Levin.
12635 * The witness said that the total length of
the march was about 100 kilometers. He had not entered

the Army directly from school,
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CROSS-LEAALINALION by Lr. ovillia,
[he witness stated that only cne prisoner

succeeded In escaping while at Nicholes iAirfield. ie

did not know of any others that tried to escape. ot
Nicholes IField there was one Japanese who showed kind

3 ness to the prisoners. * He went to slecp on a coun
of occasions, and the prisoners were able %o pad thc
books on their qguota. !

[
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' iihen asked whether he had ever heard tnat ti.-

[ood situation with respect to Philippine trcops was
bad compared to that of American troops, the witness
stated that his job was radio operation, and he s
it. He had never heard or seen anything to the ei :
tlat the Japanese troop situation in the front linc -

12638 regard to food was very bad. * While the war was cn 4
was not interested in the personal life of the Japun-
soldler, and ai"ter the surrender all thaose to ocome
contact with seemed to be very healthy

RE-DIKLCT BA&MINATION by NKr.

o
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* The witness stated that counting e ca
staff and guards and track bosses, there were aboutr

Japanese guards at Nicholes iirfield. il.en askes
. wi ether the one Japanese zguard ever showed his k!

in the presence of his friends, the witnes

guard was onces caught asleep, and as '€

beaten very severely.

"TD L ¥ ] BT AL M # T o~ i B P T o
DIkl L AAL ;jltklIL}ﬁ O Lr. LOLes PFOusuvholilgy

rLINLAU, by Mr. Lopez
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12640 * 1lhe wlitness stated that he was 37, and 1
B e 14 Ao - Mo e it ra o i Ay 1Y - . - - o
LI Lallliornia. Liik WilLIless, Uil gl Pl Lo i W

and surrendered with the 6lst Division on Panai i
at Ilollo City. They surrendered at the small bar:
of klisi. There were 32 U. 3. officers and L.u. and
approximately 700 Filipino officers and L.,

12641 * On the day follcwing the surrender, the
witness was forced by order to take three other U. o.
fficers and a group of KFilipino officers and &. M. into
the hills of Panay anéd show where they had hidden or
' stored ammunition and gasoline. He led 2 nart, J 8
12642 of about 33. ile took them in the hills * but decided
that he was not going to lead them to the dumps He J
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them in circles, and throughout the trip the Japanese
officer told him continually that they would not eat
or drink until he was shown wkere U. 5. food was stored.
It took six days for the round trip. During the six
12643 days * they were given no food or water as a ration from
the Japanese in charge. The food they received was that
left in the mess kits of the Japanese soldiers. [he
food was approximately 150 grams of rice per day. rhe
water was found in puddles on the way or in caribou
wallows. They averaged about 2% miles per day walking.
. There were about 30 Japanese guards, wio ate weli from
thelr field ration, and in addition had bulk rice, dried
fish, pickled plums, and other things.

L.

12644 * After the trip was completed they returned
to the Calinog Provincial suilding, where they had
started and found that the officers had been transferred
to the Iloilo Provincial Jail. They were immediately
taken by truck to the jail, wiere they stayed for about
44 days. Treatment was very severe. 1Ine ration consisted
of rice and worms, and once a week an eggplart, was issued.
They were quartered in the cells of the _all, sleeping
on double-deck wooden beds full of vermin. There was no
latrine available for night use. All requests were
refused. Due to past living conditions and general state
of health, many of the prisoners had beri-veri and

12645 dysentery, and the stench * was terrible. They had no

. mats or pillows. The guards were from the wmilitary

police unit of Iloilo City.

The main job in lIloilo was cleaning up the city.
They also loaded manganese ore from the dock, carrying
two baskets like coolies.

12647 * Prisoner treatment, both American and
Filipino, was very severe, particularly the beatings.
The treatment was probably more damaging to the rilipinos
than tc the aAmericans. Among the (ilipinos, he saw the
Japanese extract fingernails, place hot coals under the
chin of a prisoner, or under their feet. Jfficers and
enlisted men, regardless of rank, were treated the saume.
The witness himself was beaten on many occasions with
ordinarly steel knuckles, bamboo poles, and two by fours.

12648 He was beaten * all over his boay. On many occasions it
seemed they did not need a reason to beat. Uther times
they were trying to gain information about the where-
abouts of Filipino soldiers who had not turned in or had
deserted prior to the turn-in order.
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On one O« casion he was taken Lo the torture
chamber, which was empty of furniture. A captain and

a warrant oflicer voth asked how I1lollo vity was
destroyed. 1t had happened that at the time of the
invasion of Panay the invading force had to go tarough
the city of Iloilo. ihe city was jefended and was desiru, oo
by the use of artillery and air bombing. ihese w@en
blamed the witness personally for lighting the match
ahich burned the city. * They forced hiu to stand at
attention, and one with & bumboo and the other with a
two by four beat him, across the chest, the ribs anc
back., and finally hit him in the head with the two U
four, rendering him unconscious. i€ Was carried out
American officers, and water was thrown on him to revive
him. “/hrile he was on the ground, both were kicking nim,

i3

12649

12652 CROSS=EAnkINalION DY lir. Logan,

Counsel for KivuU.

[he witness stated he was a lieutenarii-g . W
at the time of capitulation. here were SeVeEla '
available at Ilollo City where the rUis coulc &
kept and which would have been more comfortavle.
time. rfort San FPedro, where the prisoners wers laten -
to. was not peing used. Likewise 110110 Agriculs !
College and 1Us dormitories was avallable. ' £\
not being used by the Japenese for some |

[
r
[
o
Lt

While in Jjail ilor 44 days ne
witness approximately 100 beatings. i€ »
captain in charge, wnen he protested orn peatings.

s Y ~ §
fea o L]

12604

he had orders from his superiors

On every occa

sion

the only words

* pe did not know which command

to punish the pr.i

used were ‘i

was specliiicalll

by that.

After they left Iloilo, they were 1Ialis
to rFort San Pedro, on the beach in the city. «hen
witness complained to the captain in charge of the Jaii
and asked for better quar ters, he was told that they %
there for a period of time, to De announced later, 1
interrogation purposes and would be under the kempei
They were taken from the jail aboul five weeks alie!
complaint. 1t was the Kempeital thatl administerea |
beatings. * at Fort San Pedro the treatment did nol
change, but in fact the beatings and atrocitles gr'a
became WOTSE€.

12655

s MWM PO .
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These beatings were not personal whims of the
soldiers, because the orders came from their superior
of ficers. There was a captain in charge of the Fort, art
on several occasions there were inspection parties under
a lieutenant-colonel and a major. The witness himself
never saw the orders, and sald he could not read Japanese.
Presumably they were read to him. The captain who read
the order always had a plece of paper in front of him
when he issued the order.

* The worms that he said they ate were worms in
the rice. The rice that they received while in prison
were in sweepings of the floor from the warehouses.
had worms, steel filings, and everything else. He did
not know about the food situation of Philippine civilians
at the time. He did know that there was plenty of fresh
fruits and vegetables available. also he personally saw
neat and corn- in the markets , but he did not know the
situation with respect to rice. Food conditions did not
improve in San Pedro. They were cut in rations 50 grams
of rice per man per day on arrival. * At Fort San Pedro
they received approximately 300 grams per man per day.
Once a week they received some sweet potatoes and some
squash, and nothing else.

At San Pedro he received approximately twelve
beatings. They were very fortunate in San Pedro to have
three Japanese interpreters who had lived in the Philip-
pines, and every order given was interpreted for him.

He had never testified in any other trial.
CROSS-EAAMINATION by Mr. Levin.

* The witness stated he was not the highest
ranking officer in charge al thé Llle€ vl surrender.
He was chief of staff to Colonel Christle, the senlor
officer on the island. He, however, made all the
arrangements. The terms required a total surrender in
writing; * that the U. S. would surrender both Aamerican
and Philippine forces at certain places. The witness
abided by the note, by turning over his forces to the
Japanese. The supplies which he had were left back in
the hills. * When he took the Japanese off'icers on the
trips, they passed 1in the vicinity of several of the
dumps. Some were completely gone; others he passed but
not close enough to point out to the Japanese; some had
been looted by the Filipinos, which he did not know then.

28 .ﬁmw
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12664
12665

12666

12668

The witness said that he made protests every
day he was in prison camp. On one occasion there was an
inspection party from Manila, under a general wkose namr
was unknown. * At Iloilo prison, the officer in charge
said he was a commander. At San Pedro the officer of the
camp was a captain of the army.

CROSS-EXAMINATION by Mr. Cunningham,
Counsel for OSHIMA.

* The witness stated that he arrived in the
Philippines on November 20, 1941, and surrendered on
May 27, 1942.

CROSS-EXAMINATION by Mr. SOMIXA,

* The witness stated that at the time of
surrender there were 32 American of ficers and enlisted
men, every one of whom surrendered. * Approximately
700 Filipinos surrendered. Ile did not know whether the
Filipinos were released or not. When he left for Japan
they were still under the Japanese. The Americans were
separated from the 700. In the early part of August
about 100 Filipino troops were put into fort San Pedro.
The rest were in cadre barracks about 400 yards away.
He did not know whether they were released or not.

CROSS-EXAMINATION by Mr. Blewett,
Counsel for T0JO,

* In preparation for the inspection, they were
told by the camp commander thatl the general was inspect-
ing, and he was in the camp about ten minutes. For the
inspection each POV was given three mangoes and a
papaya, whiich was on their bed at the time of inspection.
Immediately after the party left the fruit was picked up.
The barracks were clean for the inspection, but all
cleaning equipment was taken away. The inspection was
made on July 23, 194Z2.

+ Exhibit No. 1454, JAG Report No. 285, stated
that the forces which surrendered to the Japanese 1n
the Lanao area on Nay 27, 1942, were concentrated in
Camp Keithley. On July 4, 1942, POWs had to march 36
kilometers to Iligan, to be taken to Malaybalay. bUuring
the march, a sick prisoner, unable to keep golng, was
shot. No food or water was given, and as a result one
died from drinking dirty water.
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+ Exhibit No. 1455, JAG Report No. 49, stated
that about 0200 December 14, 1944, two Japanese officers
informed the men at the POV camp at Puerto Princesa,
Palawan. that they were going to work early the next de '.
They began at dawn but were called back at noon, which
secmed strange. There were two ailr raids, and extra
guards were placed around the compound. During the
early afternoon another ailr raid warning was sounded
* and the men were forced into shelters and required
to remain under cover, the Japanese stating that
hundreds of planes were approaching.

7hile underground, Japanese soldlers armed
with mzchine guns and rifles and carrying buckets of
gasoline, attacked the POWs in the first shelter, where
there were about 40 of them. They threw a lighted
torch in and followed it with a bucketl of gasoline. As
the men ran from the shelter they were mowed down Dy
machine guns and rifles. llen were allowed to suffer
until they died. A4 captain, commander of the garrison,
split one man's head open with his saber. The Japanese
started shooting everything in sight, while the captain
* was laughing and shouting, urging the men on. Men
were thrown into holes while alive and covered with
coconut husks. Some escaped through a hole in their
dugout, while 30 or 40 others tore barehanded through
barbed wire fences and ran to the water's edge. Two
attempted to swim, Dbut were shot in the water. Others
were hunted down and dynamited. About four men swam the
bay to safety. One man tramped without food and water
for five days and nights through the jungle until
rescued by the Filipinos.

Following the landing by Americans at Puerto
Princesa, on February 28, 1945, a search of the
enolosure was made and certain identification tags,
and personal items were found. Between March 1) and
23, 1945, 79 skeletons were buried. 26 were found
* piled four and five high in one excavation. pullets
had pierced the skulls and they had been crushtied. The
smallest number of bodies were found in the large
dugouts, closest to the cliff and furthest from the
prison bulldings. In two dugouts bodles were in prone
position, arms extended, with conical holes in the
fingertips, showing that these men were trying to dig
their way to freedom.
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DIRECT EXAMINATION of Austin J. MONTGOMERY,
by Mr. Lopez.

*+ The witness said that he was a lieutenant-
colonel and lived in California. He had been with the
U. S. Army 13 years, serving in the Philippines on both
Bataan and Corregidor. He arrived in the rhilippines 1.
May, 1941, and was in the war until Lay 6, 1942. On
that day, * Corregidor surrendered.

* About 8-10,000 American and Filipino troops
surrendered. Since * his surrender he had been in six
temporary camps, 7 permanent ones, and 7 prison sii.ps.
The first temporary camp was at Cabanatuan in June of
1942, The next camp was 40 kilometers outside the city
of Cabanatuan. This was also June of 1942, He was at
Fort San Pedro; at the Olongapo Naval Reserve; the city
jail in San Fernando Pompanga, and on the beach, San
Fernando La Union on Lingayen Gulf. During May, 1942,
he was at the permanent camp at the g2nd Garage Area
on Corregidor; from June tc Oct, , 1942, at Cabanatuan
Camp No. 1l; at Davao Penal Colony, from November 1,42
until June 1944; at an isolated area adjacent to the main
Cabanatuan Camp * in June and July of 1944; Bilibid
srison October to Dec. 1944, Fukioka on Kyushu from

January 1945 until April 1945, and in Jinsen, Lorea, fro m

April until September 9 1945.

The prison ships that he was on was the krie
Maru, from Manila to Davao, Oc.ober, 1742; two vessels,
whose names were unknown, which brought them back to
Wanila in June of 1944; the Oryoku Liaru in December,
19443 the Brazil Maru, from San i‘ernando La Urdon to
Takao harbor, during December and January of 1944 and
1945; and the Enoura liaru during January 1945.

The Oryoku Maru was bombed by American planes
on December 14 and 15, 1945. After 1t was bombed the
second time they were given orders to evacuate the ship.

* The Enoura Maru was also oombed while 1in the
harbor at Formosa. When he was first taken prisoner,
they were kept 1ln the area known as the 92nd Garage.

The place was terribly crowded, and they had to sleep in
shifts. There was no protection from the sun or rain,
except some tar paper shacks which the men had built from
materials on hand. Sanitary conditions were bad and the
place swarmed with Tlies; the men were fighting them all
day long. There was one water tap which gave a small
trickle of salty, unpalatable water.
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* The food was inadeguate and there were no
medicines. Corregidor had been prepared for a long r
siege, and there were a great deal of supplies there. i
The Japanese used work details from the PO¥is, with as
high as 2,000 men per day to carry these supplies on

Japanese vessels sailing for the China Gea.

The witness and others were moved out of
Corregidor on May 24, 1942. They were marched down to
the pier area and loaded aboard three transports, 1ich
were very crowded. ilhile aboard these transports tiey
received no food or water. They headed out about ten
a. m. and went to a point called Paranaque * and dis-
embarked there. The actual trip took about two hours.
They arrived the next day about 8 in the morning. They
were taken ashore in invasion barges, dumped into the
water up to their shoulders, and assembled on the shore.
They were kept there for several hours, until the hot
part of the day arrived, and then were marched through
the main thoroughfares of Manila, the streets of which
were lined with thousands of Filipinos. lkany of the
latter tried to give aid, but were beaten for trying
to help. There were many Japanese Army and civilian
personnel witnessing the march. <{he procession ended
at 01d Bilibid Prison, in the commercial section of
Manila.

* It is about 7 miles from Paranaque TO 0ld
Bi1ibid Prison. The prison had been in the Philippines
before the war, and the witness was familiar with the
area. Manila is a large port, and there were several
piers available. It is a mile from the pier to the
prison.

* The Davao Penal Colony, before and during
the war, contained about 2,000 Filipino convicts. The
POWs were assigned to one of the areas, and approximately
2,000 men lived in the barracks. oSanitary facilitles
were rather poor, but better than before. Water was
plentiful, but food was inadequate. Illany men were
beaten. On several occasions, about 600 Americans were
mass punished for the escape of ten men. Ihis consisted
» of tzking them and putting them intoc a smaller compound,
where they slept in cages of about 5 by 3 by 3 feet,
made of wood and wire.
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* One man was regquired to sleep in each cage,
and this phase of the mass punishment lasted two months.
These cages were bed bug incubators. A tall man coula
not streteh out, but had to draw up hils legs. The cage.
were piled one above the other, in double tier effect.
While undergoing this punishment, food was considerably
less than in the main camp. Tre maln camp placed them
on onerous work details, and they were beaten without
provocation. The witness himself was beaten on several
occasions., and they were told that this was part oi the
punishment.

* After the escape of the ten men, the group
had waited seven days for their punishment. The 600
men to be punished were assembled, and the commanding
officer, a major, announced that he had recelved
notification of the punishment to bLe imposed from the
High Command. He made quite a ceremony of the affair,
and read the sentence from a scroll.

In Davao Camp the witness was adjutant and
work details officer. In April of 1943 the men were
given a form, asking whether they would volunteer for
work. * They received 600 negative answers. The
Japanese returned these reports and stated that the
men would work, and if they did not work they would
be confined in the guardhouse and severely punished until
they volunteered.

The Japanese authorities at the penal colony
ordered a 600 man work detail to puild a military air
field at Lasang. This decision was protested and
signed by the senior POW, a full navy commander, and
it was also signed * by the POW camp commander. Ikils
letter pointed out that work on military installations
was covered by the rules of land warfare, and they
requested that this matter be reconsidered. This letter
was returned after several days with the statement ti.at
it was no good. They sald that the Japanese Government
would live up to such parts of international law as did
not conflict with thelr rules and regulations.

They were moved out of Davao in June, 1944,
loaded aboard trucks, roped together and blindfolded.
They were so crowded that sick men fainted. They had
great difficulty in sinking to the floor of. the truck.
The trip lasted between tnree and four hours, and at no
time did they get off. TWhen they arrived * at the wharf
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they were taken off the truck, the ropes taken ofl and
the blindfolds remcved. While there he saw a large
automobile, driven by generals in the Japanese ATIMY .
These generals appeared to be quite amused. The Comman
ing Officer of the camp came to the witness and Colonel
Olsen and apolcgized for the drastic measures used in
transporting, and stated he was merely following orders
from higher authorities.

* At the time the Oryoku Maru was bombed, 1t
was absolutely unmarked, and was heavily gunned with
adequate gun crews. When they boarded the boat there
were approximately 1650 POWs, but when the planes started
to bomb about 30 or 40 had already died. The planes
picked up the ship at 8 a. m., and bombed and strafed
until 4.30. * It was obvious that the boat could not
continue its voyage, and the Japanese had already
evacuated some civilians., In the hold, the POWs were
informed that they would have to swim for shore. They
were ordered not to take their shoes and to strip down
as much as possible. They ascended the ladders, and
some were permitted to go to one of the lower levels and
jump overboard. * OUthers were forced to Jjump right
where they were, a distance of 18 feet. The Japanese
guards on board were trigger-ha. py, and several people
were shot while on board. Machine guns were lined up
on the shore, which opened up on men on improvised
rafts. As he 'swam in, he .assed several men whom he
knew. Japanese machine guns opened {ire on these men,
killing three of them. The other two managed to swim
ashore, but subsequently diled.

This voyage was the worst experience * that
he ever had as a prisoner. The men were jammed into the
hold of the ship and were so crowded that sitting down
was absolutely impossible. Men had tc be beaten down
into the hold. They had allocated so many men, about
700, and they had to get down if they had to walk down
on someone else's back. It was terribly hot, and the
heat was increased when they closed the hatches on
several occasions. It got as high as 120 degrees in
the hold. From December 13 to 15, they received only
one issue of rice, and one small issue of water. There
were only four buckets for latrine purposes for /0C men,
and permission to empty these buckels was refused. Ihe
odor was terrific. Due to the terrific heat, men dehy-
drated very quickly and had to drink the water in
quantities. Many intended to conserve it oput were forced
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to drink 1%, so that by the first evening few men had
any water ieft. The water consisted of a canteen cup pe:
bay. The ship was divided into bays, so many men to a
bay. In the witness' bay they had 37 men. The combing
tion of heat, dehydration, and the terrible condition.:,

* drove many of the men out of their minds. Some of
them drank urine, and others slashed their wrists and
others to drink the blood. It was quite a clamor in the
hold, and the Japanese closed the hatches as a dic~ip-
linary measure, shutting off all air.

#hen they started out they had 1650 mern. and at
roll call when they arrived there were a 1liltlz over 1300
men. The death of the others was caused by suffocation,
indiscriminate sh oting, and the bombing. More deaths
were atiributable to conditions aboard the boat than for
any other reason. * At least 70 were wounded or injured.
The Japanese gave no hospital treatment. 4 certain
marine corporal got a machine gun slug in his arm.
Gangrene set in and it swelled up. The American doctors
repeatedly asked for permission to send this man and
other injured men to some point where they could receive
hospitalization. A medical officer, seeing that permission
would not be granted, had to amputate the man's arm
without anasthetics and with the crudest surgical instru-
ments, the man dying about three davs later.

* After the men got ashore they were rounded
up into a tennis court, all 1300, and placed in this area
and told tc do the best they could. This was an outdoor
court with backboard and netting, and no roofing. Lhey
stayed there six days. They divided themselves into
squads of 70 men, in files, for space purpcses, about two
feet apart. * There were no overhanging trees, and no
beds or nets. The first two days there was nothing issued
in the way of food. * On the third day and each day
thereafter they received onemess kit spoonful of uncsoked
rice. On the third day, an officer who had been assigned

at the penal colony, came up to Olangapo. ke was in
General KUO's office. This officer sent for Colonel
Olsen and the witness, who told him about the conditions
aboard the ship. He saw that they iad no clothing and

no protection. and had had no cooked food since

December 13. They asked him to bring this to the attention
of the higher authorities. He promised to do this, bout
conditions did not change in the slightest.
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12700 * There were 1300 survivors ol the bombing
of the Enoura Maru. Apbout 300 men were killed outright
12701 on the bombing at Takao Harbor. * At the time of the
air bombing, this boat was unmarked and armed, On no
| Japanese ship that he had been on were the boats markco
: to show that it was carrying POWs. This boat had
several anti-aireraft guns, and they were used in
connection with the bombing. Of the 1600 to 1650 PUWS
on the Aryoku Maru, 450 reached Moji.

' With respect to the Bilibid Prison march,
Parangue is not a port of debarkation for the army
12702 It did not have any pier or wharf of any kind. * They
disembarked in assault boats. They had to pass through
Dewey Boulevard, one of the main thoroughfares, down
Taft Avenue, and through the commercial section

CROSS-EXALINATION by Mr. Logan.

12703 * The witness stated that at the time of
capitulation he was a major. He stated it was correct
to say that on capitulation, American food was placed on
Japanese ships and taken across the China oea.

People on sataan had been much worse off than

those on Corregidor. The plan for the lattier was to hold

‘ out an additional 90 days after the fall of Bataan, and
there was a reserve of food not to be touched under any
circumstances. There was much food on Corregidor. They
had gone on two light meals. Corregidor had a 90 day
ration in slore to be used at the same rate as these two
meals a day. This would keep 10,000 men from starving
to death.

When he first was in Bilibid Prison it was quite
crowded. The witness stated he did not know #ho bdullt
12705 the cages at Davao Penal Colony. * Vhen they first got
to Davao it was not too crowded because about 600 men were
immediately sent to the hospital area. Subsequently many
of these were driven back to the main part of thne camp so,
that they could work. He knew nothing about these cages -
before because he had never been in the area Defore. ue
did not think that they had been constructed especially
for the 600 men placed in them. He did not think that
they were used for sleeping purposes for men due to over-
crowded conditions. There were other available structures
in which the men could have been billeted.
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* This area had been used when the penal colony
was in operation for incorrigibles. There were three
rows of barbed wire around the compound, with flood 1lig =3
shining at all times. Filipino convicts could have bee
confined there as a disciplinary measure.

* The witness stated he spoke Japanese very
slightly. In 1942 he could count and name work details.
He had to do this, since the majority of the Japan-ie
guards did not speak English. wnen tne ma)or read che
notification of punishment he spoke in Japanese. he
could speak practically no kEnglish. ke read it from a
scroll. There was an interpreter there. The word
"Higl Command" was one of their favorite expressions.
They used it on many occasions, and specifically when
they read the punishment. * These were the words used
by the interpreter, and of course he did now know what
the Japanese words were. 7lhen he was told that they
would not live up to the regulations of the rules of
land warfare, the statement was oral through an inter-
vreter. The witness himself.had not seen any orders
from higher authorities, and did not know whether they
actually had any.

* liajor TAKASAKRI, of the wharf{ incident, could
speak English. The witness knew unquestionably that
there was a generali present at the time. Most camps had
protested about beatings and food, and instead of getting
better things usually got worse. He could recall one
speclfic instance when they got better. In this instance

a guard was punished for mistreating Awerican soldiers.

* When asked whether the Japanese were not
caught unexpectedly in not having enough facilities to
take care of the mcn after the ship was bowbed, the
witness stated that they landed at the Olangapo Naval |
Reservation, which was a permanent station used by the
U. S. Navy for many years. There were hospital facilities
and cocking facilities. If ever a place was designed to
take care of unexpected guests, this was the place.

When asked whether the place was crowded, he said there
were a couple of hundred marines manning gun positions
around the tennis court, but no large concentration of

troops, and no other prisoners of war.
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CROS3-EXAMINATION by Mr. OKAMOTO.
12711 *When the 600 prisoners at Davao refused to
volunteer for work, they did it as a group. They did
not have a mutual agreement, but they were rather happy.
to have the opportunity of expressing their desires, and
they unanimously decided not to volunteer for work. This
was not done through a representative, put by each man
writing "No" in a series of printed lorums.
' 12712 * On the Oryo.o Maru there were many Japanese

civilian evacuees, women and children. lhe civilians
were first evacuated--he did not know in what order.
They were evacuated about two o'clock in the morning,
December 15. He would not say that the lifeboats became
unavailable later because they had been used for the
12713 women and children. * They could hear sounds of launches
approaching the boat at that time, but he could not say
whether the launches supplemented the lifeboats.

The boat did not sink, and it was subsequently
bombed when the prisoners had been removed, but was in
no danger of sinking at the time of evacuation. As for
food, the total ration that they were allowed daily at
Olangapo after the third day, was one tablespoon full of
uncooked rice. The Naval Reserve at Olangapo was
garrisoned by Japanese troops, and there were billeting

’ 12714 facilities. * At the most, the distance from Manila to
Olangapo was a five hour ride. American planes were
bombing during the day in the area, but convoys can run
at night and one truckload of supplies would have helped
immeasurably.

He considered it natural that Lieutenant Unl
was delayed in reaching Olongapo on the third day, since
he did not believe that the Japanese authorities were

12715 very much concerned aboutl POW welfare. * Lieutenant Unl
was well thought of in comparison with others.

The time between the bombing of the Oryoku karu
and the evacuation of the ship was about 40 minutes.
They had left Manila about two o'clock in the morning
on the 14th. and they evacuated the ship about ten
o'eclock on the morning of the 15th.
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* The heat in this shio was so terrific Lhat
men began to pass out within ten minutes af ter they
were jammed into the holds. The slashing of wrists and
the drinking of urine occurred the morning of the l4th
and the night and morning of the 15th.

CROSS-EXALINATION by Mr. sSrooks.

At Davao the men were building a runway on a
military airfield located nesr Lasang. * He did not know
whetker this airlield had been used prior to the war. ue
knew nothing of the ares prior to his arriving there as
a prisoner.

according to tl e rules of land warfare, the
shins transporting POWs should have been marked with a
red cross or some appropriate mark indicating it was
carrying POWs. 1In addition to the FOils it had approx-
imately 1,000 Japrnese civilians. hen they came into
Manila Bay there were spaces available to dock a ship
in the port area. * Some other vessels had already
tied up at some of the piers. He did not reuember ever
seelng any vessels entering or leaving the area. Ihe men
were landed in barges, and they could have been landed in
barges near the pier; there was no need to take the
roundabout way.

* The Japanese occupied lianila on January 2.
By NMay 24 1t i1s logical to assume that if there were
any mines they would have been removed. Jhile a prilsoner
in the Philippines, he could recall four inspections.
The first was by’ General MURINMOTO, consisting of riding
through the camp at Cabanatuan on a horse, taking about
ten minutes, At that time dead bodies were laylng in
the latrine areas. He was a major-general in the army
and in charge of prison installations in the hilippines.
* There had been complaints prior to this inspection
about food, water, and sanitary conditions, and every
other phase.

Abk-DIRECT CZXANINATION by Mr. Lopez

* The witness stated that out o1 the 1650 who
started on the trip to Japan on the Oryoku Maru, about
450 arrived in Mojl on January 30, 1945, Of this 450,
approximately 200 conservatively died within two months
after arriving in Japan.
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5xhibit 1456, affidavit of Major Charles Thomas
Brown, stated * that he was a docter, having begun to
practice medicine in 1933 and he went on active duty
with the U.S. Army Medical Corps in 1934. =* (On June 19,
1942 the Japanese ordered the senior medical officer at
Bi1libid Prison to furnish two medical cofficers ang four
corpsmen. The witness volunteered for the detail,
Thirty dying Americans had been brought to the hospital
and the witness was told that cther men were dying and
that they needed medical help. On the morning of June 20
the witness, another doctor and the corpsmen were taken
to Calauvag, south of Luzon, arriving at night. They found
about 300 American troops in the most pitiful condition,
three already dead and the living suffering from malaria,
dysentery and malnutrition,

The Japanese furnished no medical supplies and
the only medicine they had was a small field pouch they
brought. The Jaranese promised medicine later. These
men had been there for about three weeks, picked at ran-
dom from the survivors of the death march. They were in
* bad condition when they were taken from Camp 0'Donnell,
They had been removed to build a road through an impenetrable
Jungle. Already thirty had died and the survivors were
drinking filthy water and living in the open. They were
forced tc work from daylight to dark with disease, without
clothing, covering or shoes, with only a wheel barrow,
pick and shovel. Men were frequently beaten and those
too weak to work were beaten and prodded. This had been
going on for three weeks,

The other doctor asked to be allowed to have a
free hand and the dying men be allowed to rest and asked
for supplies. The witness also interceded. The food might
be considered sufficient * but due to disease, men were
unable to eat. The food was captured American canned goods.
Later the fcod began to run out and at the end there was
only rice, There were no cooking facilities and all food
was prepared In a wheal barrow, During the next three
weeks the death rate was three to four per day.,

The men were buried with their bodies strirped
of clething for benefit of the living. An accurate list
of dead was kept. Conditions became worse and it was im-
possible to maintain sanitary conditions. The Japanese
guards had tents or barracks. At the end of June, Japanese
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medics inspected the work camp, but did nothing except

12,729 promise aid. * During the witness's period fifty men
died. Many could have been saved with medical supplies
and improved conditicns.,

12,730 * Exhibit 1457, JAG report No. 210, stated that
in the first week of June 1944, 1,200 to 1,500 American
POW's were taken by truck from Davao Fenal Colony to Davao
City. The men were tied together and blindfolded. Many
sick and amputees had to stand during the trip. If men

“" were suspected of peeking they were struck. Many suffered

12,731 from beri-beri,* some men fainted and were held up conly
by the ropes. Men were put on the boat during the latter
part of the trip and the prisoners were required tc stay
in the hold. They could not lie down and had to sleep
in shifts. The only latrine facilities were scme five gallon
cans. The men often hasd to rellieve themselves bofore the
cans were available. Hatches were kept almcst completely
covered, Water was always insufficient and not ccmpletely
distilled. Temperature was 120 to 125 degrees. Food con-
sisted of a small amount of rice and thin soup, the latter
was often made from spolled meat. After the escape of two
officers the rations were decreased until Americans were
receiving one-sixth of that gotten by the Japzanese.

Exhibit 1458, JAG report No. 76, stated the

' 12,732 cells at Bilibid Prison were * overcrowded and sanitation
facilities were non-existent., The regular diet was a
maximum of 7C0 to €00 calories per day and during the
worst perinds, FOW's received only twoc meals a day cone-
sisting of + cup of rice. The fcod actually issued was
often contaminated, resulting in dysentery, diarrhea &and
beri-beri. American POW's often * ate garbage from scrap
cans and pig troughs. The medical director was arparently
responsible.

American prisoners were beaten with sticks and
baseball bats, often to insensibility. Men were hung
from the wrists for long periods of time. Three thousand
slept on concrete flcors without bedding or nets. They
had only three showers. When in 1942 a POW escaped, 145
were placed cn a diet of straight rice for three months.
On October 11 and 12, 1944, 1,200 were taken from the pris:n
to the dock area in Manila Bay, then subjected to Allied
bombing. On June 19, 1942 the Japanese ccnfiscated all
quinine and medicine brought by the FOW's. Conflscated
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Red Cross supplies were stored * in YAMASHITA's head-
quarters in Manila, There were more than 1,000,

£xhibit 1459, JAG report No. 99 on conditions
at Cabanatuan Cmap, stated living conditions were poor
and sanitary facilities inadequate. Rcofs were wooden
frames covered with grass and no supplies were provided
for making repairs. * Seven were corwded into space
7 x 10 feet, sleeping on bamboo platform tiers, in some
cases without blankets. No clothing was provided and
extras were taken away. Latrines were slit trenches
close to the buildings and flies swarmed around them
and into the living quarters and mess halls.

Medical supplies were lacking entirely or pro-
vided in such small amounts as toc be of no value. There
was enough quinine for only ten percent of the patients,
Antiseptics were inadequate as were sulfa drugs. On the
other hand Japznese hospltal patients had beds with
innerspring mattresses, linen, blankets and mosquito
bars. The Japanese refused to release adrenalin, although
there was sufficient for both the Japanese and FOW's,
Medical supplies from the Gripsholm were unloaded by FOW's
and taken to the Jaranese warehouse * where these large
supplies were seen by the POVW's, but the Japanese refused
to release adequate amounts for PCW treatment,

Despite their weakened condition and bad medical
treatment, the POW's were forced to do heavy work and
beaten if they collapsed. They were forced to work on
military installations such as runweys and foxholes. The
POVi's also had tc submit to medical experiments., To pre-
vent escape the POW's were forced to sign pledges not tc
escape. The squad system of punishment was used, whereby
the FOW's were divided into squads of ten and told that
if any FOW escaped and was not caught, the remaining men
would be executed, while if he were caught, he alone would
be executed,

* There were innumerzble beatings and tortures
for minor matters such as a prisoner joining the wrcng
group at the noon bell. Americans were forced to slap
other Americans and if they were not sufficiently hard, they
were required to repeat it., At other times the FOW's were
praired off and forced to slap each other. If the Americans
attempted tc get food from the Filipinos, they were shot,

i
*
&
|
|
l
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DIRECT EXAMINATICN CF GUY H. STUBBS,
by Mr. Lopez

* The witness stated he was a Colonel in the
Coast Artillery Corps of the U.S. Army and lived in
Peachbottom, Pennsylvania. He joined the Army in August
1919 and he was with the American force that surrendered
at Bataan in April 1942, He was then on the staff of
General King, commanding the Bataan force as Coast
Artillery and anti-aircraft officer., * Prior to the
surrender Japanese planes were overhead the whole day
and sometimes at night and bombed and strafed and on
occasions dropped leaflets and newspapers. The leaflets
were called surrender passes, being written both in
Japanese and English, the English promising humane and
honorable treatment if the group would surrender.

About March 15, 1942, personal messages to
General Wainwright were dropred, promising humane and
honorable treatment in case of surrender. Each evening
there was a radio program frocm the Japanese to the men
on Bataan, * which likewise offered humane and honorable
treatment in case of surrender. All promises were made
in the name of the Imperial High Command. At the time
of the surrender he was at General King's headquarters,

Prior to the surrender General King had ordered
all passenger vehicles ard sufficient gasoline be surrendered
intact so that the men could be carried to the concentra-
tion camp. The order evidently reached the majority of
troops because practically all passenger vehicles were
surrendered without belng destroyed. Approximately
* 11,000 men surrendered.

The witness took part in the death march and
among the many incidents he saw were men shot and bayonet-
ted when they were unable to continue. He also saw the
Jaranese guards start to bury five Filipino soldiers in
uniform alive after thrcowing them into a latrine. He saw
a Fillipino spread-eagled staked on the ground and he 1is
sure that his hip joints were dislocated. He was being
punished for wearing a Japanese helmet, * The men who
were bayonetted were simply so weak they could not keep
up with the marches, but many knowing what would happen
if they fell, continued until unconscious. One man struck
back when a guard slapped him. He was killed.
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The witness stated he was confined to six
non-permanent camps--Orani, Lubao, San Fernando, Pam-
panga, Cabanatuan Town, all on Luzon; Fort San Pedro in
Cebu and the horse stables in Moji, Japan. He was also
in six permanent camps--Camp O'Donnell, Cabanatuan Camp
No. 1, Bilibid Penitentiary, Davac Penal Colony, Yokka-
ichi, Toyama, * He was in Camp 0'Donnell from April
20 to June 1, 1942; Cabanatuan Camp No. 1 from June 2
to October 26, 19423 Bilibid Prison for a day and a half
in 1942 and five days in 1944; Davao Penal Colony from
November &, 1942 to June 6, 1944 Yokkaichi from Septem-
ber 4, 1944 to June 1 1945- and Toyama from June 2,
1945 until September 6, 1945. He had been in four
prison ships, He went from Manila to Davao in 1942 on
the Erie Maru; from June é to the 10th in 1944 he went
on an unnamed ship to Cebu and went from Cebu to Manila
in another unnamed ship. From Manila to MoJji on a
Canadian steamship, * the trip taking 61 days.

At Camp O'Donnell the witness was assistant
to General Bleumel who commanded part of the air corps
group. He became group commander when the generals were
segregated., After that he was marked as commanding
officer of prisoners. He tried to get away from this
but couldn't., He commanded the first 1,500 POW's moved
from O'Donnell to Cabanatuan, and at the latter place
he commanded a group of 2,50C., At Davao he did all
kinds of administrative work. He commanded a company
of 200 on the move to Manila end was in command of a
detail of 1,024, being moved to Japan and while they
were in Japan.

* While he was commander at O'Donnell for
three weeks about 16 percent of the Americans died then
and during the first five or six weeks. When he left
O'Donnell they had buried over 1,500. When he left
Cabanatuan about 22 percent of the 2,000 had died * out
of approximately 9,000 there at onetime or another.

At that time they were receiving 350 grams
per man per day of bad rice with all kinds of sweepings
from the warehouse floor. They also received about
30 grams of vegetables, which was frequently kangkong
which has no food value. About twice a month they re-
ceived a small issue of meat and on cne occasion they
had chicken and eggs, * which consisted of three small
chickens and 11 or 12 eggs for each 500 men. Pictures
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were taken of this. At O0'Donnell they received about
300 grams of rice per day with the same quantity of
vegetables. At O'Donnell men had to stand in 1ine for
nours for a drink of water. 1n Cabanatuan NO. 1 the
witness made dally protests, but with no results. The
camp commander was an errand boy for every Japaneseo.

He had toO wrangle continually * about conditions and
abuses. Ie frequently was slapped or peaten for pro-
testing. When the witness complained about food he was
told that it was not svailable Through an underground
he learned from the Filiplnos that they would be glad
to sell food 1n exchange for an order on the D.85. LfOF
payment 1ater., The camp WasS located in central Luzon,
the granary of the Philippines. There were large herds
of cattle to the north and the owner of these contacted
the witness 1n regard to selling in exchange for an
order on the U.S. The witness told the commander that
ne could get food if he were allowed to visit * the
ranches. They refused to let him contact the pecple.

At this time the Japanese had a1l the fresh meat, chickens,
eggs and drinks they could use. He frequently saw them
eating and they saw the supplies in large quantities
being taken into Japanese mesSS halls., Trucks came in
daily and most of the food was 10cal products. * They
used American kitchen police and these men would fre-
quently spneak out left-overs from the Japanese mess con=
sisting mostly of rice, but frequently =EES and meat.

*# As each ErOuf entered Camp O0'Donnell 1t was
addressed by the Camp CommanderT who told them that they
were not POW'S, put would be treated as eriminal captlveso
He stated that he would entertain no protests and he
wanted only & daily report on how many died s© he could
keep his records straight., He didn't care how many died.

At first the food gsjtuation at Davao WwWas much
the best, but 1t later deteriorated.

The prison ships were all * terribly crowded
and food was inadequate. The water retion was about
25 opunces per manh per day. The men were forbidden to
brush thelr teeth or wash. This prmhih1t1cn was true
at Camp 0'Donnell and for two months at cabanatuan NO. 1o




NARRATIVE SUMMARY OF THE RECORD Page 2011
(December 13, 1946)
(B & C Offenses--Philippines)

Page

CRCSS-EXAMIH&TION BY MR. BLEWETT,
counsel for TCJO

The witness stated that just before the sur-
render in Bataan food and medical supplies were extremely
12,754 low and the men were all in bad condition. * The witness
had no idea of who gave the orders for the death march
or under what circumstances it was arranged. Just sub-
sequent to the surrender the Japanese were all apparently
. well under ~ontrol and had & similar method of treating

march came from the high command in the rhilippines.

The Japanese were so secretive that they always used

the term Imperial High Command. general King surrendered

12,759 *« to a Japanese general 1n command of tanks who later
took over general nospital number one. He stated thatl
they would be sent to a concentration campe General
Arnold Funk was the senior offlcer on the tripe The
staff of the U.S. Army rode in passenger cars and started

The witness's car broke down after two miles
and then Wwas taken away. The witness walked the rest of
12,756 the way except for & short ride in a truck. * As to
the other cars, they were used all over Bataan by Japan=
ese for hauling thelr equipment and paraonnal, both dur=
' ing the death march and later. SO far as the witness
knew only five cars were used for transporting Americans
in any way. 1The others were used for everything else.
There seemed to be no Japanese officer in charge of the
witness's contingent on the march. They were herded
along the road with a change of guard every five miles.

12,757 The size of the Japanese force which landed

on lLuzon was approximataly 85,000, The guards weTre

equipped as infantry men, put he did not know what in-

gignia they wore. The officer in charge of O0'Donnell
was & captaln who was said to nave been sent there
lpacifically to take charge of POW's who might surrendeTr.
The witness stated they were told that this man was army
put the witness S&w him only con the occasion of his
initial speech.

12,756 ¢« VWhile he was in 0'Dponnell he protested to
general King, put only one American was allowed %O
approach Japanese headquarters. He tried to convey the
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protest but was told the Americans were not to protest
about anything. At first the camp was in command of
Major MAIDA and he wzs later relileved by Major TAKASAKI.
Both were army officers. At 0'Donnell and Cabanatuan
No. 1, the guards were army men. Later men were brought
in who were said to be Formosans and were trained at Ca-
banatuan No. 1. * Key men of the guard continued to

be Jaranese. To hils knowledge the guard did not con-
sist of military police, although the Formosans were
stated not to be in the Army, but tc be a civilian guard.
They were equipped identically with the army and had
machineguns. They were soldiers. As part of their
training they went on raids against the guerrillas. On
three occasions the witness saw general officers, but
none spoke to him and only one occasions did they speak
to any prisoner.

+ Cabanatuan No. 1, General MORIMOTO asked
the colonel in command on the conditions of his men. When
he was told they were weak MORIMOTO sald they needed
exercise and said they should be run on the road. Other
than these three the highest Japanese officer whom the
witness saw and whom he spoke to were Lieutenant Colonels.
Before MCRIMCTO inspected Cabanatuan No. 1, the PCW's
were told to clean up the camp and they were given an
:ssue of meat. He only rode through the camp and went
away. A Japanese sergeant later told the witness that they
had been criticized for giving the POW's meat and he did
not want to see such a thing again., On later inspections
the POW's got no better or worse food than ordinary.
* The inspecting officer spent very little time inspec-
ting, although they spent considerable time in the camp
commander's office or quarters eating and drinking.

CROSS-EXAMINATICN BY MR. SHIMANCUCHI

* The witness stated that in one way or another
all 11,000 men who surrendered were in the death march.
He did not know how many motor vehicles there were at the
time of the surrender. Many had been destroyed just
prior to the surrender. He did not know how many there
were in the first place. There were, however, sufficient
to have trensported all the men * 1n relays. These vé&-
hicles were all over Bataan due to the considerable con=
fusion as the troops fell back. However, the U.S. only
occupied the very southern tip on the east coast with a
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total depth in area of nct over four or five miles.

The west coast had not been attacked. Practically

all gasoline had been issued and was with the vehicles.
The U.S. army issued orders to hand over vehicles and
gasoline * possibly six tc seven hours before surrender.
At the time of surrender he was at headquarters and the
time was about 10 or 11 o'clock in the morning. The

order to surrender the vehicles and not to destroy them was
probably given around *midnight. Most of the other equip-
ment was destroyed just before the surrender but not the
gasoline and cars. The witness saw the latter used not
cnly just after the surrender, but all the time while he
was in the Philippines. After the surrender headquarters
personnel remained in camp under Jaranese guard until

the next morning when they were taken to the general
hospital and fcrmally surrendered to a Jaranese general.

* During internment they were usually able to see cut-
side through barbed wire. Headquarters was not located
near the airfield, being 10 and 6 kilometers from the

two airfields.,

At the time of surrender the Americans had
three-fourths of a ration for each man. * These reports
were based on the one-half ration which had been issued
since January €, As to the food supply he knew nothing
except the official reports. There may have been some
unreported food. The witness himself was ncot in the
supply department and cnly knew about the matter from
general infcermation.

With respect to the particular soldier killed
about whom the witness testified, the witness stated the
incident took place between Orian and Orani in eastern .
Bataan at night. He is not positive of the exact loca-
tion. * There were 6 or 8 Japsnese in the neighborhcod
at the time with no more than 10 POV's. As to the prison
ships there were some few Japanese and possibly 100
Filipinos on the Erie Maru. They were not crowded, al-
though they did not have first class passage. On the
cther rrison ships he never saw Jaranese other than the
guards or crew. '

* Hospital No., 1 was within several kilometers
of headquarters and he went there to surrender to the
Jaranese general., There were military installations all
over southern Bataan due to the small available area and
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mény were near headyuarters, some within 500 meters cof
the hospital. Part cf the hospital was tve sterics.

The rest consisted of one-stery buildings, sheds and
tents and some of the men were cutside.

RE~DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. LOPEZ

* The witness stated that 0'Donnell men had
to stand in line for hours to get a drink of water. The
* conditions where the witness was were probably worse
than anywhere else in 0'Donnell. They had to keep an
officer c¢r duty at each hydrant to maintain order in the
line. * The witness stated that the only time he ever

saw prisoners given any semblance of a trial before punish-

ment was at Cabanatuan, In many cases they were beaten,
tortured or executed without a hearing. Six had been
caught inside the fence with food brcught from the out-

silde. Theyadmitted that they had gone outside and returnec

with the food. They were brutally beaten and tied to a
fen-e for the night and part of the day. They were then
marched up the rczd with their hands tied behind them and

brought intc a rocom at guard headquarters, There appeared

tc be a ccurt consisting of a few officers and several
ncn=-coms., The prilsoners were stocd up against the wall
of the rocom ani could not say a word. They were not
represented by any counsel. A half hour after the court
adjournsd they were shot,

RE-CRCSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BRCCKS

The witness stated that the soldiers and offi-
cers had canteens to carry water, At that time he never
saw any halyzon tablets and the only available substance
for that uce was the chlorinating capsules used in lister
bags. * f‘hese capsules had the same effect as halyzon
tablets., These tablets were issued only to units in
general to the mess., For isolated detalls these were

issued individually, but the individual officer or soldier

did not carry them except in rare cases., tie only knew of
one man who had such a capsule on the death march and he
himself had nocne.

Exhibit 1460, JAG report No. 207, stated * in
May 1942, 200 U.S. POW's were brought to Gapan and stayed
there two months during which 37 died. They were sick

when they arrived from many diseases., The Japanese became
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alarmed and called in a Filipino doctor but told him

not to use medicine useful to the army or to civilians,
He used medicine of his own. * When the Americans im-
proved he could not give further aid. The prisconers were
poorly clothed, underfed and the natives were prevented
from aiding them and were punished when they gave them
food or cigarettes. The Japanese had meat and eges and
gave the Americans only what was left. Some of the

POW's worked at the garrison and were mistreated if they
rested or asked for food.

Others worked at Gapan Bridge on difficult
duties. They hauled gravel, stone and sand for road and
bridge rerair. Some of them had to dig canals. Prisoners
were beaten when unable to work. All witnesses agreed
that the work was too strenuous for men in their condi-
tion, Ofen priests could not visit the dying prisoners.

Exhibit 1461, JAG report No. 72, stated that in
March 1945 two American captured fliers * were confined
Cebu Normal School. On March 26 they were tsken outside
to a place where a foxhole had been dug and forced to
kneel at the edge with heads bent forward while a Jaranese
sergeant hit them across the back of the neck. When they
fell into the foxhole an officer fired a number of shots
into their bodies.

Exhibit 1462-A, a captured booklet entitled
"Japanese Instructions on How to Interrogate," stated as
to measures * to be normally adopted they were common
torture, embracing, beating and kicking and physical
torture. This is most clumsy and is toc be used when all
else fails, When violent torture is used, interrogation
officers should be changed and it would be beneficial
if a new one questions sympathetically. * It is recom-
mended to use threats such as murder, torture, starving,
deprivation of sleep and solitary confinement. Also
threaten mental discomforts such as not receilving the same
treatment as other POW's, being kept until the last on ex-
change of POW's, of being forbidden to send letters or to
inform home he is a POW.

Exhibit 1463, a mimeographed manual entitled
"Reference on Detection and Disposal of Land Mines," issued
in 1943 by the Japanese army engineers school. 1t would
be advantageous if POW's and natives could be sent ahead as
a precautionary measure,

e 2 e
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Exhibit 1464, instructions issued by the command=-
ing general of the 1l6éth Division, stated * that FOW's will
be killed on the battle field. Those who will surrender

and are of bad character will be killed secretly and
counted as abandoned corpses. By POW's is meant soldiers
and bandits captured in the battlefield; by surrender is
meant those who surrender priocr to battle. POW's should

be interrogated on the battlefield and then killed immed-
lately, excepting those from whom further interrogation

is needed. Killing must be carried out cautiously and
circumspectly * without cutside witnesses in a remote place.
Malicious surrenderers will be taken into custody and
after observance of public sentiment will be killed secretly
when they have been forgotten about or under protest of
removal.

Exhibit 1465, instructions April 1944 for treat-
ment of prisconers from the military pclice section of the
16th Division, stated when priscners are taken, those not
worth utilizing shall be disposed of immediately, except
those requiring further detailed interrogation according
to previous orders. Surrenderers found to be malicious
after interrogation on important operational matters will
be lmmediately killed in secret and disposed of so as not
to excite public feeling.

Exhibit 1466, handwritten sheet containing an
account of a vislt to Muntinglupa Prison kept by a member
of an army unit, stated * that he visited this prison on
October 24 with the commander as a guide. There were
242CC prisoners. The food consisted of thick rice gruel
and one or two slices of papaya. Deaths averaged 10 per
day because of lack of foocd. The barracks had a foul
odor. The prisoners were commanded to salute. * The
FOW's thighs and ankles were the same size and walking
seemed to be an ordeal. He had never seen such thin
people and the condition was truly pitiful. There were
dead bocdles inside, which were carried out by the PCW's.
The prison had three barbed wire fonces with the center
one char;ed with electricity. There were guard towers &t
various points. Prisoners worked with iron chains around
thelr legs. The entrance was like an o0ld castle., There
1s a great contrast between inside and ocutside. Visiting
was permitted to mothers and wives at certain hours. They
seem to bring lots of presents. * He wondered how the
families felt when they saw their loved ones. Death alone
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waits for those who have no visitors. The prisoners
are Fillipino and Chinese and some few westerners,

Exhibit 1468, ncte to the Japenese from the
U.S. through Switzerland, December 18, 1941, * stated
that although Japan, a signatory of the Ceneva Prisoner
of War Convention, has not ratified it, the U.S. hopes
that Japan will apply its provisions.

Exhiblt 1469, reply of Japan to the U.S.
through Switzerland, February 4, 1942, stated * that
Japan is strictly observing the Geneva Red Cross Conven-
ticn and while not bound by the convention as to treat-
ment of POW's, she will apply mutatis mutandis provisions
of the convention to American POW's.,

Exhibit 1470, note to the Japanese from the
U.S. through Swiltzerland, February 14, 1942, stated
that the U.S. has received reports that American civilians
in the Philippines occupied by Japan are receiving ex-
tremely rigid and harsh treatment, and the U.S. desires
to receive from Japan assurance either that investigation
has disclosed the incorrectness of the reports or that
immediately effective steps have been taken to remedy
the treatment and to give to Americans moderate treatment
similar to that * given by the U.S. to Japanese nationals.

Exhibit 1471, note of Japan to U.S. February
244 1942 stated that U.S. civilians detalned in Japanese
territories equal 134. Conditions applied to them are
more favorable than required by convention. They can re-
ceive outside gifts of food and clothing. Despite in-
convenience they are specially detained near their
familles so that the latter can see them. Internees
are visited * by doctors and sick persons can consult
outside doctors and obtain admission to hospitals, They
can read papers and books, listen to the radio and go
out subject to restrictions.

Exhibit 1472, communication from Tokyo to the
U.S. February 1942, stated that U.S. apprehensiocns are
based on information from unknown sources and cite no
exact facts and are, therefore, without foundation. The
Japanese will continue to accord facilities to the Swiss
Minister to visit the internment campe.
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Exhibit 1473, communication from the U.S. to
Japan, March 19, 1942, * set forth the rations provided for
each Japanese national detained by the American authorities,
pounds per day per individual and stated that allovance is
made * in the preparaticn of food for Japanese national
and racial preference.

Exhibit 1474, note from the U.S. to Japan,
Arpil 3, 1942, stated that the U.S. noted Japan's statement
on treatment accorded Americans in the Philiprines. * 1t
stated that the principal source of disquiet in connection
with the reports is Japan's apparent reluctance to permit
the arpointment by the International Red Cross of a neutral
observer to act as a delegate in the Philippines.

Exhibit 1475, note of the U.S. to Japan, stated
that the U.S. * must insist on a basis of reciprocity that
Japan take all necessary * steps to insure that the mili-
tary and other authorities 1n outlying areas under Japanese
control understand Japanese commitments on the prisoner of
war convention and apply its provisions to internees.

Exhibit 1476, U.S. note to Japan of November 17,
1942 pointed out repor%s on rapings in the Philippines.

Exhibit 1477, note of the U.S. to Japan of Decem=-
ber 12, 1942, stated that the U.S., had learned of gross
mistreatment suffered by Americans in violation of Japan's
commitments. * It is evident that Japan has failed to ful=-
£i11 its undertaking and that some of its officers and
agencies have violated the principles of the convention,
not only by positive mistreatment but by failure to pro-
vide necessities of life. The U.S. must, therefore, lodge
a most emphatic protest and expects that the inhumane and
uncivilized * treatment will be immediately investigated and
that Japan will give assurance that treatment inconsistent
with the provisions and spirit cof the convention is not now
and will not in the future be inflicted upon Americans. She
also expected Japan * to take necessary disciplinary action
on those responsible. The U.S. then clted reports on a

large number of cases of bad treatment of both civilians
and POW's and stated * that the U.S. expects Japan to take
* immediate steps to fulfill its undertaking to furnish
American nationals with suitable and adequate housing and
sustenance under humane and hygenic conditions.
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12,803 * Bxhibit 1478, note of the U.S. to Japan
April 5, 1943, stated that the U.S. warns Japan that
for any other violations of its undertaking with respect
to American POW's cr for any other acts of criminal
barbarity in viclations of the rules of warfare, the U.S.
government will visit upon the officials of Japan respon-
cible for such uncivilized and inhumane acts the punish-
ment they deserve. y

' Exhibit 1479, undated note of the U.S. to the
Japanese Foreign Office transmitted February 95, 1944,
12,804 listed specific mistreatments and stated * that the great
prevalence of deficiency diseases is due to the caloused
failure of the Japanese to utilize the local products.
12,805 * Responsibility rests directly upon the Japanese author-
jties. It pcinted out that conditions of health of the
POW's in the Fhilippines is deplorable and then went on
to describe particular conditions. 1In Camp O'Donnell
12,806 alone * more than 2,200 Americans and 20,000 Fllipinos
died. Many of these deaths could have been prevented had
Japan provided minimum medical care.

Exhibit 1480, U.S. note to Japan, June 21, 1944,
12,811 stated * that the U.S. hopes that Japan will, without
further delay, enable the Swiss representative to visit
all detained nationals of the U.S. There seems to be no
' reason why Jaran should not permit these visits without
prejudice to its juridical position on the question of
representation of enemy interests,

Exhibit 1481, American note to Japan of Eeptember
12,812 11, 1944 stated * that the U.S. has learned that U.S.
civilians in the Philippines have been removed to Fort
McKinley, where a major ammunition dump is maintalined.

Exhibit 1482, U.S. note to Japan, March 10, 1945,
12,813 stated * further evidence of bad treatment of POV's and
that the U.S. demands that Japan take steps effective to
prevent the continuation in all Japanese POW camps of the
inhumane practices that have disgraced Japan in the

Philippines.,

Exhibit 1483, U.S. note to Japan of April 6, 1945,

12,814 called attention * to further atrocities and stated that the
U.S. demands that Jaran take all steps necessary to prevent

a repetition of such barbarous and arbitrary deeds in utter
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12,815 disregard * of Japan's commitment to apply the humanitar-
lan standards of the POW Convention.

Exhibit 1484, the U.S., note to Japan of May 19,
1945, called attention to a murder committed in Los Banos

Internment Camp,

Exhibit 1485, the U.S. note to Japan of May 19,
1945, related the massacre on December l4, 1944 of 150
12,816 * American POW's at Puerto Princesa, where the POW's were
' 12,817 burned to death with gasoline., * The note concluded with
the statement that such barbaric behaviour by Japan's
armed forces 1s an offense to all civilized people, The
Jaganese government cannot escape responsibility for the
crime,

Exhibit 1486, U.S. note to Japan of June 8, 1945,
12,818 stated * thet should Japan continue to deprive civilians
and POW's of the food necessary to keep them from starva-
tion and maintuining their health, the U.S. declares that
it will held personally and officially responsible for
this crime all the officers of Japan regardless of position
or status, who have participated either through neglect or
from wilful intent and will in due course bring them to
Judgment and will visit upon all such individuals the punish-
ment which 1s their due.

. Exhibit 1487, U,.S. note to Japan, July 31, 1945,
12,819 stated * that as of Juiy 4, 1345, Japanese civilian internees
in the U.S. received daily 4.831 pounds of fcod, represent-
ing 4,100 calories and given a table in welght of pounds
12,820 and in caloric content, * This diet is well balanced.
Japanese FOW's held in the U.S. as of May 3, 1945 received
similar balanced diets,

Exhibit 1488, transcripts of Allied Station Broad-
casts, monitored by Japan's Forelgn Office on POW treatment
12,821 between January 24, 1944 and December 19, 1944, stated * that
during the war enemy radio station broadcasts were regularly
reccrded in the Foreign Office and transcripts were made
and distributed regularly to all sections of the Foreign
Office, the Board of Information and the Navy and War Minis-
ggigs. These transcripts have been on file with the Foreign
ce,

12,822 The first report on January 24, 1944 showed * that
Jaran had heard through BBC that the U.8., had issued an offi-
cial report on Japanese atrocities at Rataan and Corregidor,
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Certain details were contained. On January 29, 1944, they
showed that a broadcast heard from Washington stated that
Secretary Early disclosed that Japan * will not permit the
U.S. to send food, aid or supplies to U.S. POW's. This is
the reason why the U,S. authorized the publication of
Japanese atrocities. This information had been known for
some time but had been withheld while there was any hope
for relief. The time has now ccme to release the reports
which have been investigated and authenticated, because
the U.S. cannot get further relief for her PCW's, Again
on January 29, 1944 they mcnitored a Ssn Franclsco broad=-
cast which stated that Mr. Hull had released a statement on
FOW treatment.

On the same date they heard that British Foreign
Secretary Eden told the Commons that thousands * of prisoners
and internees had died in Japanese priscn camps., He further
stated that British protests had drawn unsatisfactory re-
sults from Japan, Japan was not only viclating internaticnal
law, but all decent, human, civilized conduct., He warned
Japan that these military atrocities will not be forgotten.
On the same date other broadcasts were recorded.

* Hull on the same date said that repeated pro-
tests had been lodged with Tokyo but tc no avail. He said
it was not known what had happened to food and supplies sent
on the Gripsholm. He said efforts would be continued to ob=-
tain releases. The U.S. 1s assembling all possible facts
concerning Japanese treatment of war prisoners and intends
to seek full punishment of the responsible authorities,

On October 23, 1944, General MacArthur's warning
* was monitored. In this warning he stated to the Japanese
military leaders that he would hold the enemy leaders
immediately responsible for the failure to accord prisoners
and internees proper treatment. His message was addressed
to Field Marshal TERAUCHI, Commander in the Philippines.
MacArthur stated that the surrender in the Fhilipplines had
been made with the belief that the men would receive the
dignity, hcocnor and protection of millitary prisoners, There
is now unimpeachable evidence that they have received de-
gradation and brutality.
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DIRECT EXAMINATICN OF SUZUKI, TADAKATSU
by Mr. Lopez

* The witness stated that with certain minor
corrections Exhibit 1489 * was his affidavit. When war
broke out he was Minister to Egypt. He came home to Japan
in August 1942 and in December 1942, was made * Chief of
the Foreign National Section of the Foreign Office, which
Job he held until July 1945, During his incumbency he
was familiar with U.S. notes protesting mistreatment of
PCW's and civilians in the Fhilippines which came through
the Swiss Legation. The notes were received either in
French or English and then translated. A copy of the note
with its Japanese translation was sometimes addressed to
the Minister of Var, the Vice Minister of Var, the Military
Affairs Bureau or the FOW Information Bureau, depending on
the importance and contents of the nocte., They also furnished
coples with translations to the other sections cof the War
Ministry such as the Chief of Military Affairs Bureau and
the Chief of the FOW Information Bureau. The notes when
sent * were accompanied with a covering note, which was
either a simple note or contained comments or recommenda-

tions.

IPS documents 1-B through 10-X were received
by the Foreign Office in the routine procedure of forward-
ing them to the different departments of the government,

CRCSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. LOGAN

The witness stated that he became head of his
Bureau on December 1, 1942, He did not know how the matter
had been handled prior to his becoming head. * As director
of the Bureau in charge of Jaranese Nationals in enemy
countries he handled previous communications according to
the procedure established before his time and, therefore,
is familiar indirectly with that procedure. He took steps
himself to make certain of this matter at the Foreign Cffice.
* However, he could not say which document was sent to
which bureau or section, regardless of whether they were
delivered prior or subsequent to December 1, 1942,

* After receiving the protests translations and
copies were made, Not all notes were sent to the Chief of
the Irisoner of War Information Sureau, The witness deter-
mined where they should be addressed based on the contents
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and the nature and importance of the protest. * How he
sent them was based on the practice used before that time.
In his cffice he had as his colleagues those who were
familiar with the procedure within the Foreign Office and
he had * seen the documents previcusly transmitted.

In 1941 when copies of documents were forwarded
to another department the note was recorded in the Foreign
Office. He had looked up the Foreign Office records at that
time. These records state that copies of documents were
forwarded to other departments. * The witness could not
say positively that these documents could be made available.
He could not state accurately at this time from memory as
to where a particular document was sent. Generally speak-
ing the documents were sent to the Chief * of the IOW In-
formation Bureau., Document 10-N was sent to some other
section. Others may have been sent tc the Vice Minister of
War., Generally with respect to treatment of POW's documents
were sent to the Chief of the POW Information Bureau and a
copy to the Chief cf the Military Affairs Bureau. It was a
matter of custom to send any document relative to general
policy or aims to the Chief of the Military Affairs
Buresu. 1In order to speed up routine business it was re-
quested from the War Office that documents be sent to the
chiefs of the bureaus and sections and not to higher levels.
Therefore, important documents were sent to the Chiefs of
* the POW Information Bureau and the Military Affairs Bureau
except in the case of very important documents. Each set

was addressed separately.,

With respect to the comments and recommendations
he put on * he could not recall each case, but the recommen-
daticns and comments were made with a view to improving the
treatment of FOW's.

Exhibit 1420, statement of Henry Keys, stated * that
he was correspondent for the London Dally Express. He had
come to Manila with the American troops in February 1945 and
entered at Intramuros area with these troops on February 23,
When he crossed the foot bridge * he saw hundreds of refugees
rageed, shell-shocked and wounded. Some had bayonet wounds
and saber cuts., COthers were emaciated and starved. He went
with a lieutenant to the St. Augustine Convent. There were
all kindsof crazy shelters. He looked into one and saw a
dead girl with her feet crushed * and her mouth broken. He
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saw the bcdy of a little boy killed in the act of prayer,
The whole place was but a pile of bodies thrown carelessly
together, There were not encugh medics around to do any=-
thing for these people., He found a Filipino girl whose

12,849 feet had been hacked off by a Jaranese, * The only decent,
whole piece of humanity in the place was a Japanese soldier

12,850 who had been cared for by the nuns. * All the bodies stab-
bed with bayonet wounds were civilians,
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* OPENING STATEMENT OF Nr. Justice Mansfield.

+ Exhipbit No. 1490, statement made DY TOGO that
Japan would observe the Geneva Red CTross Convention, and
would apply mutatis mugandis the provisions of the Geneva
PrisonerT of War Convention of 1929.

Exhibit No. 1491, Japan's undertaking to apaly
reciprocally the POW convention to civilian internees 1in
o far as they were applicable and provided they Were not
made tO work without ¢ eir consent.

Lxhibit No. 1492 is the inquiry by the Swiss on
pehalf of the U. S. a8 to whether *» Japan would give
assurance UO the U. Se which had been ziven toO pritain,
that national and racial customs of the POWs would be
taken into consideratlion.

Exhibit Nc. 1493 is 2 statement by TOGO that
Japan will take into consideration the national and
pacial customs of U. S. wal prisoners and civilians as
to provisions and clothing.

Exhicit No. 1494 is the 1etter from the
Argentine Minister on behalf of gritain of January, 1942,
under taking to observe the International Convention on
Treatment of poWs, and asking if Japan would make 2a
similar jeclaration.

£xhibit No. 1495, 1etter from the Argentine
Minister tO TOGO, January 5, 1942, asking the Japanese
to take into consideration the national and racial
customs of pods on food snd clothing.

» Exhibit No. 1496, letter from TOGU to the
Argentine Hinister of January 27 1942, under taking to
apply the pON Convention of 1929 mutatis mutandis tO
aritish POWs, and to consider tne national ana racial
manners and customs.

DIRECT EXAMINATION of COLIN FLEMING BRIEN,
By ur. Justice Mansfield.

+ The witness stated that he lived in Sydney,
Australia, and in Februaly 1942 was a soldier in tne
A.I.F., serving in Malaya-. Suring that month he wWas
wounded in the fighting on 3ingapore Island, DY shrapnel.
He was wounded oD February 9, and lost contact with his
unit.
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12884 *+ Until the 26th, he wandered seml=consciously
trying to reach Singapore. On the 26th i.c was vuplured
py the Japanese and taken to divisional corps headguarters
on the outskirts of Singapore, where he was interrogated
and quartered. e was given food and water. but his
wounds were not treated. Quite a few Japanese officers,
inecluding senior ones, looked him over, since he was the
only prisoner there. lie never offered any resistance or
violence to the Japanese. at 8 a. m. on Marci. 1 a Japanese
12885 officer * requested the witness to [ollow him. tie had a
pistol and some cord. le took nhim to a track leading into
the jungle, and was accompanied by two or three Japanese
soldiers. They came into a clearing where there was a g
nlatoon of soldiers, about 15 officers, and a grave, with [
a Japanese sword stuck in the earth. He was told he was
going to die, and after being searched was told to sit
with his knees, legs and feet projecting into the grave. P
His hands were tied behind his back. His shirt was .
unbuttoned, exposing the lower part of his neck. iils
head was bent forward, and after a few seconds he felt
12386 a heavy, dull blow on the back of his neck. iie * pretended
to be dead and fell on his slde, and lost consciousness.
when he came to he was at the bottom of the grave, with
wooden pilings and earth over the the grave. ie had a
large wound on the back of his neck and was covered with
blood. His hands were still tied. Lfter an hour he
decided to get out and managed UO dislodge a pile of
. clods from the opening of the grave and crawled througn.
That nicht he mznaged to untie his hands. irie strugglea
into Singapore City after three days, and gave himself
vp to the lzlay Police.

On March 4 he was honded over uo the Japanese,
who interrosrated him and took him ta Changi rOW hospital,
where he remained until June, 194z2. TThereaf ter he was

12887 in various S3ingapore rOVW camps * until relecased in
September, 1945, iie was never charged with any oifense
or given a trial. iie had had a plastic operation
per formed on his wound .

CROSS-bAAMINALION DY ar. slewett,

12888 * The witness stated he knew ol tThe surrender
a few days before I'cl.ruary 6. le had not met any Jap-
anese troops between the 9th and the 26th. At the time
of capture he had been given some food by some natives
and was eating in their hut. ile was interrogated by a

12889 Japanese captain * who spoke cnglish.




